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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking
statements give our current expectations of forecasts of future events. All statements other than statements of current or historical
fact contained in this annual report, including statements regarding our future financial position, business strategy, new products,
budgets, liquidity, cash flows, projected costs, regulatory approvals or the impact of any laws or regulations applicable to us, and
plans and objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words “anticipate,” “believe,”
“continue,” “should,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “project,” “will,” and similar expressions, as they relate to us, are
intended to identify forward-looking statements.

We have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations about future events. While we believe these
expectations are reasonable, such forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are
beyond our control. Our actual future results may differ materially from those discussed here for various reasons. When you consider
these forward-looking statements, you should keep in mind these risk factors and other cautionary statements in this annual report
including in Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and in Item 1A “Risk
Factors.”

Given these risks and uncertainties, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. The forward-
looking statements included in this report are made only as of the date hereof. We do not undertake any obligation to update any
such statements or to publicly announce the results of any revisions to any of such statements to reflect future events or
developments. When used in the report, unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise requires, the terms “Cleveland BioLabs”
and “CBLI” refer to Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary BioLab 612, LLC, but not its consolidated joint venture,
Panacela Labs, Inc., or its unconsolidated joint venture, Incuron, LLC. The “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Cleveland
BioLabs, Inc. together with our wholly-owned subsidiary, BioLab 612, LLC, our consolidated joint venture, Panacela Labs, Inc. and
our unconsolidated joint venture, Incuron, LLC.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

GENERAL OVERVIEW

We are an innovative biopharmaceutical company seeking to develop first-in-class pharmaceuticals designed to address diseases
with significant unmet medical need. We combine our proven scientific expertise and our depth of knowledge about our products’
mechanisms of action into a passion for developing drugs to save lives. Our programs are focused on the implementation of novel
pharmacological approaches to control cell death. Our proprietary drug candidates act via unique mechanisms that are designed to
kill cancer and protect healthy cells. We conduct business in the United States and the Russian Federation. CBLI and our joint
ventures, Incuron, LLC, or Incuron, and Panacela Labs, Inc., or Panacela, each have worldwide development and commercialization
rights to product candidates in development, subject to certain financial obligations to our current licensors. CBLI’s most advanced
product candidate is entolimod, which we are developing as a radiation countermeasure and an immunotherapy for oncology and
other indications.

Entolimod is a Toll-like receptor 5, or TLR5, agonist, which we are developing as a radiation countermeasure for prevention of death
from Acute Radiation Syndrome, or ARS, and as an oncology drug. We believe that entolimod is the most efficacious radiation
countermeasure currently in development. Following is a summary of the clinical development of entolimod to date and regulatory
status.

Entolimod is being developed under the U.S. Food & Drug Administration’s, or FDA’s, Animal Efficacy Rule, or the Animal Rule, for
the indication of reducing the risk of death following exposure to potentially lethal irradiation occurring as a result of a radiation
disaster (see “Government Regulation – Animal Rule”). If approved, we anticipate that entolimod will be administered within 25 hours
following radiation exposure. We have completed two dose escalation clinical studies designed to evaluate the safety,
pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in a total of 150 healthy volunteers. Administration of entolimod was not associated with
irreversible harm at any of the doses evaluated in these two studies. We have completed a Good Laboratory Practices, or GLP,
randomized, blinded, placebo-controlled, pivotal study designed to evaluate the dose-dependent effect of entolimod on survival and
biomarker induction in 179 non-human primates exposed to 7.2 Gy total body irradiation when entolimod or placebo were
administered at 25 hours after radiation exposure. We have completed a GLP, randomized, open-label, placebo-controlled, pivotal
study designed to evaluate the dose-dependent effect of entolimod on biomarker induction in 160 non-irradiated non-human
primates. We met with the FDA in July 2014 to present our human dose-conversion and to discuss our intent to submit a pre-
Emergency Use Authorization, or pre-EUA. The FDA confirmed that our existing efficacy and safety data and animal-to-human dose
conversion are sufficient to proceed with a pre-EUA submission and agreed to accept a pre-EUA submission for review. We are
currently preparing the pre-EUA dossier, which we anticipate filing in the first half of 2015. If the FDA authorizes the application, then
Federal agencies are free to procure drug product to stockpile and distribute in the event of an emergency, i.e. prior to the drug being
formally approved by FDA under a Biologics License Application, or BLA.

In January 2015, we announced that we had received notice that our proposal application to support further development of entolimod
as a medical radiation countermeasure was recommended for funding subject to negotiations by the Department of Defense, or DoD,
office of Congressionally Directed Medical Research Programs, or CDMRP. The proposal application aims to conduct several pivotal
animal efficacy studies required by the FDA for submission of a BLA. The Company’s receipt of this award is subject to successful
negotiations and availability of funds.

Additionally, we completed enrollment in a Phase 1 open-label, dose-escalation trial of entolimod in patients with advanced cancer in
the United States and began dosing in a small expansion study in the Russian Federation, which is enrolling additional patients at the
highest doses achieved in the US study. Both studies include evaluation of immune cell response to administrations of entolimod.
Preliminary evaluations of the completed study in the United States indicate that the tolerability profile in patients with advanced
cancer was
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similar to that observed in two previously conducted studies in 150 healthy volunteers. Initial assessments of immunological response
were consistent with TLR5 activation. Early analyses indicate that stable disease was observed in several patients with heavily
pretreated cancers.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

We were incorporated in Delaware in June 2003 as a spin-off company from The Cleveland Clinic. We exclusively license our
founding intellectual property from The Cleveland Clinic. In 2007, we relocated our operations to Buffalo, New York and became
affiliated with Roswell Park Cancer Institute, or RPCI, through technology licensing and research collaboration relationships. Our
common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “CBLI.”

Our principal executive offices are located at 73 High Street, Buffalo, New York 14203, and our telephone number at that address is
(716) 849-6810.

The CBLI logo and CBLI product names are proprietary trade names of CBLI, its subsidiary or joint ventures. We may indicate U.S.
trademark registrations and U.S. trademarks with the symbols “®” and “TM”, respectively. Third-party logos and product/trade names
are registered trademarks or trade names of their respective owners.

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT PIPELINE

Our product development programs arise from both internally developed and in-licensed intellectual property from our innovation
partners, The Cleveland Clinic and RPCI. In building the Company’s product development pipeline, we intentionally pursued targets
with applicability across multiple therapeutic areas and indications. This approach gives us multiple product opportunities and ensures
that our success is not dependent on any single product or indication.

Our primary product development programs and their respective development stages are illustrated below:

CBLI
 

 

*HSCmeans hematopoietic stem cell

Incuron
 

Panacela
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Our product development efforts were initiated by discoveries related to apoptosis, a tightly regulated form of cell death that can occur
in response to internal stresses or external events such as exposure to radiation or toxic chemicals. Apoptosis is a major determinant
of the tissue damage that occurs in a variety of medical conditions involving ischemia, or temporary loss of blood flow, such as
cerebral stroke, heart attack and acute renal failure. In addition, apoptotic loss of cells of the hematopoietic, or HP, system and
gastrointestinal, or GI, tract is largely responsible for the acute lethality of high-dose radiation exposure. On the other hand, apoptosis
is also an important protective mechanism that allows the body to eliminate defective cells such as those with cancer-forming
potential.

We have developed novel strategies to target the molecular mechanisms controlling apoptotic cell death for therapeutic benefit.
These strategies take advantage of the fact that tumor and normal cells respond to apoptosis-inducing stresses differently due to
tumor-specific defects in cellular signaling pathways such as inactivation of p53 (a pro-apoptosis regulator) and constitutive activation
of NF-kB (a pro-survival regulator).

Thus, we designed two oppositely-directed general therapeutic concepts:
 

 
(a) temporary and reversible suppression of apoptosis in normal cells to protect healthy tissues from stress-induced damage

using compounds we categorize as Protectans, which include entolimod and CBLB612; and,
 

 
(b) reactivation of apoptosis in tumor cells to eliminate cancer using compounds we categorize as Curaxins, which includes

CBL0137.

Entolimod Biodefense Indication

Our lead Protectan product candidate is entolimod, an engineered derivative of the Salmonella flagellin protein that was designed to
retain its specific TLR5-activating capacity while increasing its stability, reducing its immunogenicity and enabling high-yield
production. We are developing entolimod for dual indications: (i) as a radiation countermeasure for prevention of death from ARS,
which we refer to as a Biodefense Indication; and (ii) as an oncology drug (discussed below).

The market for radiation countermeasures grew dramatically following the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks and the subsequent
use of anthrax in a biological attack in the United States. Terrorist activities worldwide have continued in the intervening years and the
possibility of chemical, biological, radiation and nuclear attacks continues to represent a perceived threat for governments world-wide.
In addition to the U.S. government, we believe the potential markets for the sale of radiation countermeasures include U.S. and
foreign state and local governments, including defense and public health agencies, non-governmental organizations and multinational
companies, transportation and security companies, healthcare providers, hospitals and clinics, and nuclear power facilities.

Acute high-dose whole body or significant partial body radiation exposure induces massive apoptosis of cells of the HP system and
GI tract, which leads to ARS, a potentially fatal condition for which there are currently no FDA-approved treatments. The threat of
ARS is primarily limited to emergency/defense scenarios and is significant given the possibility of nuclear/radiological accidents,
warfare or terrorist incidents. The scale of possible exposure (number of people affected) has been estimated by the U.S. government
to be in the range of 500,000 based on a modeled 10-kiloton device detonation in New York City. And we believe the current lack of
approved efficacious treatments to deal with such an event makes entolimod a compelling product candidate. It is not feasible or
ethical to test the efficacy of entolimod as a radiation countermeasure in humans. Therefore, we are developing entolimod under the
FDA’s Animal Rule guidance (see “Government Regulation – Animal Rule”). The Animal Rule authorizes the FDA to rely on data from
animal studies to provide evidence of a product’s effectiveness under circumstances where there is a reasonably well-understood
mechanism for the activity of the product. Under these requirements, and with the FDA’s prior agreement, medical countermeasures,
like entolimod, may be approved for use in humans based on evidence of effectiveness derived from appropriate animal studies,
evidence of safety derived from studies in humans and any additional supporting data.
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We met with the FDA in July 2014 to present our human dose-conversion and to discuss our intent to submit a pre-EUA. As a result
of this meeting, the FDA agreed to accept a pre-EUA submission for review. We plan to submit a pre-EUA dossier in the first half of
2015 using the human dose of entolimod that we determined through our proprietary dose conversion methodology, which utilizes the
data from our pivotal non-human primate studies and our clinical studies of entolimod in healthy volunteers. If authorized, pre-EUA
status will allow entolimod to be sold into the National Stockpile and used under a state of emergency. Such authorization is not
equivalent to full licensure through approval of a BLA, but precedes full licensure, and, importantly, would position entolimod for
potential sales in advance of full licensure in the United States. We further believe pre-EUA status will position us to explore sales
opportunities with foreign governments.

Our pivotal efficacy study conducted in 179 non-human primates demonstrated with a high degree of statistical significance that
injection of a single dose of entolimod given to rhesus macaques 25 hours after exposure to a 70% lethal dose of total body irradiation
improved animal survival by nearly three-fold compared to the control group. Dose-dependence of entolimod’s efficacy was
demonstrated with doses above the minimal efficacious dose establishing a plateau at approximately 75% survival at 60 days after
irradiation, as compared to 27.5% survival in the placebo-treated group.

Our pivotal study conducted in 160 non-irradiated non-human primates established the dose-dependent effect of entolimod on
biomarkers for animal-to-human dose conversion.

Our clinical studies of entolimod in 150 healthy human subjects demonstrated the safety profile of entolimod and established the
dose-dependent effect of entolimod on efficacy biomarkers in humans. In these studies, and in a Phase 1 oncology study that
concluded enrollment in September 2014, transient decrease in blood pressure and elevation of liver enzymes were observed along
with transient mild to moderate flu-like syndrome. Such effects are the most common adverse events and they are linked to up-
regulation of cytokines that are also biomarkers for efficacy.

The FDA has granted Fast Track status to entolimod (see “Government Regulation – Fast Track Designation”) and Orphan Drug
status for prevention of death following a potentially lethal dose of total body irradiation during or after a radiation disaster (see
“Government Regulation – Orphan Drug Designation”).

In January 2015, we announced that we had received notice that our proposal application to support further development of entolimod
as a medical radiation countermeasure was recommended for funding subject to negotiations by the DoD office of CDMRP. The
proposal application aims to conduct several pivotal animal efficacy studies required by the FDA for submission of a BLA. The
Company’s receipt of this award is subject to successful negotiations and availability of funds.

Entolimod Oncology Indication

In addition to developing entolimod as a radiation countermeasure for prevention of death from ARS, we are also developing
entolimod as an oncology drug. We believe that entolimod has the potential to treat cancer by activating the innate and adaptive
immune response in patients. In preclinical studies, entolimod produced tissue-specific activation of innate immune responses via
interaction with its receptor, TLR5, and the liver was identified as a primary mediator of entolimod activity. Entolimod has also been
shown to have a direct cytotoxic effect on tumors expressing TLR5 in animal models. Evaluations of local administration of entolimod
in organs expressing TLR5, such as the bladder, have also been performed in animal models.

We have completed enrollment in a Phase 1 open-label, dose-escalation trial of entolimod in patients with advanced cancer in the
United States and have begun dosing in a small expansion study in the Russian Federation enrolling additional patients at the
highest doses achieved in the US study. Both studies include evaluation of immune cell response to administrations of entolimod.
Preliminary evaluations of the completed study in the United States indicate that the tolerability profile in patients with advanced
cancer was similar to that observed in two previously conducted studies in 150 healthy volunteers. Initial assessments of
immunological response were consistent with TLR5 activation. Early analyses indicate that stable disease was observed in several
patients with
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heavily pretreated cancers. The study in the Russian Federation is the first of two planned studies under a 149 million ruble matching
funds development contract that we received in October 2013 from the Ministry of Industry and Trade of the Russian Federation, or
MPT (see Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”).

We have worldwide development and commercialization rights to entolimod.

CBLB612

CBLB612 is a proprietary compound based upon a natural activator of another tissue-specific component of the innate immune
system, the TLR2/TLR6 heterodimeric receptor. CBLB612 is a pharmacologically optimized synthetic molecule that structurally
mimics naturally occurring lipopeptides of Mycoplasma (a genus of parasitic bacteria) and activates NF-kB pro-survival and
immunoregulatory signaling pathways via specific binding to TLR2 on a subset of body tissues and cell types that express this
receptor. Preclinical studies have shown that the efficacy of CBLB612 exceeds that of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, or G-CSF
(Amgen’s Neupogen®), the market-leading drug used for stimulation of white blood cell regeneration. CBLB612’s hematopoietic stem
cell, or HSC, stimulatory activity outweighed that of G-CSF when the drugs were administered either as monotherapies, in either mice
or non-human primates, or in combination with Plerixafor (Sanofi’s Mozobil®, a chemokine receptor antagonist approved by the FDA
as an HSC mobilizer). However, the highest degree of HSC mobilization was observed when CBLB612 was added to that
combination. The strong synergistic effect of this triple drug combination provides further support for development of CBLB612 as a
valuable stem cell mobilizing agent. In October 2014, we initiated a Phase 1, single-center, blind, placebo-controlled, single
ascending dose study in the Russian Federation to evaluate the safety and tolerability of CBLB612 in healthy volunteers and
measure response of various HP stem and progenitor cell types in order to gain a preliminary estimate of the drug’s HSC stimulatory
efficacy under a 139 million ruble matching funds development contract that we received in July 2012 from MPT (see Item 7.
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”). We licensed CBLB612 to Zhejiang Hisun
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. for the territories of China, Taiwan, Hong Kong and Macau. We have rest-of-world development and
commercialization rights to CBLB612.

CBL0137

CBL0137 is the lead product candidate of our unconsolidated joint venture Incuron. CBL0137 is a small molecule with a multi-targeted
mechanism of action that may be broadly useful for the treatment of many different types of cancer. CBL0137 may offer greater
efficacy and substantially lower risk for the development of drug resistance than conventional chemotherapeutic agents. CBL0137
inhibits Nuclear Factor kappa-B, or NF-kB, Heat Shock Factor Protein-1, or HSF-1, and Hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha, or HIF1
alpha; these are transcription factors that are important for the viability of many types of tumors. The drug also activates tumor
suppressor protein p53 by modulating intracellular localization and activity of chromatin remodeling complex Facilitates Chromatin
Transcription, or FACT. CBL0137 has been shown to be efficacious in pre-clinical models of colon, lung, breast, renal, pancreatic,
head and neck and prostate cancers; melanoma; glioblastoma; and neuroblastoma. It has also been shown to be efficacious in pre-
clinical models of hematological cancers, including lymphoma, leukemia and multiple myeloma.

In the Russian Federation, Incuron is currently enrolling patients with advanced, resistant solid tumors to a Phase 1, multi-center,
single-agent, dose-escalation study evaluating the oral administration of CBL0137. In the United States, Incuron is also currently
enrolling patients with advanced resistant solid tumors to a Phase 1, multi-center, single-agent, dose-escalation study evaluating the
intravenous administration of CBL0137. These studies are designed to investigate the safety, pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics,
and antitumor activity of CBL0137. Incuron is conducting these parallel evaluations of oral and intravenous routes of administration
and continuous low-dose versus interrupted high-dose schedules to reduce the company’s developmental risk by fully characterizing
the clinical pharmacology of CBL0137. The design of a new Phase 1 dose-escalation and
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expansion study of CBL0137 in hematological malignancies was reviewed with the FDA in December 2014. Incuron is planning to
initiate a multicenter study of CBL0137 in patients with hematological malignancies in 2015. This clinical trial is intended to assess the
safety, pharmacology, and anticancer activity of CBL0137 in several types of hematological cancers.

In January 2015, updates on clinical progress with Curaxin CBL0137 were announced. A formal interim analysis of the 19 patients
enrolled in the first six cohorts of the ongoing oral administration study indicated that the study medication was well tolerated at all
investigated dose levels. The observation of drug exposure in plasma documented high oral bioavailability (typically estimated to be ³
50%). To date, no dose-limiting toxicities have been observed with either oral or intravenous administration through the highest
CBL0137 dose levels tested. Heavily pretreated patients with advanced cancers of the esophagus, colon, breast, cervix, and prostate
have had stable disease for periods ranging from 4 to 6 months. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells, or PBMCs, from evaluable
blood samples have shown pharmacodynamic effects consistent with the expected mechanism of action of CBL0137.

Incuron holds worldwide development and commercialization rights to CBL0137. As of December 31, 2014, BioProcess Capital
Ventures, or BCV, owned 53.04% of Incuron and we owned 46.96% and as more fully described in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements, we deconsolidated Incuron on November 25, 2014 as we no longer maintained a controlling equity interest, and
commenced accounting for our investment in Incuron using the equity method.

Mobilan

Mobilan is the lead product candidate of our consolidated joint venture Panacela. Mobilan is a nanoparticle-formulated recombinant
non-replicating adenovirus that directs expression of TLR5 and its agonistic ligand, flagellin. In pre-clinical studies, delivery of Mobilan
to tumor cells results in constitutive autocrine TLR5 signaling and strong activation of the innate immune system with subsequent
development of adaptive anti-tumor immune responses. Mobilan is in the pre-clinical stage of development as a universal anti-cancer
therapy. In November 2014, Panacela filed an IND in the Russian Federation under a 149 million ruble matching funds development
contract that it received in October 2013 from MPT (see Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations”). Panacela holds worldwide development and commercialization rights to Mobilan. As of December 31, 2014,
we owned 57.78% of Panacela.

STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS

Since our inception, strategic alliances and collaborations have been integral to our business. We have leveraged the experience,
contacts and knowledge of our founders to engage funding partners in the Russian Federation and to develop and maintain
academic-corporate innovation partnerships with The Cleveland Clinic and RPCI. Through these partnerships we have collaborated
with world-class scientists to develop our novel technologies and accessed non-traditional funding sources, including federal and
foreign government contracts and project-oriented funding to support the development of certain of our technologies. We have
received project-oriented funding from Russian Federation based venture funds BCV, and Open Joint Stock Company “Rusnano”, or
Rusnano, through the formation of Incuron and Panacela, both of which are co-located in the Russian Federation and the United
States. We believe that these companies, as well as our wholly-owned subsidiary BioLab 612, may benefit from programs supporting
domestic pharmaceutical industry development in the Russian Federation as well as the relative ease of enrolling patients as
compared to western markets. We have negotiated exclusive licenses to rights in each of our technologies from The Cleveland Clinic
and RPCI.

BioProcess Capital Partners

In December 2009, we entered into our Incuron joint venture with BioProcess Capital Partners, or BCP, to develop Curaxin
compounds for treatment of oncological diseases. According to the terms of the agreement, we transferred rights in the Curaxin
molecules to a new joint venture company, Incuron, in which BCP agreed to cause their affiliated fund, BCV, to contribute an
aggregate of 549,497,000 Russian rubles (approximately $16.9 million) to support development of the compounds. As of
September 30, 2014, Incuron had received all
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committed funding. On November 25, 2014, we affected the transfer of 3.05% of the Company’s participation interest in Incuron to
BCV. The transfer of 3.05% of our participation interest was made pursuant to the Participation Agreement dated December 9, 2009,
as amended by the First and Third Amendments to Participation Agreement dated April 13, 2010 and June 17, 2014, respectively,
that governs the joint ownership of Incuron by the Company and BCV. As described in the Form 8-K filed by the Company on
December 2, 2014, as a result of the transfer of 3.05% of our participation interests to BCV, the Company’s participation interest in
Incuron decreased to 46.96%, BCV’s participation interest increased to 53.04%.

Rusnano

In October 2011, we entered into our Panacela joint venture with Rusnano to carry out a complete cycle of development and
commercialization in the Russian Federation for the treatment of oncological, infectious or other diseases. We invested $3.0 million in
Panacela preferred shares and warrants, and, together with certain third-party owners, assigned and/or provided exclusive licenses,
as applicable, to Panacela to provide Panacela with worldwide development and commercialization rights to five preclinical product
candidates in exchange for Panacela common shares. Rusnano invested $9.0 million in Panacela preferred shares and warrants. In
2013, Rusnano loaned Panacela $1.5 million through a convertible term loan, or the Panacela Loan, and revised their original
investment agreement to remove the predetermined development milestones and timelines for further investment and provide that
Rusnano may invest an additional $15.5 million at their option. As of December 31, 2014, we had an ownership stake of 57.78% in
Panacela.

The Cleveland Clinic

In July 2004, CBLI entered into an exclusive license agreement with The Cleveland Clinic, or The Cleveland Clinic License, pursuant
to which CBLI was granted an exclusive license to The Cleveland Clinic’s research base underlying our therapeutic platform. We
entered into an amendment of The Cleveland Clinic License effective as of September 22, 2011, pursuant to which we were granted
an exclusive license to The Cleveland Clinic’s research base underlying certain product candidates in development by Panacela, or
Panacela Products, including Mobilan and several earlier stage compounds that are not currently material to our business. In
consideration for The Cleveland Clinic License, we agreed to issue The Cleveland Clinic common stock and make certain milestone,
royalty and sublicense royalty payments as described below.

The Cleveland Clinic License requires milestone payments, which may be credited against future royalties owed to The Cleveland
Clinic, as described in the table below. We have also agreed to make milestone payments of up to approximately $6.5 million for each
Panacela Product that achieves certain developmental and regulatory milestones, provided that if CBLI or an affiliate of CBLI and The
Cleveland Clinic jointly own the Panacela Product, the milestone amounts will be reduced by 50%.
 

Milestone Description   
For Products Limited to

Biodefense Uses    
For All Other Products
(Maximum amount)*  

For any IND filing for a product   $ 50,000    $ 50,000  
For any product entering Phase II clinical trials or similar

registration    100,000     250,000  
For any product entering Phase III clinical trials    —       700,000  
For any product license application, BLA or NDA Filing for a

product    350,000     1,500,000  
Upon regulatory approval permitting any product to be sold

to the commercial market    1,000,000     4,000,000  
 
* Maximum amounts listed for achievement of milestone in United States. If milestones are reached in another country first,

milestone payments will be prorated for certain products under the license based on the market size for the product in such country
as that market relates to the then current U.S. market.
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The Cleveland Clinic License requires royalty payments of (a) 2% of net sales of any product candidate under a licensed patent
solely owned by The Cleveland Clinic; and (b) 1% of net sales of any product candidate under a licensed patent that is jointly owned
by The Cleveland Clinic and CBLI or an affiliate of CBLI. Further, if CBLI receives upfront sublicense fees or sublicense royalty
payments for sublicenses granted by CBLI to third parties for any licensed patents solely owned by The Cleveland Clinic, CBLI will
pay The Cleveland Clinic (i) 35% of such fees if the sublicense is granted prior to filing an IND application, (ii) 20% of such fees if the
sublicense is granted after an IND filing but prior to final approval of the Product License Application or NDA, or (iii) 10% of such fees
if the sublicense is granted after final approval of the relevant Product License Application or NDA, provided that such sublicense fees
shall not be less than 1% of net sales. The above sublicense fees and sublicense royalty payments are reduced by 50% if The
Cleveland Clinic and CBLI or an affiliate of CBLI jointly own the licensed patent.

Through December 31, 2014, CBLI had paid The Cleveland Clinic $150,000 for milestone payments on products limited to
biodefense uses, and $400,000 for all other products.

As each patent covered by The Cleveland Clinic License expires, the license agreement will terminate as to such patent. The
Cleveland Clinic may terminate The Cleveland Clinic License upon a material breach by us, as specified in the agreement. However,
we may avoid such termination if we cure the breach within 90 days of receipt of a termination notice. CBLI may terminate The
Cleveland Clinic License in its entirety or any specific patent licensed under the agreement by giving at least 90 days written notice of
such termination to The Cleveland Clinic. The agreement will, subject to certain exceptions, automatically terminate with respect to a
licensed product if The Cleveland Clinic does not receive a royalty payment for more than 1-year after the payment of royalties has
begun.

Roswell Park Cancer Institute

We have entered into a number of agreements with RPCI relating to the licensure and development of our product candidates
including:
 

 •  Two exclusive license and option agreements effective December 2007 and September 2011;
 

 •  Various sponsored research agreements entered into between January 2007 to present; and
 

 
•  Clinical trial agreements for the conduct of our Phase 1 entolimod oncology study and Incuron’s Phase 1 CBL0137

intravenous administration study.

In December 2007, CBLI entered into an agreement with RPCI pursuant to which CBLI has an option to exclusively license any
technological improvements to our foundational technology developed by RPCI for the term of the agreement. We believe our option
to license additional technology under the agreement potentially provides us with access to technology that may supplement our
product pipeline in the future. In consideration for this option and exclusive license, we agreed to make certain milestone, royalty and
sublicense royalty payments. Additionally, RPCI may terminate the license upon a material breach by us. However, we may avoid
such termination if we cure the breach within 90 days of receipt of a termination notice. The license does not have a specified term;
however, as each patent covered by this license agreement expires, the royalties to be paid on each product relating to the licensed
patent shall cease.

In September 2011, Panacela entered into an agreement with RPCI, or the Panacela-RPCI License, to exclusively license certain
rights Panacela Products, including Mobilan and several earlier stage compounds that are not currently material to our business, and
to non-exclusively license certain know-how relating to the aforementioned product candidates for the limited purposes of research
and development and regulatory, export and other government filings. Additionally, under the Panacela-RPCI Licnese, Panacela has
a right to exclusively license (i) any technological improvements to the Panacela Products developed by RPCI before September
2016, and (ii) any technology jointly developed by Panacela and RPCI. In consideration for the Panacela-RPCI License, Panacela
agreed to issue RPCI common stock and to make certain milestone, royalty and sublicense royalty payments as described below.
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The Panacela-RPCI License requires milestone payments for developmental and regulatory milestones reached in the United States
of up to approximately $2.5 million for each Panacela Product that achieves certain developmental and regulatory milestones.
Additionally, Panacela will owe additional payments of up to approximately $275,000 for each other country where a licensed
Panacela Product achieves similar milestones. Through December 31, 2013, Panacela had not made any milestone payments to
RPCI related to the above mentioned license agreement.

The Panacela-RPCI License requires royalty payments on net sales based on percentages in the low single digits. In addition, if
Panacela sublicenses any of the licensed Panacela Products, Panacela will owe sublicensing fees ranging from 5% to 15% of fees
received from sublicense by Panacela or an affiliate depending upon whether or not an IND has been filed or final approval of the
relevant NDA has been obtained for such licensed product.

As each patent covered by the Panacela-RPCI License expires, the license agreement will terminate as to such patent. In addition,
the license agreement will terminate with respect of the licensed know-how after 20 years. RPCI may terminate the license upon a
material breach by us, as specified in the agreement. However, we may avoid such termination if we cure the breach within 90 days
of receipt of a termination notice (or 30 days if notice relates to non-payment of amounts due to RPCI). Panacela may terminate the
license agreement in whole or as to any specific patent licensed under the agreement by giving at least 60 days written notice of
such termination to RPCI. The agreement will, subject to certain exceptions, automatically terminate with respect to a licensed
Panacela Product if Panacela fails to market, promote and otherwise exploit the licensed technology so that RPCI does not receive a
royalty payment during any 12-month period after the first commercial sale of such licensed product.

We have also entered into a number of sponsored research agreements with RPCI pursuant to which both parties have sponsored
research to be conducted by the other party. Under the sponsored research agreement granted by RPCI to us, title to any inventions
under the agreement is determined in a manner substantially similar to U.S. patent law, and we have the option to license, on an
exclusive basis, the right to develop any inventions of RPCI (whether solely or jointly developed) under the agreement for commercial
purposes. In addition, the sponsored research agreement may be terminated by one party if the other party becomes subject to
bankruptcy or insolvency, the other party is debarred by the U.S. government or the other party breaches a material provision of the
agreement and fails to cure such breach within 20 days of receiving written notice.

Under the sponsored research agreements granted by us to RPCI, we own any invention that is described in our research plan, co-
own any inventions not described in our research plan that are made by Dr. Andrei Gudkov, and RPCI owns any other inventions not
described in our research plan. We further have a right to exclusively license RPCI’s ownership in any invention developed under
such sponsored research agreements that are owned by RPCI. Such sponsored research agreements with RPCI expire in 2015,
although we expect to enter into similar future arrangements.

We entered into an asset transfer and clinical trial agreement with RPCI for the conduct, by RPCI, of our Phase 1 clinical trial to
evaluate the safety and pharmacokinetic profile of entolimod in patients with advanced cancers and a clinical trial agreement for RPCI
to conduct, as one site in a multi-site trial, our Phase 1 clinical trial to evaluate the safety, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics
of intravenous administration of CBL0137 in patients with metastatic or unresectable advanced solid cancers and lymphomas. Either
party may terminate these agreements upon 30 days’ notice to the other party.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Our intellectual property consists of patents, trademarks, trade secrets and know-how. Our ability to compete effectively depends in
large part on our ability to obtain patents for our technologies and products, maintain trade secrets, operate without infringing the
rights of others and prevent others from infringing our proprietary rights. We will be able to protect our proprietary technologies from
unauthorized use by third parties only to the extent
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that they are covered by valid and enforceable patents, or are effectively maintained as trade secrets. As a result, patents or other
proprietary rights are an essential element of our business. Our patent portfolio includes patents and patent applications with claims
directed to compositions of matter, pharmaceutical formulations and methods of use. Some of our issued patents, and the patents
that may be issued based on our patent applications, may be eligible for patent life extension under the Drug Price Competition and
Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 in the United States, supplementary protection certificates in the European Union or similar
mechanisms in other countries or territories. The following are the patent positions relating to our product candidates as of
December 31, 2014.

In the U.S., we have 16 issued or allowed patents relating to our clinical-stage programs expiring on various dates between 2024 and
2030 as well as numerous pending patent applications and foreign counterpart patent filings which relate to our proprietary
technologies. These patents and patent applications include claims directed to compositions of matter and methods of use.

We have 11 issued or allowed U.S. patents covering entolimod, which expire between 2024 and 2029. These patents include
composition of matter claims, as well as method of use claims relating to our biodefense indication, reducing effects of chemotherapy,
and treatment of reperfusion injuries. In addition, we have pending U.S. patent applications related to compositions of matter,
oncology methods of use, and others biodefense methods, which, if issued, will expire between 2025 and 2035.

We have 2 issued U.S. patents covering CBL0137, which expire in 2030. These patents include composition of matter claims as well
as method of use claims relating to apoptosis induction along with inhibition of adaptive heat shock response. In addition, we have
two pending U.S. patent applications that include CBL0137 oncology method of use claims, which, if issued, will expire in 2029 and
uses in specific cancer claims, which, if issued, will expire in 2033. Further, we have pending international applications that concern
various uses of CBL0137 that may give rise to national patents, which, if issued will expire in 2034.

We have 3 issued or allowed U.S. patents covering CBLB612 and related agents, which expire between 2026 and 2027. These
patents include composition of matter and methods of use claims. In addition, we have a pending U.S. patent application that includes
method of use claims relating to increasing mobility of hematopoietic stem cells, which, if issued will expire in 2028 and another
method of use application which, if issued, will expire in 2035.

We have 1 pending U.S. patent application covering CBL0102, a Curaxin product that is the subject of an ongoing investigator-
initiated study, which, if issued, will expire in 2025. This patent application includes method of use claims related to treatment of liver
cancer. Further, we have a pending international application that concerns uses of CBL0102 that may give rise to national patents,
which, if issued will expire in 2034.

In addition, as of December 31, 2014, we had more than a hundred additional patents and patent applications filed worldwide. Any
patents that may issue from our pending patent applications would expire between 2024 and 2035, excluding patent term extensions.
These patents and patent applications disclose compositions of matter and methods of use.

Our policy is to seek patent protection for the inventions that we consider important to the development of our business. We intend to
continue to file patent applications to protect technology and compounds that are commercially important to our business, and to do
so in countries where we believe it is commercially reasonable and advantageous to do so. We also rely on trade secrets to protect
our technology where patent protection is deemed inappropriate or unobtainable. We protect our proprietary technology and
processes, in part, by confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, collaborators and contractors.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

In 2013, we transferred 26 laboratory and preclinical employee positions to Buffalo BioLabs, LLC, or BBL, an entity then owned in
part by our Chief Scientific Officer and director, Dr. Andrei Gudkov, to enable us to better
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focus our on clinical development activities. In connection with this transaction, we entered into a Master Services Agreement with
BBL, pursuant to which BBL agreed to perform laboratory and preclinical research services for us. As of December 31, 2014, our
research and development group, including Russian-based personnel, consisted of 14 individuals. Our research and development
focuses on management of outsourced preclinical research, clinical trials and manufacturing technologies. We invested $9.7 million,
$19.5 million and $22.5 million in research and development in the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

SALES AND MARKETING

We currently do not have marketing, sales or distribution capabilities. We do, however, currently have worldwide development and
commercialization rights for products arising out of substantially all of our programs. In order to commercialize any of these drugs, if
and when they are approved for sale, we will need to enter into partnerships for the commercialization of the approved product(s) or
develop the necessary marketing, sales and distribution capabilities.

COMPETITION

The biotechnology and biopharmaceutical industries are characterized by rapid technological developments and intense competition.
This competition comes from both biotechnology and major pharmaceutical companies. Many of these companies have substantially
greater financial, marketing and human resources than we do, including, in some cases, considerably more experience in clinical
testing, manufacturing and marketing of pharmaceutical products. There are also academic institutions, governmental agencies and
other research organizations that are conducting research in areas in which we are working. They may also develop products that
may be competitive with our product candidates, either on their own or through collaborative efforts. We expect to encounter
significant competition for any products we develop. Our product candidates’ competitive position among other biotechnology and
biopharmaceutical companies will be based on, among other things, time to market, patent position, product efficacy, safety,
reliability, availability, patient convenience, delivery devices and price. Additionally, competitive products may have superior safety or
efficacy, be manufactured less expensively, or have better concept of operations, or CONOPs, usability for biodefense products. In
these cases, we may not be able to commercialize our product candidates or achieve a competitive position in the market. This would
adversely affect our business.

Specifically, the competition for entolimod and our other clinical-stage product candidates includes the following:

Entolimod Biodefense Indication

Product candidates for treatment of ARS face significant competition for U.S. government funding for both development and
procurement of medical countermeasures and must satisfy government procurement requirements for biodefense products. Currently
there are no FDA-approved drugs for the efficacious treatment of ARS. However, we are aware of a number of companies also
developing radiation countermeasures to treat the effects of ARS including Amgen, Aeolus Pharmaceuticals, Araim Pharmaceuticals,
Inc., Cellerant Therapeutics, Inc., Humanetics Corporation, Neumedicines, Inc., Onconova Therapeutics, Inc., RxBio, Inc., Soligenix,
Inc., and the University of Arkansas Medical Sciences Centers. Although their approaches to treatment of ARS are different, we
compete with these companies for U.S. government development funding and may ultimately compete with them for U.S. and foreign
government purchase and stockpiling of radiation countermeasures. Additionally, our ability to sell to the government also can be
influenced by indirect competition from other products, such as Neupogen® (Amgen, Inc.), which was purchased for use as a
radiation countermeasure in 2013.

Entolimod Oncology Program

Immunotherapies and targeted therapies are primary drivers of growth in cancer therapy. Examples of marketed drugs in these
categories include: Keytruda® (Merck) for advanced melanoma, Avastin® (Roche) for a range of
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solid tumors including colorectal, lung, breast, renal and gastric cancers, Rituximab® (Roche) for CD20-positive, B-cell non-Hodgkin
lymphoma and Arzerra® (GlaxoSmithKline) for CD20-positive chronic lymphocytic leukemia; Yervoy® (Bristol-Myers Squibb) for
melanoma, Herceptin® (Roche) for human epidermal growth factor receptor-2, or HER-2, positive tumors, Gleevec® (Novartis) for
Philadelphia chromosome tumor mutations, Erbitux® (Eli Lilly) and Iressa® (AstraZeneca) for epidermal growth factor receptor, or
EGRF, expressing tumors and Zelboraf® (Genentech) for BRAF-mutated tumors. These drugs may also be appropriate combination
partners for entolimod in the appropriate treatment settings.

CBLB612

Hematopoietic stem cell mobilization is a smaller therapeutic category within oncology. However, leukapheresis of mobilized
circulating hematopoietic stem cells has largely replace harvesting of bone marrow as a method of collecting progenitor cells in
support of extremely high-dose chemotherapy regimens. G-CSF, marketed as Neupogen® (Amgen), is the current standard against
which other mobilization agents for stem cells have been measured. Mozobil® (Sanofi) is a more recently developed drug designed to
help increase the number of stem cells collected from a patient’s blood before being transplanted back into the body after high-dose
chemotherapy. Combination of G-CSF with Mozobil® increases the percentage of persons that respond to the therapy and produce
enough stem cells for transplantation and is approved in the United States, European Union and Canada for treatment of patients with
lymphoma and multiple myeloma. While such drugs are potential competitors to CBLB612, they may also be appropriate drugs with
which to combine CBLB612 to more efficiently harvest hematopoietic stems cells.

CBL0137

Chemotherapy is a large cancer drug category. These treatments are the foundation for treatment of all cancer types and used in
most combination regimens. Drugs in this category include, among others, alkylating agents, antimetabolites, topoisomerase
inhibitors, platinating agents, and antimicrotubule drugs. These drugs act on various cell division pathways and ultimately cause cell
death. This cell division pathway may not always be specific to the cancer cell but often effects normal cells such as red blood cells,
white blood cells and other healthy tissues. Although these drugs as a treatment category in general carry higher toxicities than
targeted therapies, they are nonetheless an important drug category for improving patient survival. Such drugs are not universally
competitive with a drug like CBL0137 but – in specific indications and treatment settings – may be combined with it in the therapy of
certain cancers.

MANUFACTURING

Our product candidates are biologics and small molecules that can be readily synthesized by processes that we have developed. We
do not own or operate manufacturing facilities for the production of our product candidates for pre-clinical, clinical or commercial
quantities. We rely on third-party manufacturers, and in most cases only one third-party, to manufacture critical raw materials, drug
substance and final drug product for our research, pre-clinical development and clinical trial activities. Commercial quantities of any
drugs we seek to develop will have to be manufactured in facilities and by processes that comply with the FDA and other regulations,
and we plan to rely on third parties to manufacture commercial quantities of products we successfully develop.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

Government authorities in the U.S. and in other countries, regulate the research, development, testing, manufacture, packaging,
storage, record-keeping, promotion, advertising, distribution, marketing, quality control, labeling and export and import of
pharmaceutical products such as those that we are developing. We cannot provide assurance that any of our product candidates will
prove to be safe or effective, will receive regulatory approvals or will be successfully commercialized.
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U.S. Drug Development Process

In the U.S., the FDA regulates drugs and drug testing under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and in the case of biologics,
also under the Public Health Service Act. Our product candidates must follow an established process before they may be marketed in
the U.S.:
 

 •  preclinical laboratory and animal tests performed in compliance with current Good Laboratory Practices, or cGLP;
 

 •  development of manufacturing processes which conform to current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMPs;
 

 •  submission and acceptance of an IND application which must become effective before human clinical trials may begin;
 

 

•  performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials in compliance with current Good Clinical Practices, or
cGCP, to establish the safety and efficacy of the proposed drug for its intended use; provided, however, that for entolimod
development under the Animal Rule, we are required to perform pivotal animal studies in compliance with GLP to establish
efficacy; and

 

 •  submission to and review and approval by the FDA of a NDA or BLA prior to any commercial sale or shipment of a product.

Nonclinical testing. Nonclinical testing includes laboratory evaluation of a product candidate, its chemistry, formulation, safety and
stability, as well as animal studies to assess the potential safety and efficacy of the product candidate. The conduct of the nonclinical
tests must comply with federal regulations and requirements including GMP and GLP. Prior to the initiation of GLP animal studies,
including our pivotal studies for development of entolimod under the Animal Rule, an Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, or
IACUC, at each testing site must review and approve each study protocol and any amendments thereto.

We must submit to the FDA the results of nonclinical studies, which may include laboratory evaluations and animal studies, together
with manufacturing information and analytical data, and the proposed clinical protocol for the first clinical trial of the drug as part of an
IND. An IND is a request for FDA authorization to administer an investigational drug to humans. Such authorization must be secured
prior to the interstate shipment and administration of any new drug that is not the subject of an approved NDA or BLA. Nonclinical
tests and studies can take several years to complete, and despite completion of those tests and studies, the FDA may not permit
clinical testing to begin.

The IND process. The FDA requires a 30-day waiting period after the submission of each IND application before clinical trials may
begin. This waiting period is designed to allow the FDA to review the IND to determine whether human research subjects will be
exposed to unreasonable health risks. At any time during this 30-day period or at any time thereafter, the FDA may raise concerns or
questions about the conduct of the trials as outlined in the IND and impose a “clinical hold” that may affect one or more specific
studies or all studies conducted under the IND. In the case of a clinical hold, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any
outstanding concerns before clinical trials placed on hold can begin or continue. The IND application process may be extremely
costly and could substantially delay development of our products. Moreover, positive results of preclinical animal tests do not
necessarily indicate positive results in clinical trials.

Prior to the initiation of clinical studies, each clinical protocol must be submitted to the IND and to an independent Institutional Review
Board, or IRB, at each medical site proposing to conduct the clinical trial. The IRB must review and approve each study protocol, and
any amendments thereto, and study subjects must sign an informed consent. Protocols include, among other things, the objectives of
the study, dosing procedures, subject selection and exclusion criteria and the parameters to be used to monitor patient safety.
Progress reports of work performed in support of IND studies must be submitted at least annually to the FDA. Reports of serious and
unexpected adverse events must be submitted to the FDA and the investigators in a timely manner.
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Clinical trials. Human clinical trials are typically conducted in three sequential phases that may overlap or be combined:
 

 
•  Phase 1: The drug is introduced into healthy human subjects or patients (in the case of certain inherently toxic products for

severe or life-threatening diseases such as cancer) and tested for safety, dosage tolerance, absorption, distribution,
metabolism and excretion;

 

 
•  Phase 2: Involves studies in a limited patient population to identify possible adverse effects and safety risks, to preliminarily

evaluate the efficacy of the product for specific targeted diseases and to determine dosage tolerance and optimal dosage;
and

 

 
•  Phase 3: Clinical trials are undertaken to further evaluate dosage, clinical efficacy and safety in an expanded patient

population at geographically dispersed clinical study sites. These studies are intended to establish the overall risk-benefit
ratio of the product and provide, if appropriate, an adequate basis for product labeling.

We cannot be certain that we will successfully complete any phase of clinical testing of our product candidates within any specific
time period, if at all. Clinical testing must meet requirements of IRB oversight, informed consent and GCP. The FDA, the sponsor, or
the IRB at each institution at which a clinical trial is being performed may suspend a clinical trial at any time for various reasons,
including a belief that the subjects are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk.

During the development of a new drug, sponsors are given an opportunity to meet with the FDA at certain points. These meetings
typically occur prior to submission of an IND, at the end of Phase 2 and before NDA or BLA submission. These meetings can provide
an opportunity for the sponsor to share information about the data gathered to date, for the FDA to provide advice, and for the
sponsor and FDA to reach agreement on the next phase of development. Sponsors typically use the end-of-Phase 2 meeting to
discuss their Phase 2 clinical results and present their plans for the pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial that they believe will support approval
of the new drug.

The NDA or BLA process. If clinical trials are successful, the next step in the drug regulatory approval process is the preparation
and submission to the FDA of an NDA or BLA, as applicable. The NDA or BLA, as applicable, is a vehicle through which drug
sponsors formally propose that the FDA approve a new pharmaceutical for marketing and sale in the U.S. The NDA or BLA, as
applicable, must contain a description of the manufacturing process and quality control methods, as well as results of preclinical tests,
toxicology studies, clinical trials and proposed labeling, among other things. A substantial user fee must also be paid with the
application, unless an exemption applies. Every newly marketed pharmaceutical must be the subject of an approved NDA or BLA.

Upon submission of an NDA or BLA, the FDA will make a threshold determination of whether the application is sufficiently complete
to permit review, and, if not, will issue a refuse-to-file letter. If the application is accepted for filing, the FDA will attempt to review and
take action on the application in accordance with performance goal commitments the FDA has made in connection with the
prescription drug user fee law in effect at that time. Current timing commitments under the user fee law vary depending on whether an
NDA or BLA is for a priority drug or not, and in any event are not a guarantee that an application will be approved or even acted upon
by any specific deadline. The review process is often significantly extended by FDA requests for additional information or clarification.
The FDA may refer the NDA or BLA to an advisory committee for review, evaluation and recommendation as to whether the
application should be approved, but the FDA is not bound by the recommendation of an advisory committee. The FDA may deny or
delay approval of applications that do not meet applicable regulatory criteria or if the FDA determines that the data do not adequately
establish the safety and efficacy of the drug. In addition, the FDA may approve a product candidate subject to the completion of post-
marketing studies, commonly referred to as Phase 4 trials, to monitor the effect of the approved product. The FDA may also grant
approval with restrictive product labeling, or may impose other restrictions on marketing or distribution such as the adoption of a Risk
Evaluation and Mitigation Strategies, or REMS. The FDA has broad post-market regulatory and enforcement powers, including the
ability to issue warning letters, levy fines and civil penalties, suspend or delay issuance of approvals, seize or recall products, and
withdraw approvals.
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Manufacturing and post-marketing requirements. If approved, a pharmaceutical may only be marketed in the dosage forms and
for the indications approved in the NDA or BLA, as applicable. Special requirements also apply to any samples that are distributed in
accordance with the Prescription Drug Marketing Act. The manufacturers of approved products and their manufacturing facilities are
subject to continual review and periodic inspections by the FDA and other authorities where applicable, and must comply with ongoing
requirements, including the FDA’s cGMP requirements. Once the FDA approves a product, a manufacturer must provide certain
updated safety and efficacy information, submit copies of promotional materials to the FDA, and make certain other required reports.
Product and labeling changes, as well as certain changes in a manufacturing process or facility or other post-approval changes, may
necessitate additional FDA review and approval. Failure to comply with the statutory and regulatory requirements subjects the
manufacturer to possible legal or regulatory action, such as untitled letters, warning letters, suspension of manufacturing, seizure of
product, voluntary recall of a product, injunctive action or possible criminal or civil penalties. Product approvals may be withdrawn if
compliance with regulatory requirements is not maintained or if problems concerning safety or efficacy of the product occur following
approval. Because we intend to contract with third parties for manufacturing of our products, our ability to control third party
compliance with FDA requirements will be limited to contractual remedies and rights of inspection. Failure of third party
manufacturers to comply with cGMP or other FDA requirements applicable to our products may result in, among other things, total or
partial suspension of production, failure of the government to grant approval for marketing, and withdrawal, suspension, or revocation
of marketing approvals. With respect to post-market product advertising and promotion, the FDA imposes a number of complex
regulations on entities that advertise and promote pharmaceuticals, which include, among others, standards for direct-to-consumer
advertising, promoting drugs for uses or in patient populations that are not described in the drug’s approved labeling (known as “off-
label use”), industry-sponsored scientific and educational activities, and promotional activities involving the internet. Failure to comply
with FDA requirements can have negative consequences, including adverse publicity, enforcement letters from the FDA, mandated
corrective advertising or communications with doctors, and civil or criminal penalties. Although physicians may prescribe legally
available drugs for off-label uses, manufacturers may not market or promote such off-label uses.

The FDA’s policies may change, and additional government regulations may be enacted which could prevent or delay regulatory
approval of our potential products. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of adverse governmental regulation that might
arise from future legislative or administrative action, either in the United States or abroad.

Animal Rule

In 2002, the FDA amended its requirements applicable to BLAs/NDAs to permit the approval of certain drugs and biologics that are
intended to reduce or prevent serious or life-threatening conditions based on evidence of safety from clinical trial(s) in healthy
subjects and effectiveness from appropriate animal studies when human efficacy studies are not ethical or feasible. These
regulations, which are known as the “Animal Rule”, authorize the FDA to rely on animal studies to provide evidence of a product’s
effectiveness under circumstances where there is a reasonably well-understood mechanism for the activity of the agent. Under these
requirements, and with the FDA’s prior agreement, drugs used to reduce or prevent the toxicity of chemical, biological, radiological or
nuclear substances may be approved for use in humans based on evidence of effectiveness derived from appropriate animal studies
and any additional supporting data. Products evaluated under this rule must demonstrate effectiveness through pivotal animal
studies, which are generally equivalent in design and robustness to Phase 3 clinical studies. The animal study endpoint must be
clearly related to the desired benefit in humans and the information obtained from animal studies must allow for selection of an
effective dose in humans. Safety under this rule is established under preexisting requirements, including safety studies in both
animals (toxicology) and humans. Products approved under the Animal Rule are subject to additional requirements including post-
marketing study requirements, restrictions imposed on marketing or distribution and requirements to provide information to patients.
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We intend to utilize the Animal Rule in seeking marketing approval for entolimod as a radiation countermeasure because we cannot
ethically expose humans to lethal doses of radiation. Other countries may not at this time have established criteria for review and
approval of these types of products outside their normal review process, i.e. there is no “Animal Rule” equivalent in countries other
than the U.S., but some may have similar policy objectives in place for these product candidates. Given the nature of nuclear and
radiological threats, we do not believe that the lack of established criteria for review and approval of these types of products in other
countries will significantly inhibit us from pursuing sales of entolimod to foreign countries.

All data obtained from the pre-clinical studies and clinical trials of entolimod, in addition to detailed information on the manufacture
and composition of the product, would be submitted in a BLA to the FDA for review and approval for the manufacture, marketing and
commercial shipment of entolimod.

Emergency Use Authorization

The Commissioner of the FDA, under delegated authority from the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services,
or DHHS, may, under certain circumstances, issue an Emergency Use Authorization, or EUA, that would permit the use of an
unapproved drug product or unapproved use of an approved drug product. Before an EUA may be issued, the Secretary must
declare an emergency based on one of the following grounds:
 

 
•  a determination by the Secretary of Department of Homeland Security that there is a domestic emergency, or a significant

potential for a domestic emergency, involving a heightened risk of attack with a specified biological, chemical, radiological
or nuclear agent or agents;

 

 
•  a determination by the Secretary of the DoD that there is a military emergency, or a significant potential for a military

emergency, involving a heightened risk to United States military forces of attack with a specified biological, chemical,
radiological or nuclear agent or agents; or

 

 
•  a determination by the Secretary of DHHS of a public health emergency that effects, or has the significant potential to

effect, national security and that involves a specified biological, chemical, radiological or nuclear agent or agents, or a
specified disease or condition that may be attributable to such agent or agent.

In order to be the subject of an EUA, the FDA Commissioner must conclude that, based on the totality of scientific evidence available,
it is reasonable to believe that the product may be effective in diagnosing, treating or preventing a disease attributable to the agents
described above, that the product’s potential benefits outweigh its potential risks and that there is no adequate approved alternative to
the product.

Although an EUA cannot be issued until after an emergency has been declared by the Secretary of DHHS, the FDA strongly
encourages an entity with a possible candidate product, particularly one at an advanced stage of development, to contact the FDA
center responsible for the candidate product before a determination of actual or potential emergency. Such an entity may submit a
request for consideration that includes data to demonstrate that, based on the totality of scientific evidence available, it is reasonable
to believe that the product may be effective in diagnosing, treating, or preventing the serious or life-threatening disease or condition.
This is called a pre-EUA submission and its purpose is to allow FDA review considering that during an emergency, the time available
for the submission and review of an EUA request may be severely limited. We met with the FDA in July 2014 to present our human
dose-conversion and our intent to submit a pre-EUA for entolimod. As a result of this meeting, the FDA confirmed that our existing
efficacy and safety data and animal-to-human dose conversion are sufficient to proceed with a pre-EUA submission and agreed to
accept a pre-EUA for review. We plan to submit a pre-EUA in the first half of 2015 in order to inform and expedite the FDA’s issuance
of an EUA, should one become necessary in the event of an emergency. The FDA does not have review deadlines with respect to
pre-EUA submissions. Additionally, if we submit a pre-EUA, there is no guarantee that the FDA will agree that entolimod meets the
criteria for EUA, or, if they do agree, that such agreement by the FDA will lead to procurement by the U.S. or other governments or
further development funding.
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Public Readiness and Emergency Preparedness Act

The Public Readiness and Emergency Preparedness Act, or PREP Act, provides immunity for manufacturers from all claims under
state or federal law for “loss” arising out of the administration or use of a “covered countermeasure.” However, injured persons may
still bring a suit for “willful misconduct” against the manufacturer under some circumstances. “Covered countermeasures” include
security countermeasures and “qualified pandemic or epidemic products”, including products intended to diagnose or treat pandemic
or epidemic disease, such as pandemic vaccines, as well as treatments intended to address conditions caused by such products. For
these immunities to apply, the Secretary of DHHS must issue a declaration in cases of public health emergency or “credible risk” of a
future public health emergency. Since 2007, the Secretary of DHHS has issued 8 declarations and six amendments under the PREP
Act to protect countermeasures that are necessary to prepare the nation for potential pandemics or epidemics from liability.

Fast Track Designation

Entolimod has been granted Fast Track designation by the FDA for reducing the risk of death following total body irradiation. The
FDA’s Fast Track designation program is designed to facilitate the development and review of new drugs, including biological
products that are intended to treat serious or life-threatening conditions and that demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical
needs for the conditions. Fast Track designation applies to a combination of the product and the specific indication for which it is
being studied. Thus, it is the development program for a specific drug for a specific indication that receives Fast Track designation.
The sponsor of a product designated as being in a Fast Track drug development program may engage in early communication with
the FDA, including timely meetings and early feedback on clinical trials and may submit portions of an NDA or BLA on a rolling basis
rather than waiting to submit a complete application. Products in Fast Track drug development programs also may receive priority
review or accelerated approval, under which an application may be reviewed within six months after a complete NDA or BLA is
accepted for filing or sponsors may rely on a surrogate endpoint for approval, respectively. The FDA may notify a sponsor that its
program is no longer classified as a Fast Track development program if the Fast Track designation is no longer supported by
emerging data or the designated drug development program is no longer being pursued. Receipt of Fast Track designation does not
guarantee that we will experience a faster development process, review or approval as compared to conventional FDA procedures or
that we will qualify or be able to take advantage of the FDA’s expedited review procedures.

Orphan Drug Designation

Entolimod has been granted Orphan Drug designation by the FDA for prevention of death following a potentially lethal dose of total
body irradiation. Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan drug designation to a drug intended to treat a rare disease or
condition which is defined as one affecting fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States or more than 200,000 individuals
where there is no reasonable expectation that the product development cost will be recovered from product sales in the United
States. Orphan Drug designation must be requested before submitting an NDA or BLA and does not convey any advantage in, or
shorten the duration of, the regulatory review and approval process.

If an Orphan Drug-designated product subsequently receives the first FDA approval for the disease for which it has such designation,
the product will be entitled to orphan product exclusivity, which means that the FDA may not approve any other applications to market
the same drug for the same indication, except in very limited circumstances for seven years as compared to five years for a standard
new drug approval. As referenced above, we have received Orphan Drug designation for entolimod. We intend to seek Orphan Drug
designation for our other products as appropriate, but an Orphan Drug designation may not provide us with a material commercial
advantage.
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Foreign Regulation

In addition to regulations in the United States, we are and will be subject to a variety of foreign regulations governing clinical trials and
will be subject to a variety of foreign regulation governing commercial sales and distribution of our products. Whether or not we obtain
FDA approval for a product, we must obtain approval by the comparable regulatory authorities of foreign countries before we can
commence clinical trials or marketing of the product in those countries. The approval process varies from country to country and the
time may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA approval. The requirements governing the conduct of clinical trials, product
licensing, pricing and reimbursement vary greatly from country to country. Other countries, at this time, do not have an equivalent to
the Animal Rule and, as a result, do not have established criteria for review and approval of these types of products outside their
normal review process, but some countries may have similar policy objectives in place for these product candidates.

As in the United States, the European Union may grant orphan drug status for specific indications if the request is made before an
application for marketing authorization is made. The European Union considers an orphan medicinal product to be one that affects
less than five of every 10,000 people in the European Union. A company whose application for orphan drug designation in the
European Union is approved is eligible to receive, among other benefits, regulatory assistance in preparing the marketing application,
protocol assistance and reduced application fees. Orphan drugs in the European Union also enjoy economic and marketing benefits,
including up to ten years of market exclusivity for the approved indication, unless another applicant can show that its product is safer,
more effective or otherwise clinically superior to the orphan designated product.

Our activities in Russia, through our subsidiaries and joint ventures, are regulated by the Ministry of Health and Social Development
of the Russian Federation, or Minzdrav. This federal executive authority is responsible for developing state policies as well as
normative and legal regulations in the healthcare and pharmaceutical industries, including policies and regulations regarding the
quality, efficacy and safety of pharmaceutical products. In addition, the Federal Service on Surveillance in Healthcare and Social
Development, or Roszdravnadzor, is the subordinate executive authority to Minzdrav, which, among other things (i) performs control
and surveillance of certain activities, including pre-clinical and clinical trials and monitors compliance with state standards for medical
products and pharmaceutical activities; (ii) issues licenses for the manufacture of drug products and pharmaceutical activities;
(iii) grants allowance for clinical trials, use of new medical technologies and import and export of medical products, including import of
products for use in clinical trials; and (iv) reviews and grants or denies registrations of medical products for sale in Russia. The
principal statute that governs our activities in Russia is the Federal Law No. 61-FZ “On the Use and Distribution of Medicines” of
12 April 2010 (as amended). This law regulates the research, development, testing, pre-clinical and clinical studies, governmental
registration, quality control, manufacture, storage, transporting, export and import, licensing, advertisement, sale, transfer, utilization
and destruction of medical products within the Russian Federation, among other things. All medical products must be registered in
Russia and comply with stringent safety and quality controls and testing. In addition to Law No. 61-FZ, we are subject to a number of
other laws, regulations and orders that regulate our activities in Russia relating to our drug development activities, taxation, corporate
existence, labor laws and other areas. In particular, the existence, legal relations and transactions effected by our Russian
subsidiaries and joint ventures are governed by the Federal Law No. 14-FZ “On Limited Liability Companies”, which was enacted on
February 8, 1998 (as amended). Pursuant to this law, we must comply with equity holder and other approval requirements including
those applicable to large transactions and affiliated transactions. Additionally, under the Russian Labor Code, our Russian
subsidiaries and joint ventures must enter into employment contracts with each employee, afford them at least 28 paid vacation days,
limit the working week to 40 hours per week and follow the code’s specific procedures and safeguards that serve to protect an
employee’s rights in the event the employee in Russia is terminated.
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EMPLOYEES

As of February 12, 2015, CBLI and its consolidated subsidiaries and joint ventures had 33 employees, 19 of whom are located in the
U.S. and 14 of whom are located outside of the U.S. Of these employees, 13 were employed on a full-time basis and 20 were
employed on a part-time basis.

ENVIRONMENT

We have made, and will continue to make, expenditures for environmental compliance and protection. Expenditures for compliance
with environmental laws and regulations have not had, and are not expected to have, a material effect on our capital expenditures,
results of operations or competitive position.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Our internet website address is http://www.cbiolabs.com/. Through our website, we make available, free of charge, our annual reports
on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, any amendments to those reports, proxy and
registration statements, and all of our insider Section 16 reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is
electronically filed with, or furnished to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. These SEC reports can be
accessed through the “Investors” section of our website. The information found on our website is not part of this or any other report
we file with, or furnish to, the SEC. Paper copies of our SEC reports are available free of charge upon request in writing to Corporate
Secretary, Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. 73 High Street, Buffalo NY 14203. The content on any website referred to in this Form 10-K is not
incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K unless expressly noted.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

RISKS RELATING TO OUR FINANCIAL POSITION AND NEED FOR ADDITIONAL FINANCING

We will require substantial additional financing in order to meet our business objectives.

Since our inception, most of our resources have been dedicated to the pre-clinical and clinical development of our product
candidates. In particular, we are currently conducting multiple clinical trials of our product candidates, each of which will require
substantial funds to complete. We believe that we will continue to expend substantial resources for the foreseeable future developing
our pre-clinical and clinical product candidates. These expenditures will include costs associated with research and development,
conducting pre-clinical and clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and products from third-party manufacturers, as well as
marketing and selling any products approved for sale. In addition, other unanticipated costs may arise. Because the outcome of our
planned and anticipated clinical trials is highly uncertain, we cannot reasonably estimate the actual amounts of capital necessary to
successfully complete the development and commercialization of our product candidates.

As of December 31, 2014, our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments amounted to $3.1 million. In addition, on
February 6, 2015, we closed an equity transaction pursuant to which we received estimated net proceeds of $3.7 million. We believe
that our existing cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities will allow us to fund our operating plan into June 2015.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with research, development and commercialization of pharmaceutical
products, we are unable to estimate the exact amounts of our total capital requirements. Our future capital requirements depend on
many factors, including:
 

 •  the number and characteristics of the product candidates we pursue;
 

 
•  the scope, progress, results and costs of researching and developing our product candidates, and conducting pre-clinical

and clinical trials;
 

 •  the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining regulatory approvals for our product candidates;
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•  the cost of commercialization activities for any of our product candidates that are approved for sale, including marketing,

sales and distribution costs;
 

 •  the cost of manufacturing our product candidates and any products we successfully commercialize;
 

 
•  our ability to establish and maintain strategic partnerships, licensing or other arrangements and the financial terms of such

agreements;
 

 
•  the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing patent claims, including litigation

costs and the outcome of such litigation;
 

 •  whether we realize the full amount of any projected cost savings associated with our strategic restructuring;
 

 
•  the occurrence of a breach or event of default under our loan agreement with Hercules or under any other agreements

with third parties;
 

 •  the success of any pre-EUA submission we make with the FDA; and
 

 •  the timing, receipt and amount of sales of, or royalties on, our future products, if any.

When our available cash and cash equivalents become insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, or if and when we identify
additional opportunities to do so, we will likely seek to sell additional equity or debt securities or obtain additional credit facilities. The
sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities may result in additional dilution to our stockholders. If we raise additional funds
through the issuance of debt securities or preferred stock or through additional credit facilities, these securities and/or the loans under
credit facilities could provide for rights senior to those of our common stock and could contain covenants that would restrict our
operations. Furthermore, any funds raised through collaboration and licensing arrangements with third parties may require us to
relinquish valuable rights to our technologies or product candidates, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. In any
such event, our business prospects, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

In addition, the terms of the equity transaction that we consummated in February 2015 require us to seek stockholder approval of the
exercisability of Series B pre-funded warrants sold in such transaction and the convertibility of Series A preferred convertible stock
sold in such transaction. Until the latter of April 22, 2015 or until such stockholder approval is received, we are prohibited from selling
additional equity or debt securities.

We may require additional capital beyond our currently forecasted amounts and additional funds may not be available when we need
them, on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. In particular, the decline in the market price of our common stock could make it
more difficult for us to sell equity or equity-related securities in the future at a time and price that we deem appropriate. In addition, the
variable rate clause in our stock purchase agreement from our February 2015 equity transaction prohibits certain types of capital
raising activities until twelve months following the date of the stockholder approval required by that transaction and pledge of assets in
our loan and security agreement with Hercules Technology II, L.P., or Hercules, may inhibit our ability to attract future investors
and/or lenders. Additionally, our corporate structure, including the ownership of several of our product candidates in our joint
ventures, may deter third parties from entering into collaboration and licensing arrangements with us. If we fail to raise sufficient
additional financing, on terms and dates acceptable to us, we may not be able to continue our operations and the development of our
product candidates, our patent licenses may be terminated, and we may be required to reduce staff, reduce or eliminate research and
development, slow the development of our product candidates, outsource or eliminate several business functions or shut down
operations.

The report of our independent registered public accounting firm expresses substantial doubt about the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

Our auditors, Meaden & Moore, LLP, have indicated in their report on the Company’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2014, that conditions exist that raise substantial doubt about our ability to
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continue as a going concern due to our recurring losses and substantial decline in our working capital. A “going concern” opinion
could impair our ability to finance our operations through the sale of equity, incurring debt or other financing alternatives. Our ability to
continue as a going concern will depend upon the availability and terms of future funding and our ability to limit our expenses. If we
are unable to achieve these goals, our business would be jeopardized and the Company may not be able to continue. If we ceased
operations, it is likely that all of our investors would lose their investment.

We have a history of operating losses. We expect to continue to incur losses and may not continue as a going concern.

We have incurred significant losses to date. We reported net income of approximately $0.04 million in 2014 and a net loss of $20.1
million in 2013. However, were it not for a one-time, non-cash gain of $14.2 million associated with the deconsolidation of Incuron, we
would have incurred a net loss of approximately $14.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. We expect significant losses to
continue for the next few years as we spend substantial sums on the continued research and development of our proprietary product
candidates, and there is no certainty that we will ever become profitable as a result of these expenditures. As a result of losses that
will continue throughout our development stage, we may exhaust our financial resources and be unable to complete the development
of our product candidates.

Our ability to become profitable depends primarily on the following factors:
 

 •  our ability to obtain adequate sources of continued financing;
 

 •  our ability to obtain approval for, and if approved, to successfully commercialize our product candidates;
 

 
•  our ability to successfully enter into license, development or other partnership agreements with third-parties for the

development and/or commercialization of one or more of our product candidates;
 

 •  our research and development, or R&D, efforts, including the timing and cost of clinical trials; and
 

 
•  our ability to enter into favorable alliances with third-parties who can provide substantial capabilities in clinical

development, manufacturing, regulatory affairs, sales, marketing and distribution.

Even if we successfully develop and market our product candidates, we may not generate sufficient or sustainable revenue to
achieve or sustain profitability.

We may be unable to service our existing debt due to lack of cash flow, which could lead to default.

In September 2013, we entered into a loan and security agreement with Hercules under which we borrowed $6.0 million. The current
interest rate is 10.45%, with the initial 12 months of the facility requiring interest only payments and the following 30 months requiring
interest and principal payments. The loan matures on January 1, 2017. In June 2014, we made a $4.0 million principal pre-payment,
and we are currently paying approximately $76,000 per month for interest and principal, with a final principal and interest payment of
approximately $305,000 and an end-of-term fee of $550,000 due in January 2017. As of December 31, 2014, the remaining principal
and end-of-term obligations owed to Hercules was approximately $2.4 million. We granted Hercules a first priority security interest in
substantially all of our assets, with the exception of (i) our intellectual property, where the security interest is limited to proceeds of
intellectual property, and (ii) our equity interest in Incuron.

If we do not make the required payments when due, either at maturity, or at applicable installment payment dates, or if we breach the
agreement, default under the agreement by having a material adverse event happen to the business of the Company or become
insolvent, Hercules could elect to declare all amounts outstanding together with all accrued and unpaid interest and penalties, to be
immediately due and payable. In order to continue our planned operations and satisfy our debt obligations with Hercules, we will need
to raise additional capital in the future. Additional capital may not be available on terms acceptable to us, or at all. Even if we were
able to repay the full amount in cash, any such repayment could leave us with little or no working capital for our
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business. If we are unable to repay these amounts, Hercules will have a first claim on our assets pledged under the loan agreement.
If Hercules should attempt to foreclose on the collateral, there may not be any assets remaining for distribution to shareholders after
repayment in full of such secured indebtedness. Any default under the loan agreement and resulting foreclosure would have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition and our ability to continue our operations.

Additionally, in September 2013, our majority-owned joint venture Panacela entered into a $1.5 million Convertible Loan Agreement
with Rusnano, or the Rusnano Loan, and is required to pay all unpaid principal and interest under the loan in September 2015. The
loan may be converted into shares of Panacela stock at any time at Rusnano’s option or will automatically convert upon certain
financing events. In the event Panacela defaults on the loan and such default is not cured, Rusnano shall have the right to exercise a
warrant to purchase shares of Cleveland BioLabs common stock equal to 69.2% of the outstanding amount remaining unpaid under
the Rusnano Loan at the time of exercise, divided by the exercise price of $33.88 per share. As of December 31, 2014, that would
amount to 38,504 shares, taking into account the 1:20 reverse split effected by the Company on January 28, 2015, or the Reverse
Split.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards may be limited.

As of December 31, 2014, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, of $120.9 million to offset future taxable income,
which begin to expire if not utilized by 2023. Under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, substantial changes in our
ownership, in certain circumstances, will limit the amount of NOLs that can be utilized annually in the future to offset taxable income.
In particular, section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code imposed limitations on a company’s ability to use NOLs if a company
experiences a more than 50% ownership change over a three-year period. As we have indicated, we believe that our funds will be
sufficient to fund our projected operating requirements into June 2015. As such, we will need to secure additional financing and it is
possible that as a result of such additional financing our ability to use our NOLs in future years may be limited. If we are limited in our
ability to use our NOLs in future years in which we have taxable income, we will pay more taxes than if we were able to utilize our
NOLs fully. A full valuation allowance has been recorded against our deferred tax assets, including the net operating loss
carryforwards, as we believe it is more likely than not we will be unable to realize the benefit of these assets.

RISKS RELATED TO PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

We may not be able to successfully and timely develop our products.

Our product candidates range from ones currently in the research stage to ones currently in the clinical stage of development and all
require further testing to determine their technical and commercial viability. Our success will depend on our ability to achieve
scientific, clinical and technological advances and to translate such advances into reliable, commercially competitive products in a
timely manner. In addition, the success of our subsidiaries and joint ventures will depend on their ability to meet developmental
milestones in a timely manner or to fulfill certain other development requirements under contractual agreements, which are pre-
requisites to their receipt of additional funding from their non-controlling interest holders or the government agency funding their
government contracts. Products that we may develop are not likely to be commercially available for several years. The proposed
development schedules for our products may be affected by a variety of factors, including, among others, technological difficulties,
proprietary technology of others, the government approval process, the availability of funds, disagreements with the financial partners
in our joint ventures, and changes in government regulation, many of which will not be within our control. Any delay in the
development, introduction or marketing of our products could result either in such products being marketed at a time when their cost
and performance characteristics would not be competitive in the marketplace or in the shortening of their commercial lives. In light of
the long-term nature of our projects and the unproven technology involved, we may not be able to complete successfully the
development or marketing of any products.
 

22

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



Table of Contents

We may fail to develop and commercialize some or all of our products successfully or in a timely manner because:
 

 
•  pre-clinical or clinical study results may show the product to be less effective than desired (e.g., the study failed to meet its

primary objectives) or to have harmful or problematic side effects;
 

 

•  we fail to receive the necessary regulatory approvals or there may be a delay in receiving such approvals. Among other
things, such delays may be caused by slow enrollment in clinical studies, length of time to achieve study endpoints,
additional time requirements for data analysis or pre-EUA, NDA or BLA preparation, discussions with the FDA, an FDA
request for additional pre-clinical or clinical data or unexpected safety or manufacturing issues;

 

 •  we fail to receive funding necessary for the development of one or more of our products;
 

 •  they fail to conform to a changing standard of care for the diseases they seek to treat;
 

 •  they are less effective or more expensive than current or alternative treatment methods;
 

 •  of manufacturing costs, pricing or reimbursement issues, or other factors that make the product not economically feasible;
 

 
•  one or more of our financial partners in our joint ventures and us do not agree on the development strategy of our

products; or
 

 
•  proprietary rights of others and their competing products and technologies may prevent our product from being

commercialized.

Our collaborative relationships with third parties could cause us to expend significant resources and incur substantial
business risk with no assurance of financial return.

We anticipate substantial reliance upon strategic collaborations for marketing and commercialization of our product candidates and
we may rely even more on strategic collaborations for R&D of our product candidates. Our business depends on our ability to sell
drugs to both government agencies and to the general pharmaceutical market. Offering entolimod for its biodefense indication use to
government agencies may require us to develop new sales, marketing or distribution capabilities beyond those already existing in the
Company and we may not be successful in selling entolimod for its biodefense indication use in the United States or in foreign
countries despite our efforts. Selling oncology drugs will require a more significant infrastructure. We plan to sell oncology drugs
through strategic partnerships with pharmaceutical companies. If we are unable to establish or manage such strategic collaborations
on terms favorable to us in the future, our revenue and drug development may be limited. To date, we have not entered into any
strategic collaboration with a third party capable of providing these services and we can make no guarantee that we will be able to
enter into a strategic collaboration in the future. In addition, we have not yet marketed or sold any of our product candidates or
entered into successful collaborations for these services in order to ultimately commercialize our product candidates. We also rely on
third-party collaborations with our manufacturers. Manufacturers producing our product candidates must follow cGMP regulations
enforced by the FDA and foreign equivalents.

Establishing strategic collaborations is difficult and time-consuming. Our discussion with potential collaborators may not lead to the
establishment of collaborations on favorable terms, if at all. Potential collaborators may reject collaborations based upon their
assessment of our financial, regulatory or intellectual property position. Even if we successfully establish new collaborations, these
relationships may never result in the successful development or commercialization of our product candidates or the generation of
sales revenue. In addition, to the extent that we enter into collaborative arrangements, our drug revenues are likely to be lower than if
we directly marketed and sold any drugs that we may develop.
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We will not be able to commercialize our product candidates if our pre-clinical development efforts are not successful, our
clinical trials do not demonstrate safety or our clinical trials or pivotal animal studies do not demonstrate efficacy.

Before obtaining required regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of any of our product candidates, we must conduct extensive
pre-clinical and clinical studies to demonstrate that our product candidates are safe and clinical or pivotal animal trials to demonstrate
the efficacy of our product candidates. Pre-clinical and clinical testing is expensive, difficult to design and implement, can take many
years to complete and is uncertain as to outcome. Success in pre-clinical testing and early clinical trials does not ensure that later
clinical trials or animal efficacy studies will be successful and interim results of a clinical trial or animal efficacy study do not
necessarily predict final results. In addition, we must outsource our clinical trials and our animal studies required to obtain regulatory
approval of our products. We are not certain that we will successfully or promptly finalize agreements for the conduct of these studies.
Delay in finalizing such agreements would delay the commencement of our pre-clinical and clinical studies, such as animal efficacy
studies for entolimod’s biodefense indication and clinical trials of entolimod, CBLB612 and CBL0137 for oncology indications. In
addition, we are seeking final FDA agreement on the scope and design of our pivotal animal efficacy and human safety program for
an entolimod biodefense BLA. Delay in agreement with the FDA on this program will delay conduct of the pivotal animal efficacy and
human safety studies.

Agreements with contract research organizations, or CROs, and study investigators, for clinical or animal testing and with other third
parties for data management services place substantial responsibilities on these parties, which could result in delays in, or
termination of, our clinical trials if these parties fail to perform as expected. For example, if any of our clinical trial sites fail to comply
with Good Clinical Practices or our pivotal animal studies fail to comply with Good Laboratory Practices we may be unable to use the
data generated at those sites. In these studies, if contracted CROs or other third parties do not carry out their contractual duties or
obligations or fail to meet expected deadlines, or if the quality or accuracy of the data they obtain is compromised due to their failure
to adhere to our protocols or for other reasons, our clinical or animal studies may be extended, delayed or terminated, and we may be
unable to obtain regulatory approval for or successfully commercialize our product candidates.

Our clinical trial operations will be subject to regulatory inspections at any time. If regulatory inspectors conclude that we or our
clinical trial sites are not in compliance with applicable regulatory requirements for conducting clinical trials, we or they may receive
warning letters or other correspondence detailing deficiencies and we will be required to implement corrective actions. If regulatory
agencies deem our responses to be inadequate, or are dissatisfied with the corrective actions that we or our clinical trial sites have
implemented, our clinical trials may be temporarily or permanently discontinued, we may be fined, we or our investigators may be the
subject of an enforcement action, the government may refuse to approve our marketing applications or allow us to manufacture or
market our products or we may be criminally prosecuted.

In addition, a failure of one or more of our clinical trials or animal studies can occur at any stage of testing and such failure could have
a material adverse effect on our ability to generate revenue and could require us to reduce the scope of or discontinue our
operations. We may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, pre-clinical testing and the clinical trial or
animal study process that could delay or prevent our ability to receive regulatory approval or commercialize our product candidates,
including:
 

 
•  regulators or IRBs may not authorize us to commence a clinical trial, conduct a clinical trial at a prospective trial site or

continue a clinical trial following amendment of a clinical trial protocol or an IACUC may not authorize us to commence an
animal study at a prospective study site;

 

 
•  we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct additional pre-clinical or clinical studies, or we may abandon

projects that we expect to be promising, if our pre-clinical tests, clinical trials or animal efficacy studies produce negative or
inconclusive results;

 

 •  we might have to suspend or terminate our clinical trials if the participants are being exposed to unacceptable safety risks;
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•  regulators or IRBs may require that we hold, suspend or terminate clinical development for various reasons, including

noncompliance with regulatory requirements or if it is believed that the clinical trials present an unacceptable safety risk to
the patients enrolled in our clinical trials;

 

 •  the cost of our clinical trials or animal studies could escalate and become cost prohibitive;
 

 
•  any regulatory approval we ultimately obtain may be limited or subject to restrictions or post-approval commitments that

render the product not commercially viable;
 

 
•  we may not be successful in recruiting a sufficient number of qualifying subjects for our clinical trials or certain animals

used in our animal studies or facilities conducting our studies may not be available at the time that we plan to initiate a
study;

 

 
•  the effects of our product candidates may not be the desired effects, may include undesirable side effects, or the product

candidates may have other unexpected characteristics; and
 

 
•  our collaborators that conduct our clinical or pivotal animal studies could go out of business and not be available for FDA

inspection when we submit our product for approval.

Even if we or our collaborators complete our animal studies and clinical trials and receive regulatory approval, it is possible that a
product may be found to be ineffective or unsafe due to conditions or facts that arise after development has been completed and
regulatory approvals have been obtained. In this event, we may be required to withdraw such product from the market. To the extent
that our success will depend on any regulatory approvals from government authorities outside of the United States that perform roles
similar to that of the FDA, uncertainties similar to those stated above will also exist.

Our joint ventures have significant non-controlling interest holders and, as such, are not operated solely for our benefit.

As of December 31, 2014, we owned 46.96% of the equity interests in Incuron and 57.78% of the equity interests in Panacela. These
entities have significant non-controlling interest holders, each of which are funds regulated by the Russian Federation government.
As such, we share ownership and management of these entities with one or more parties who may not have the same goals,
strategies, priorities or resources as we do.

In each of these entities, both we and our co-owners have certain rights. Each entity provides the right to each party to designate
certain of the board members and certain decisions in respect of these entities may not be made without a supermajority vote of the
equity holders or the consent of all of the equity holders. The right to transfer ownership interests in these entities is restricted by
provisions such as rights of first refusal and tag along and drag along rights. In addition, the use of funds and other matters are
subject to monitoring and oversight by both groups of equity holders. Furthermore, we are required to pay more attention to our
relationship with our co-owners as well as with the entitites, and if a co-owner changes, our relationship may be materially adversely
affected. These various restrictions may lead to additional organizational formalities as well as time-consuming procedures for
sharing information and making decisions. In addition, the benefits from a successful joint venture are shared among the co-owners,
so that we would not receive all the benefits from our successful joint ventures.

Panacela is in need of additional financial resources. In addition, as Panacela has not received additional funding since their loan
from Rusnano in late 2013 and grant funding under their MPT contract, Panacela has not been able to pay certain of their obligations
as they become due and may be unable to continue operations. Management is pursuing sources of additional financing. If Panacela
does not receive additional financing and is unable to continue operations, it may cause us to experience a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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If parties on whom we rely to manufacture our product candidates do not manufacture them in satisfactory quality, in a
timely manner, in sufficient quantities or at an acceptable cost, clinical development and commercialization of our product
candidates could be delayed.

We do not own or operate manufacturing facilities. Consequently, we rely on third parties as sole suppliers of our product candidates.
We do not expect to establish our own manufacturing facilities and we will continue to rely on third-party manufacturers to produce
supplies for pre-clinical, clinical and pivotal animal studies and for commercial quantities of any products or product candidates that
we market or may supply to our collaborators. We also rely on third parties as sole providers of certain testing of our products. Our
dependence on third parties for the manufacture and testing of our product candidates may adversely affect our ability to develop and
commercialize any product candidates on a timely and competitive basis.

To date, our product candidates have only been manufactured in quantities sufficient for pre-clinical studies and initial clinical trials.
We rely on a single collaborator for production of each of our product candidates. For a variety of reasons, dependence on any single
manufacturer may adversely affect our ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates in a timely and competitive basis.
In addition, our current contractual arrangements alone may not be sufficient to guarantee that we will be able to procure the needed
supplies as we complete clinical development and/or enter commercialization.

Additionally, in connection with our application for commercial approvals and if any product candidate is approved by the FDA or
other regulatory agencies for commercial sale, we will need to procure commercial quantities from qualified third-party manufacturers.
We may not be able to contract for increased manufacturing capacity for any of our product candidates in a timely or economic
manner or at all. A significant scale-up in manufacturing may require additional validation studies and commensurate financial
investments by the contract manufacturers. If we are unable to successfully increase the manufacturing capacity for a product
candidate, the regulatory approval or commercial launch of that product candidate may be delayed or there may be a shortage of
supply, which could limit our sales and could initiate regulatory intervention to minimize the public health risk.

Other risks associated with our reliance on contract manufacturers include the following:
 

 
•  contract manufacturers may encounter difficulties in achieving volume production, quality control and quality assurance

and also may experience shortages in qualified personnel and obtaining active ingredients for our product candidates;
 

 

•  if, for any circumstance, we are required to change manufacturers, we could be faced with significant monetary and lost
opportunity costs with switching manufacturers. Furthermore, such change may take a significant amount of time. The FDA
and foreign regulatory agencies must approve these manufacturers in advance. This requires prior approval of regulatory
submissions as well as successful completion of pre-approval inspections to ensure compliance with FDA and foreign
regulations and standards;

 

 

•  contract manufacturers are subject to ongoing periodic, unannounced inspection by the FDA and state and foreign
agencies or their designees to ensure strict compliance with cGMP and other governmental regulations and corresponding
foreign standards. We do not have control over compliance by our contract manufacturers with these regulations and
standards. Our contract manufacturers may not be able to comply with cGMP and other FDA requirements or other
regulatory requirements outside the United States. Failure of contract manufacturers to comply with applicable regulations
could result in delays, suspensions or withdrawal of approvals, seizures or recalls of product candidates and operating
restrictions, any of which could significantly and adversely affect our business; and

 

 
•  contract manufacturers may breach the manufacturing agreements that we have with them because of factors beyond our

control or may terminate or fail to renew a manufacturing agreement based on their own business priorities at a time that is
costly or inconvenient to us.

Changes to the manufacturing process during the conduct of clinical trials or after marketing approval also require regulatory
submissions and the demonstration to the FDA or other regulatory authorities that the product
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manufactured under the new conditions complies with cGMP requirements. These requirements especially apply to moving
manufacturing functions to another facility. In each phase of investigation, sufficient information about changes in the manufacturing
process must be submitted to the regulatory authorities and may require prior approval before implementation with the potential of
substantial delay or the inability to implement the requested changes.

RISKS RELATING TO REGULATORY APPROVAL

We may not be able to obtain regulatory approval in a timely manner or at all and the results of future clinical trials and
pivotal efficacy studies may not be favorable.

The testing, marketing and manufacturing of any product for use in the United States will require approval from the FDA. We cannot
predict with any certainty the amount of time necessary to obtain FDA approval and whether any such approval will ultimately be
granted. Obtaining approval for products requires testing in animals and human subjects of substances whose effects on humans are
not fully understood or documented. Pre-clinical studies, animal efficacy studies or clinical trials may reveal that one or more products
are ineffective or unsafe, in which event, further development of such products could be seriously delayed, terminated or rendered
more expensive.

In addition, we expect to rely on an FDA regulation known as the “Animal Rule” to obtain approval for entolimod’s biodefense
indication. The Animal Rule permits the use of animal efficacy studies together with human clinical safety trials to support an
application for marketing approval of products when human efficacy studies are neither ethical nor feasible. These regulations have
limited prior use and we have limited experience in the application of these rules to the product candidates that we are developing.
Additionally, we may submit an application with the FDA for pre-EUA, so that entolimod may be used in an emergency situation. If
and when we provide the FDA with the data to support a pre-EUA for entolimod’s biodefense indication we cannot guarantee that the
FDA will review the data in a timely manner, or that the FDA will accept the data when reviewed. The FDA may decide that our data
are insufficient for pre-EUA or BLA approval and require additional pre-clinical, clinical or other studies, refuse to approve our
products, or place restrictions on our ability to commercialize those products. If we are not successful in completing the development,
licensure and commercialization of entolimod for its biodefense indication, or if we are significantly delayed in doing so, our business
will be materially harmed.

The receipt of FDA approval may be delayed for reasons other than the results of pre-clinical studies and clinical trials. For example,
in 2011, the IND application for entolimod’s biodefense indication was transferred within the FDA from the Division of Biologic
Oncology Products, or DBOP, to the Division of Medical Imaging Products, or DMIP. As a result of this transfer, we requested and
participated in nine meetings with DMIP during 2011-2014 to review the product mechanisms of action, safety profile and preliminary
estimation of an effective human dose. DMIP has agreed on the scope and design of the proposed pivotal animal efficacy program
and has acknowledged that specific cytokines do play an important role in entolimod’s mechanism of action and, as such, can be
used as biomarkers for animal-to-human dose-conversion. DMIP has also provided advice on the design of the remaining program
needed for BLA submission. However, we are still in the process of reaching an agreement with FDA on certain elements of the
design of our remaining clinical studies for entolimod. There can be no guarantee that we will reach a satisfactory agreement in a
timely manner, or at all, or that DMIP will not request any additional information related to our pre-clinical or clinical programs.

Delays in obtaining FDA or any other necessary regulatory approvals of any proposed product or the failure to receive such approvals
would have an adverse effect on our ability to develop such product, the product’s potential commercial success and/or on our
business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.
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Failure to obtain regulatory approval in international jurisdictions could prevent us from marketing our products abroad.

We intend to market our product candidates, including specifically the product candidates being developed by our subsidiaries and
joint ventures, in the United States, Russia and other countries and regulatory jurisdictions. In order to market our product candidates
in the United States, Russia and other jurisdictions, we must obtain separate regulatory approvals in each of these countries and
territories. The procedures and requirements for obtaining marketing approval vary among countries and regulatory jurisdictions and
may involve additional clinical trials or other tests. In addition, we do not have in-house experience and expertise regarding the
procedures and requirements for filing for and obtaining marketing approval for drugs in countries outside of the United States,
Europe and Japan and may need to engage and rely upon expertise of third parties when we file for marketing approval in countries
outside of the United States, Europe and Japan. Also, the time required to obtain approval in markets outside of the United States
may differ from that required to obtain FDA approval, while still including all of the risks associated with obtaining FDA approval. We
may not be able to obtain all of the desirable or necessary regulatory approvals on a timely basis, if at all. Approval by a regulatory
authority in a particular country or regulatory jurisdiction, such as the FDA in the United States or the Roszdravnadzor in Russia,
does not ensure approval by a regulatory authority in another country.

We may not be able to file for regulatory approvals and may not receive necessary approvals to commercialize our product
candidates in any or all of the countries or regulatory jurisdictions in which we desire to market our product candidates. At this time,
other countries do not have an equivalent to the Animal Rule and, as a result, such countries do not have established criteria for
review and approval for this type of product outside their normal review process. Specifically, because such other countries do not
have an equivalent to the Animal Rule, we may not be able to file for or receive regulatory approvals for entolimod’s biodefense
indication outside the United States based on our animal efficacy and human safety data.

The Fast Track designation for entolimod may not actually lead to a faster development or regulatory review or approval
process.

We have obtained a “Fast Track” designation from the FDA for entolimod’s biodefense indication. However, we may not experience a
faster development process, review or approval compared to conventional FDA procedures. The FDA may withdraw our Fast Track
designation if the FDA believes that the designation is no longer supported by data from our clinical or pivotal development program.
Our Fast Track designation does not guarantee that we will qualify for or be able to take advantage of the FDA’s expedited review
procedures or that any application that we may submit to the FDA for regulatory approval will be accepted for filing or ultimately
approved.

Any pre-EUA submission we make to the FDA may not be successful and, even if such submission is successful, it may not
accelerate BLA approval of entolimod or result in any purchase by the U.S. government for this product.

In July 2014, we met with the FDA regarding human dose-conversion of entolimod and based on the results of that meeting, we plan
to submit a pre-EUA dossier in the first half of 2015 in order to inform and expedite the FDA’s issuance of an EUA, should one
become necessary in the event of an emergency. The FDA does not have review deadlines with respect to pre-EUA submissions
and, therefore, the timing of any approval of a pre-EUA submission is uncertain. If we submit a pre-EUA, the FDA may decide not to
accept the data or may decide that our data are insufficient for pre-EUA. The FDA may require additional pre-clinical, clinical or other
studies, refuse to approve our products, or place restrictions on our ability to commercialize those products. Additionally, an
authorization of our pre-EUA submission will not guarantee, and may not accelerate, BLA approval of entolimod as a radiation
countermeasure. Further, even if our pre-EUA submission is authorized, there is no guarantee that such authorization will lead to
procurement by the United States or other governments or any additional development funding as it is possible that the United States
or other government may not be interested
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in our product or our proposed terms of sale for any number of reasons including, but not limited to, lack of available funding, potential
lack of government co-sponsorship of our pre-EUA, perceptions about the safety and effectiveness of entolimod, the storage
requirements for entolimod or one of our competitors receiving pre-EUA authorization for their product. If we are not successful in
partnering entolimod or completing the development, licensure and commercialization of entolimod for its biodefense indication use, or
if we are significantly delayed in doing so, our business may be materially harmed.

Even if our drug candidates obtain regulatory approval, we will be subject to on-going government regulation.

Even if our drug candidates obtain regulatory approval, our products will be subject to continuing regulation by the FDA, including
record keeping requirements, submitting periodic reports to the FDA, reporting of any adverse experiences with the product and
complying with REMS and drug sampling and distribution requirements. In addition, updated safety and efficacy information must be
maintained and provided to the FDA. We or our collaborative partners, if any, must comply with requirements concerning advertising
and promotional labeling, including the prohibition against promoting non-FDA approved or “off-label” indications or products. Failure
to comply with these requirements could result in significant enforcement action by the FDA, including warning letters, orders to pull
the promotional materials and substantial fines.

After FDA approval of a product, the discovery of problems with a product or its class, or the failure to comply with requirements may
result in restrictions on a product, manufacturer or holder of an approved marketing application. These include withdrawal or recall of
the product from the market or other voluntary or FDA-initiated action that could delay or prevent further marketing. Newly discovered
or developed safety or effectiveness data, including from other products in a therapeutic class, may require changes to a product’s
approved labeling, including the addition of new warnings and contraindications. Also, the FDA requires post-market clinical testing of
products approved under the Animal Rule at the time of a declared emergency and may require post-market clinical testing of other
products. They may also require surveillance to monitor the product’s safety or efficacy to evaluate long-term effects. It is also
possible that rare but serious adverse events not seen in our drug candidates may be identified after marketing approval. This could
result in withdrawal of our product from the market.

Compliance with post-marketing regulations may be time-consuming and costly and could delay or prevent us from generating
revenue from the commercialization of our drug candidates.

If physicians and patients do not accept and use our drugs, we will not achieve sufficient product revenues and our
business will suffer.

Even if we gain marketing approval of our drug candidates, government purchasers, physicians and/or patients may not accept and
use them. Acceptance and use of these products may depend on a number of factors including:
 

 
•  perceptions by members of the government healthcare community, including physicians, about the safety and

effectiveness of our drugs;
 

 •  published studies demonstrating the safety and effectiveness of our drugs;
 

 •  adequate reimbursement for our products from payors; and
 

 •  effectiveness of marketing and distribution efforts by us and our licensees and distributors, if any.

The failure of our drugs, if approved for marketing, to gain acceptance in the market would harm our business and could require us to
seek additional financing.
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RISKS RELATED TO OUR DEPENDENCE ON U.S. AND FOREIGN GOVERNMENT CONTRACTS AND GRANTS

If we are unable to procure additional government funding, we may not be able to fund future R&D and implement
technological improvements, which would materially harm our financial conditions and operating results.

In 2014, we received 0.6% of our revenues from government contract and grant development work in connection with grants from the
DoD and 95.2% of our revenues from government contract development work in the Russian Federation. In 2013 and 2012, we
received 26.8% and 34.8% of our revenues from U.S. government contract and grant development work, and 73.2% and 65.2% of our
revenues from Russian government contract development work.

These revenues have funded some of our personnel and other R&D and general and administrative, or G&A, costs and expenses. It
is possible that we may not choose to apply for or, if we do apply, be able to procure new grants and contracts that provide sufficient
funding, or any funding at all. If we do submit proposals for new grants or contracts, the review of such proposals may take significant
time. In addition, in the event of a positive review of one or more of our proposals, it may take significant time from the time we
receive the positive review to the finalization of a new contract or grant. Additionally, a positive review of a proposal in no way
indicates that we will ultimately receive a grant or contract award. Contract and grant awards are subject to a significant amount of
uncertainty, including, but not limited to, successful negotiation and availability of funds. In addition, in our experience, contracts from
Russian government entities require matching funds and posting of performance guarantees. Therefore, we expect that our
acceptance of new contracts or grants from Russian government entities will also be subject to our ability to provide matching funds
and to post performance guarantees.

As an example of the uncertainty of U.S. government contracting, in January 2014, we announced that the Biomedical Advanced
Research and Development Authority, or BARDA, had terminated negotiations related to our proposal for further development of
entolimod as a medical radiation countermeasure, noting that all such negotiations are subject to the availability of funds. In addition,
we announced in January 2015 that we had received notice that our proposal application to support further development of entolimod
as a medical radiation countermeasure has been recommended for funding subject to negotiations by the DoD. There is no
guarantee that this recommendation will quickly or ever lead to the funding by DoD of our proposal. The Company’s receipt of this
award is subject to successful negotiations and availability of funds. Additionally, with regard to our current Russian contracts, in each
instance where we have been successful in receiving a contract, the contracts have been subject to matching funds and we have had
to post performance guarantees, which have restricted our ability to use funds previously classified as operating funds.

If we are unable to obtain sufficient grants and contracts on a timely basis or if our current grants or contracts are terminated our
ability to fund future R&D would be diminished, which would negatively impact our ability to compete in our industry and could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Our future business may be harmed as a result of the foreign and U.S. government contracting process as it involves risks
not present in the commercial marketplace.

We expect that a significant portion of the business that we will seek in the near future will be under government contracts or
subcontracts, both U.S. and foreign, which may be awarded through competitive bidding. For example, as described above, we are
seeking funding from the DoD to support further development of entolimod. Additionally, in the Russian federation we may seek
additional funding from the Skolkovo Foundation or MPT. Competitive bidding for government contracts presents a number of risks
that are not typically present in the commercial contracting process, which may include:
 

 
•  the need to devote substantial time and attention of management and key employees to the preparation of bids and

proposals for contracts that may not be awarded to us;
 

 
•  the need to accurately estimate the resources and cost structure that will be required to perform any contract that we might

be awarded;
 

 •  the risk that the government will issue a request for proposal to which we would not be eligible to respond;
 

 
•  the risk that third parties may submit protests to our responses to requests for proposal that could result in delays or

withdrawals of those requests for proposal;
 

 

•  the expenses that we might incur and the delays that we might suffer if our competitors protest or challenge contract
awards made to us pursuant to competitive bidding and the risk that any such protest or challenge could result in the
resubmission of bids based on modified specifications, or in termination, reduction or modification of the awarded contract;
and

 

 
•  the risk that review of our proposal or award of a contract or an option to an existing contract could be significantly delayed

for reasons including, but not limited to, the need for us to resubmit our proposal or limitations on available funds due to
government budget cuts.

The U.S. government may choose to award future contracts for the supply of medical radiation countermeasures to our competitors
instead of to us. If we are unable to win particular contracts, or if the government chooses not to fully exercise all options under
contracts awarded to us, we may not be able to operate in the market for products that are provided under those contracts for a
number of years. If we are unable to consistently win new contract awards, or if we fail to anticipate all of the costs and resources that
will be required to secure such contract awards, our growth strategy and our business, financial condition and operating results could
be materially adversely affected.

Additionally, government authorities have a high degree of discretion in Russia and have at times exercised their discretion
selectively or arbitrarily, without hearing or prior notice, and sometimes in a manner that is perceived to be influenced, or may be
influenced, by political or commercial considerations. The government also has the power, in certain circumstances, to interfere with
the performance of, nullify or terminate contracts. Selective or arbitrary actions have included withdrawal of licenses, sudden and
unexpected tax audits, criminal prosecutions and civil actions. Federal and local government entities have also used common defects
in documentation as pretexts for court claims and other demands to invalidate and/or to void transactions, apparently for political
purposes. We cannot assure you that regulators, judicial authorities or third parties will not challenge our compliance with applicable
laws, decrees and regulations in Russia. Selective or arbitrary government action could have a material adverse effect on our
business and on the value of our common stock.

The market for U.S. and other government funding is highly competitive.

We have submitted or plan to submit applications for funding of various research studies of our product candidates to the U.S. and
other governments. There is no guarantee that any proposals that we have or plan to submit will be funded even if we receive positive
reviews of such proposals as funding by the government is
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highly competitive and limited to the availability of funds. Failure to receive funding from U.S. and other government sources for the
development of our product candidates could impair our ability to fund the development programs for our product candidates and thus
could result in delays in development, or even stopping of development, of certain indications for our product candidates.

Notably, our biodefense product candidate, entolimod, faces significant competition for U.S. government funding for both
development and procurement of medical countermeasures for biological, chemical and nuclear threats, diagnostic testing systems
and other emergency preparedness countermeasures. In addition, we may not be able to compete effectively if entolimod does not
satisfy procurement requirements of the U.S. government with respect to biodefense products. Our opportunities to succeed in the
biodefense industry could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize products that are safer, more
effective, have fewer side effects, are more convenient or are less expensive than any products that we may develop.

U.S. government agencies have special contracting requirements, which create additional risks.

We have historically entered into contracts with various U.S. government agencies. Due to these contracts with government
agencies, we are subject to various federal contract requirements. Future sales to U.S. government agencies will depend, in part, on
our ability to meet these requirements, certain of which we may not be able to satisfy.

U.S. government contracts typically contain unfavorable termination provisions and are subject to audit by the government at its sole
discretion even after the end of the period of performance under the contract, which subjects us to additional risks. These risks
include the ability of the U.S. government to unilaterally:
 

 
•  suspend or prevent us for a set period of time from receiving new contracts or extending existing contracts based on

violations or suspected violations of laws or regulations;
 

 •  terminate our existing contracts;
 

 •  reduce the scope and value of our existing contracts;
 

 •  audit and object to our contract-related costs and fees, including allocated indirect costs;
 

 •  control and potentially prohibit the export of our products; and
 

 •  change certain terms and conditions in our contracts.

Pursuant to our government contracts, we are generally permitted to retain title to any patentable invention or discovery made while
performing the contract. However, the U.S. government is generally entitled to receive a non-exclusive, non-transferable, irrevocable,
paid-up license to the subject inventions throughout the world. In addition, our government contracts generally provide that the U.S.
government retains unlimited rights in the technical data produced under such government contract.

Our business could be adversely affected by a negative audit by the U.S. government.

As a U.S. government contractor, we may become subject to periodic audits and reviews by U.S. government agencies such as the
Defense Contract Audit Agency, or the DCAA. These agencies review a contractor’s performance under its contracts, cost structure
and compliance with applicable laws, regulations and standards. The DCAA also reviews the adequacy of, and a contractor’s
compliance with, its internal control systems and policies, including the contractor’s purchasing, property, estimating, compensation
and management information systems. Any costs found to be improperly allocated to a specific contract will not be reimbursed, which
such costs already reimbursed must be refunded.

Based on the results of these audits, the U.S. government may adjust our contract-related costs and fees, which have already been
paid to us, including allocated indirect costs. In addition, if an audit or review uncovers any
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improper or illegal activity, we may be subject to civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, including termination of our
contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, fines and suspension or prohibition from doing business with the U.S.
government. We could also suffer serious harm to our reputation if allegations of impropriety were made against us. In addition, under
U.S. government purchasing regulations, some of our costs, including most financing costs, amortization of intangible assets,
portions of our R&D costs and some marketing expenses, may not be reimbursable or allowed under our contracts. Further, as a
U.S. government contractor, we may become subject to an increased risk of investigations, criminal prosecution, civil fraud,
whistleblower lawsuits and other legal actions and liabilities to which purely private sector companies are not.

RISKS RELATING TO OUR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We rely upon licensed patents to protect our technology. We may be unable to obtain or protect such intellectual property
rights and we may be liable for infringing upon the intellectual property rights of others.

Our ability to compete effectively will depend on our ability to maintain the proprietary nature of our technologies and the proprietary
technology of others with which we have entered into licensing agreements. We have entered into five separate exclusive license
agreements to license our product candidates that are not owned by us and some product candidates are covered by up to three
separate license agreements. Pursuant to these license agreements we maintain patents and patent applications covering our
product candidates. We do not know whether any of these patent applications that are still in the approval process will ultimately
result in the issuance of a patent with respect to the technology owned by us or licensed to us. The patent position of pharmaceutical
or biotechnology companies, including ours, is generally uncertain and involves complex legal and factual considerations. The
standards that the United States Patent and Trademark Office use to grant patents are not always applied predictably or uniformly
and can change. There is also no uniform, worldwide policy regarding the subject matter and scope of claims granted or allowable in
pharmaceutical or biotechnology patents. Accordingly, we do not know the degree of future protection for our proprietary rights or the
breadth of claims that will be allowed in any patents issued to us or to others.

Our technology may be found in the future to infringe upon the rights of others or be infringed upon by others. In such a case, others
may assert infringement claims against us, and should we be found to infringe upon their patents, or otherwise impermissibly utilize
their intellectual property, we might be forced to pay damages, potentially including treble damages, if we are found to have willfully
infringed on such parties’ patent rights. Furthermore, parties making claims against us may be able to obtain injunctive or other
equitable relief which could effectively block our ability to further develop, commercialize and sell products. In addition to any
damages we might have to pay, we may be required to obtain licenses from the holders of this intellectual property, enter into royalty
agreements, or redesign our products so as not to utilize this intellectual property, each of which may prove to be uneconomical or
otherwise impossible. Conversely, we may not always be able to successfully pursue our claims against others that infringe upon our
technology and the technology exclusively licensed by us or developed with our collaborative partners. Thus, the proprietary nature of
our technology or technology licensed by us may not provide adequate protection against competitors.

Moreover, the cost to us of any litigation or other proceeding relating to our patents and other intellectual property rights, even if
resolved in our favor, could be substantial and the litigation would divert our management’s efforts and our resources. Uncertainties
resulting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation could limit our ability to continue our operations.

If we fail to comply with our obligations under our license agreement with third parties, we could lose our ability to develop
our product candidates.

The manufacture and sale of any products developed by us may involve the use of processes, products or information, the rights to
certain of which are owned by others. Although we have obtained exclusive licenses for
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our product candidates from The Cleveland Clinic and RPCI with regard to the use of patent applications as described above and
certain processes, products and information of others, these licenses could be terminated or expire during critical periods and we
may not be able to obtain licenses for other rights that may be important to us, or, if obtained, such licenses may not be obtained on
commercially reasonable terms. Furthermore, some of our product candidates require the use of technology licensed from multiple
third parties, each of which is necessary for the development of such product candidates. If we are unable to maintain and/or obtain
licenses, we may have to develop alternatives to avoid infringing upon the patents of others, potentially causing increased costs and
delays in product development and introduction or precluding the development, manufacture, or sale of planned products.
Additionally, the patents underlying any licenses may not be valid and enforceable. To the extent any products developed by us are
based on licensed technology, royalty payments on the licenses will reduce our gross profit from such product sales and may render
the sales of such products uneconomical.

Our current exclusive licenses impose various development, royalty, diligence, record keeping, insurance, solvency and other
obligations on us. If we breach any of these obligations and do not cure such breaches within the relevant cure period, the licensor
may have the right to terminate the license, which could result in us being unable to develop, manufacture and sell products that are
covered by the licensed technology or enable a competitor to gain access to the licensed technology.

In addition, while we cannot currently determine the dollar amount of the royalty and other payments we will be required to make in
the future under the license agreements, if any, the amounts may be significant. The dollar amount of our future payment obligations
will depend on the technology and intellectual property we use in products that we successfully develop and commercialize, if any.

If we are not able to protect and control our unpatented trade secrets, know-how and other technology, we may suffer
competitive harm.

We also rely on a combination of trade secrets, know-how, technology and nondisclosure and other contractual agreements and
technical measures to protect our rights in the technology. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect and we rely on third parties
to develop our products and thus must share trade secrets with them. We seek to protect our proprietary technology in part by
entering into confidentiality agreements and, if applicable, material transfer agreements, collaborative research agreements,
consulting agreements or other similar agreements with our collaborators, advisors, employees and consultants prior to beginning
research or disclosing proprietary information. These agreements will typically restrict the ability of our collaborators, advisors,
employees and consultants to publish data potentially relating to our trade secrets. Our academic collaborators typically have rights to
publish data, provided that we are notified in advance and may delay publication for a specified time in order to secure our intellectual
property rights arising from the collaboration. Despite our efforts to protect our trade secrets, our competitors may discover our trade
secrets, either through breach of these agreements, independent development or publication of information including our trade
secrets in cases where we do not have proprietary or otherwise protected rights at the time of publication. If any trade secret, know-
how or other technology not protected by a patent or intellectual property right were disclosed to, or independently developed by, a
competitor, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

RISKS RELATING TO OUR INDUSTRY AND OTHER EXTERNAL FACTORS

The biopharmaceutical market in which we compete is highly competitive.

The biopharmaceutical industry is characterized by rapid and significant technological change. Our success will depend on our ability
to develop and apply our technologies in the design and development of our product candidates and to establish and maintain a
market for our product candidates. In addition, there are many companies, both public and private, including major pharmaceutical
and chemical companies, specialized biotechnology firms, universities and other research institutions engaged in developing
pharmaceutical and
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biotechnology products. Many of these companies have substantially greater financial, technical, research and development
resources and human resources than us. Competitors may develop products or other technologies that are more effective than those
that are being developed by us or may obtain FDA or other governmental approvals for products more rapidly than us. If we
commence commercial sales of products, we still must compete in the manufacturing and marketing of such products, areas in which
we have no experience.

Our growth could be limited if we are unable to attract and retain key personnel and consultants.

We have limited experience in filing and prosecuting regulatory applications to obtain marketing approval from the FDA or other
regulatory authorities. The loss of services of one or more of our key employees or consultants could have a negative impact on our
business or our ability to expand our research, development and clinical programs. We depend on our scientific and clinical
collaborators and advisors, all of whom have outside commitments that may limit their availability to us. In addition, to the extent that
we are unable to engage certain collaborators or advisors for certain periods of time due to lack of relevant work or lack of available
funds, there is a risk that such collaborators or advisors will not be available to provide services in the future at such time when there
is available work and/or funds. In addition, we believe that our future success will depend in large part upon our ability to attract and
retain highly skilled scientific, managerial and marketing personnel, particularly as we expand our activities in clinical trials, the
regulatory approval process, external partner solicitations and sales and manufacturing. We routinely enter into consulting
agreements with our scientific and clinical collaborators and advisors, opinion leaders and heads of academic departments in the
ordinary course of our business. We also enter into contractual agreements with physicians and institutions who recruit patients into
our clinical trials on our behalf in the ordinary course of our business. In addition, as a result of our 2013 corporate restructuring and
workforce reductions, we may face additional challenges in retaining our existing senior management and key employees and
recruiting new employees to join our company as our business needs change. We face significant competition for this type of
personnel and for employees from other companies, research and academic institutions, government entities and other organizations.
We cannot predict our success in hiring or retaining the personnel we require for continued growth.

We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we, our employees or our consultants have wrongfully used or
disclosed alleged trade secrets of their former employers.

We engage as employees and consultants individuals who were previously employed at other biotechnology or pharmaceutical
companies, including at competitors or potential competitors. Although no claims against us are currently pending, we may become
subject to claims that we or our employees have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary
information of their former employers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we are successful in
defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and distract management.

We may incur substantial liabilities from any product liability and other claims if our insurance coverage for those claims is
inadequate.

We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing of our product candidates in human clinical trials and will
face an even greater risk if the product candidates are sold commercially. An individual may bring a product liability claim against us if
one of the product candidates causes, or merely appears to have caused, an injury. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves
against the product liability claim, we will incur substantial liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims
may result in:
 

 •  decreased demand for our product candidates;
 

 •  injury to our reputation;
 

 •  withdrawal of clinical trial participants;
 

 •  costs of related litigation;
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 •  diversion of our management’s time and attention;
 

 •  substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants;
 

 •  loss of revenues;
 

 •  the inability to commercialize product candidates; and
 

 •  increased difficulty in raising required additional funds in the private and public capital markets.

We currently have product liability insurance and intend to expand such coverage from coverage for clinical trials to include the sale of
commercial products if marketing approval is obtained for any of our product candidates. However, insurance coverage is increasingly
expensive. We may not be able to maintain insurance coverage that will be adequate to satisfy any liability that may arise.

From time to time, we may also become subject to litigation, such as stockholder derivative claims or securities fraud claims, which
could involve our directors and officers as defendants. We currently have director and officer, or D&O, insurance to cover such risk
exposure for our directors and officers. Our bylaws require us to indemnify our current and past directors and officers from reasonable
expenses related to the defense of any action arising from their service to us. Our certificate of incorporation and by-laws include
provisions to indemnify the directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, including
circumstances under which indemnification is otherwise discretionary. If our D&O insurance is insufficient to cover all such expenses
for all directors and officers, we would be obligated to cover any shortfall, which may be substantial. Such expenditure could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operation, financial condition and liquidity. Further, if D&O insurance becomes prohibitively
expensive to maintain in the future, we may be unable to renew such insurance on economic terms or unable renew such insurance
at all. The lack of D&O insurance may make it difficult for us to retain and attract talented and skilled directors and officers to serve
our company, which could adversely affect our business.

Our former laboratories used certain chemical and biological agents and compounds that may be deemed hazardous and
we are subject to various safety and environmental laws and regulations. Our compliance with these laws and regulations
may result in significant costs, which could materially reduce our ability to become profitable.

Until late 2013, we operated laboratories that used hazardous materials, including chemicals and biological agents and compounds
that could be dangerous to human health and safety or the environment and we currently sublease these laboratories for operation by
other companies. As appropriate, we stored these materials and wastes resulting from their use at our laboratory facility pending their
ultimate use or disposal and we currently require that our laboratory sub-lessors do the same. We contracted with a third party to
properly dispose of these materials and wastes and our laboratory sub-lessors now manage such contracts. We were and continue to
be subject to a variety of federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, generation, manufacture, storage, handling
and disposal of these materials and wastes. We may incur significant costs if we unknowingly failed to comply with environmental
laws and regulations.

We rely significantly on information technology and any failure, inadequacy, interruption or security lapse of that
technology, including any cybersecurity incidents, could harm our ability to operate our business effectively.

Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems and those of third parties with which we contract are
vulnerable to damage from cyber-attacks, computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war and
telecommunication and electrical failures. System failures, accidents or security breaches could cause interruptions in our operations,
and could result in a material disruption of our product development and clinical activities and business operations, in addition to
possibly requiring substantial expenditures of resources to remedy. The loss of product development or clinical trial data could result
in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that
any disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or applications, or
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inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability and our development programs and the
development of our product candidates could be delayed.

Political or social factors may delay or impair our ability to market our products.

Entolimod is being developed to treat ARS, which is a disease that may be caused by terrorist acts. The political and social
responses to terrorism have been highly charged and unpredictable. Political or social pressures may delay or cause resistance to
bringing our products to market or limit pricing of our products, which would harm our business. Changes to favorable laws, such as
the Project BioShield Act, could have a material adverse effect on our ability to generate revenue and could require us to reduce the
scope of or discontinue our operations.

We hope to receive funding from U.S. or foreign government agencies for the development of entolimod and our products. Changes
in government budgets and agendas, however, have previously resulted in termination of our contract negotiations and may, in the
future, result in future funding being decreased and de-prioritized. In addition, government contracts contain provisions that permit
cancellation in the event that funds are unavailable to the government agency. Furthermore, we cannot be certain of the timing of any
future funding and substantial delays or cancellations of funding could result from protests or challenges from third parties. If the U.S.
government fails to continue to adequately fund R&D programs, we may be unable to generate sufficient revenues to continue
development of entolimod or continue our other operations. Similarly, if our pre-EUA submission for entolimod is authorized by the
FDA, but the U.S. government does not place sufficient orders for this product, our future business may be harmed.

Failure to comply with the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar foreign laws could subject us to penalties
and other adverse consequences.

We are required to comply with the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, which prohibits U.S. companies from
engaging in bribery or other prohibited payments to foreign officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Foreign
companies, including some that may compete with us, are not subject to these prohibitions. Furthermore, foreign jurisdictions in
which we operate may have laws that are similar to the FCPA to which we are or may become subject. This may place us at a
significant competitive disadvantage. Corruption, extortion, bribery, pay-offs, theft and other fraudulent practices may occur from time
to time in the foreign markets where we conduct business. Although we inform our personnel that such practices are illegal, we can
make no assurance that our employees or other agents will not engage in illegal conduct for which we might be held responsible. If
our employees or other agents are found to have engaged in such practices, we could suffer severe penalties and other
consequences that may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The FCPA also obligates companies whose securities are listed in the United States to comply with certain accounting provisions
requiring the company to maintain books and records that accurately and fairly reflect all transactions of the corporation, including
international subsidiaries and to devise and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls for international operations.

Compliance with the FCPA and similar foreign anti-bribery laws is expensive and difficult, particularly in countries in which corruption
is a recognized problem. In addition, such anti-bribery laws present particular challenges in the biotech or pharmaceutical industry,
because, in many countries, hospitals are operated by the government and doctors and other hospital employees may be considered
foreign officials.
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RISKS RELATING TO OUR SECURITIES

There is uncertainty regarding the application of the federal and state securities laws to our offering of common stock and
warrants, and there is a corresponding risk that we could be required to refund the purchase price of securities offered to
purchasers who so elect.

We conducted an offering under a registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and a concurrent private
placement intended to comply with the requirements of Section 4(a)(2) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Rule
506(b) promulgated thereunder. Shares of common stock and warrants were offered and sold in combination. The shares of common
stock and Series B pre-funded warrants were intended to be offered and sold in a transaction registered under the Securities Act,
while the other warrants and shares of common stock issuable thereunder were intended to be offered and sold in a private placement
exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

While we are aware of other transactions using a concurrent public/private offering approach, the SEC has not addressed whether
concurrent public and private offerings and sales to the same prospective investors would adversely impact the public offering or
preclude the private offering from satisfying the requirements of Rule 506(b). If the securities offered in our concurrent private
placement do not satisfy the conditions of Rule 506(b), the offering would be a violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act and each
purchaser would have the right to rescind its purchase of the securities, meaning that we would be required to refund the purchase
price of the securities to each purchaser electing rescission. If that were to occur, we would face severe financial demands and
reputational harm that could adversely affect our business and operations. Additionally, if we did not in fact qualify for the exemptions
upon which it has relied, we may become subject to significant fines and penalties imposed by SEC. It is also possible that additional
remedies may be available to purchasers under applicable state law.

If we are unable to obtain shareholder approval for the issuance of all of the shares of common stock upon conversion of
the Series A convertible preferred stock, exercise of the Series B pre-funded warrants or exercise of the Series A warrants,
we will owe dividend, redemption and other obligations on the Series A convertible preferred stock.

We agreed to seek approval from our shareholders as may be required by the applicable rules and regulations of the Nasdaq Stock
Market, including the issuance of all of the shares of common stock upon conversion of the Series A convertible preferred stock,
exercise of the Series B pre-funded warrants and exercise of the Series A warrants in excess of 19.99% of our issued and
outstanding common stock on the closing date of the agreement, including certain adjustments to the conversion price of the Series A
convertible preferred stock, exercise of the Series B pre-funded warrants and exercise of the Series A warrants. We refer to this
approval as the “Shareholder Approval.” Each share of Series A convertible preferred stock will be convertible into common stock at
any time at the election of the investor, subject to obtaining the Shareholder Approval for any amounts exceeding these thresholds. If
we are unable to obtain the Shareholder Approval, we will be required to call a meeting every 65 days to continue seeking the
Shareholder Approval until obtained or the Series A convertible preferred stock is no longer outstanding.

In addition, among other conditions, until we obtain Shareholder Approval, we will be required to continue complying with negative
covenants that limit our ability to incur debt, incur liens, amend our charter documents, repurchase securities, pay dividends or enter
into related party transactions, which could adversely impact our operations. Additionally, until we obtain Shareholder Approval, we
are restricted from issuing any equity securities or granting any option to purchase our equity securities, which could materially
adversely affect our ability to continue our operations.

Significant stockholders or potential stockholders may attempt to effect changes to our company, which could adversely
affect our corporate governance, results of operations and financial condition.

Stockholders may from time to time attempt to effect changes, engage in proxy solicitations or advance stockholder proposals, such
as the stockholder proposals recently made by Mikhail Mogutov, a beneficial owner
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of approximately 11.11% of our outstanding common stock, to nominate eight new directors, all of whom reside in Russia, and effect
certain other corporate changes. Responding to proxy contests and other actions by activist stockholders can generally be costly and
time-consuming, disrupting our operations and diverting the attention of our board of directors and senior management from the
pursuit of business strategies. Additionally, stockholder campaigns, such as the proposals advanced by Dr. Mogutov, could result in
corporate governance changes that could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

The price of our common stock has been and could remain volatile, which may in turn expose us to securities litigation.

The market price of our common stock has historically experienced and may continue to experience significant volatility. From
January 2014 through December 2014, the market price of our common stock, which is listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market,
fluctuated from a high of $24.80 per share in the first quarter of 2014 to a low of $5.40 in the fourth quarter of 2014, after taking into
account the effect of the Reverse Split. The listing of our common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market does not assure that a
meaningful, consistent and liquid trading market will exist, and in recent years, the market has experienced extreme price and volume
fluctuations that have particularly affected the market prices of many smaller companies like us. Our common stock is thus subject to
this volatility in addition to volatility caused by the occurrence of industry and company specific events. Factors that could cause
fluctuations include, but are not limited to, the following:
 

 •  our progress in developing and commercializing our products;
 

 •  price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;
 

 •  fluctuations in stock market prices and trading volumes of similar companies;
 

 
•  actual or anticipated changes in our earnings or fluctuations in our operating results or in the expectations of securities

analysts;
 

 •  general economic conditions and trends;
 

 •  major catastrophic events;
 

 •  sales of large blocks of our stock;
 

 •  departures of key personnel;
 

 •  changes in the regulatory status of our product candidates, including results of our pre-clinical studies and clinical trials;
 

 •  status of contract and funding negotiations relating to our product candidates;
 

 •  events affecting our collaborators;
 

 •  events affecting our competitors;
 

 •  announcements of new products or technologies, commercial relationships or other events by us or our competitors;
 

 •  regulatory developments in the U.S. and other countries;
 

 
•  failure of our common stock to be listed or quoted on the NASDAQ Capital Market, other national market system or any

national stock exchange;
 

 •  changes in accounting principles; and
 

 •  discussion of us or our stock price by the financial and scientific press and in online investor communities.

As a result of the volatility of our stock price, we could be subject to securities litigation, which could result in substantial costs and
divert management’s attention and company resources from our business.
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We may be unable to maintain the listing of our common shares on NASDAQ despite the Reverse Split

The quantitative listing standards of the NASDAQ Stock Market, or NASDAQ, require, among other things, that listed companies
maintain a minimum closing bid price of $1.00 per share. We failed to satisfy this threshold for 30 consecutive trading days and on
March 10, 2014, we received a letter from NASDAQ indicating that we had been provided an initial period of 180 calendar days, or
until September 8, 2014, in which to regain compliance. On September 9, 2014, we received an additional 180 day compliance period
ending on March 9, 2015. On January 28, 2015, we effected the Reverse Split. Following the Reverse Split, we regained compliance
with NASDAQ’s minimum closing bid price requirements and were notified by the NASDAQ staff on February 12, 2015 that we had
regained compliance with NASDAQ’s quantitative listing standards. The per share market price of the common stock will continue to
be affected by our financial and operational results, financial position, including our liquidity and capital resources, product
development, industry conditions, the market’s perception of the our business and other factors, which are unrelated to the number of
common shares outstanding. There is a risk that, despite the Reverse Split, our common shares will be delisted from the NASDAQ if
we fail to meet NASDAQ’s quantitative listing standards.

Issuance of additional equity may adversely affect the market price of our stock.

We are currently authorized to issue 160,000,000 shares of common stock and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock. As of
December 31, 2014, after taking into account the effect of the Reverse Split, 2,858,126 shares of our common stock were issued and
outstanding and we had issued warrants to purchase 875,304 shares, exclusive of the Rusnano warrant described above as it was
not exercisable at the time, and had granted 261,389 options. In addition, on February 6, 2015 we sold 1,406,028 shares of common
stock or securities convertible into common stock and issued 1,406,028 warrants to purchase common stock. To the extent the
shares of common stock are issued or options and warrants are exercised, holders of our common stock will experience dilution.

In the event of any future issuances of equity securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable for, common stock, holders of
our common stock may experience dilution. Furthermore, our outstanding warrants contain provisions that, in certain circumstances,
could result in the number of shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of such warrants to increase and/or the exercise
price of such warrants to decrease.

Moreover, our board of directors is authorized to issue preferred stock without any action on the part of our stockholders. Our board of
directors also has the power, without stockholder approval, to set the terms of any such preferred stock that may be issued, including
voting rights, conversion rights, dividend rights, preferences over our common stock with respect to dividends or if we liquidate,
dissolve or wind up our business and other terms. For example, on February 6, 2015, we issued 717.4 shares of Series A convertible
preferred stock, which is convertible into 239,135 of our common stock at a conversion price of $3.00 per share. The Series A
convertible preferred stock has a liquidation preference over junior securities, including common stock. Additionally, the Company
agreed to comply with negative covenants that limit our ability to incur debt, incur liens, amend our charter documents, repurchase
securities, pay dividends or enter into related party transactions, which could adversely impact our operations until the date that
(i) shareholder approval as may be required by NASDAQ for the February 6, 2015 transaction has been obtained (ii) the Series B pre-
funded warrants issued in the transaction are no longer outstanding, and (iii) there is an effective registration statement registering
the resale of all of the shares underlying the Series A convertible preferred stock. If we issue additional shares of preferred stock in
the future that has preference over our common stock with respect to the payment of dividends or upon our liquidation, dissolution or
winding up, or if we issue preferred stock with voting rights that dilute the voting power of our common stock, the market price of our
common stock could decrease. Additionally, the conversion of the Series A convertible preferred stock, or any preferred stock issued
in the future, into our common stock could result in significant dilution to the holders of our common stock.

We also consider from time to time various strategic alternatives that could involve issuances of additional shares of common stock or
shares of preferred stock, including but not limited to acquisitions and business combinations.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or publish negative reports about
our business, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish
about us or our business. We do not have any control over these reports and we currently do not have any industry analysts covering
us. In the event we do regain analyst coverage, there can be no assurance that analysts will provide favorable coverage. Our stock
price may be adversely impacted by our current lack of analyst coverage as we may have less visibility in the financial markets than
other companies in our industry, which may cause declined trading volume and stock price.

We have no plans to pay dividends on our common stock and investors may not receive funds without selling their
common stock.

We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock, nor do we expect to pay any cash dividends on our
common stock for the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain any additional future earnings to finance our operations and
growth and, therefore, we have no plans to pay cash dividends on our common stock at this time. Any future determination to pay
cash dividends on our common stock will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will be dependent on our earnings,
financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, any contractual restrictions, regulatory and other restrictions on the
payment of dividends by our subsidiaries to us and other factors that our board of directors deems relevant.

Accordingly, investors may have to sell some or all of their common stock in order to generate cash from your investment. Investors
may not receive a gain on their investment when they sell our common stock and may lose the entire amount of their investment.

Provisions in our charter documents and Delaware law may inhibit a takeover or impact operational control of our company,
which could adversely affect the value of our common stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as Delaware corporate law, contain provisions that could delay or prevent a
change of control or changes in our management that a stockholder might consider favorable. These provisions include, among
others, prohibiting stockholder action by written consent, advance notice for raising business or making nominations at meetings of
stockholders and the issuance of preferred stock with rights that may be senior to those of our common stock without stockholder
approval. These provisions would apply even if a takeover offer may be considered beneficial by some of our stockholders. If a
change of control or change in management is delayed or prevented, the market price of our common stock could decline.

RISKS RELATED TO CONDUCTING BUSINESS IN THE RUSSIAN FEDERATION

Political, economic and governmental instability in Russia could materially adversely affect our operations and financial
results.

Political, ethnic, religious, historical and other differences have, on occasion, given rise to tensions within certain regions of Russia.
Further, political and economic relations between Russia and the United States, two of the jurisdictions in which we operate, are
complex. The current situation in Ukraine and Crimea along with the response of the governments of Russia, the United States,
member states of the European Union, the European Union itself and other nations to this situation, have the potential to materially
adversely affect our operations in Russia. In connection with the current situation in Ukraine, the United States, the European Union
and certain other states have imposed a broad raft of sanctions against Russian and Crimean officials, Russian businesses and
certain businessmen, including sectorial sanctions applicable to businesses operating in certain sectors of the economy, including
energy and finance. Russia has responded with certain countermeasures, including limiting the import of certain goods from the
United States and other countries. While we do not anticipate that the current sanctions will materially affect our business directly, if
further sanctions are ordered by the European Union, the United States or other international interests, such sanctions may
materially adversely affect our operations in Russia.
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In addition to geopolitical events, other factors, including the steady fall in oil prices, the global strengthening of the U.S. dollar and
the Russian Central Bank’s reduction of currency rate support, have negatively affected the value of the Russian ruble relative to the
U.S. dollar and this has drove increasing inflation. Continuing fluctuations in the rates at which the U.S. dollar are exchanged into
Russian rubles may result in both foreign currency transaction and translation losses. We are subject to exchange rate fluctuations as
(i) CBLI exchanges U.S. dollar-denominated funds into ruble-denominated funds in order to conduct operations of our Russian-based
subsidiary BioLab 612, (ii) Panacela, Incuron (prior to deconsolidation in November of 2014) and BioLab 612 use their ruble-
denominated funds to pay for services under U.S. dollar-denominated contracts, including payments to CBLI for services we provide
to our subsidiary and joint ventures, and (iii) the U.S. dollar equivalent of ruble denominated assets and liabilities fluctuate from
period-to-period causing us to record foreign currency translation adjustments which are reflected as a change in other
comprehensive income (loss). As the U.S. dollar strengthens or weakens relative to the ruble, our ruble-denominated revenue and
expenses decline or increase respectively, when translated into U.S. dollars for financial reporting purposes. Should exchange rates
in effect at the time of this filing as compared to early 2014 and 2013, continue throughout the year, we expect the exchange rates to
reduce our revenues and expenses in 2014 compared to 2013, and we would also record other comprehensive losses on our ruble
denominated assets and liabilities when translated into the U.S. dollar. Additionally, the purchasing power of U.S. dollar denominated
services is reduced, such as those being provided in the U.S. for Incuron’s clinical trial of the intravenous application of CBL0137.

Even before the current events mentioned above, and since the early 1990s, Russia has sought to transform from a one-party state
with a centrally planned economy to a democracy with a market economy. As a result of the sweeping nature of various reforms and
the failure of some of them, the political system of Russia remains vulnerable to popular dissatisfaction, including demands for
autonomy from particular regional and ethnic groups. Current and future changes in the Russian government, major policy shifts or
lack of consensus between various branches of the government and powerful economic groups could disrupt or reverse economic
and regulatory reforms. Furthermore, the Russian economy is vulnerable to market downturns and economic slowdowns elsewhere
in the world, and has experienced periods of considerable instability. Although the Russian economy showed positive trends until
2008, including annual increases in the gross domestic product, a relatively stable currency, strong domestic demand, rising real
wages and a reduced rate of inflation, these trends were interrupted by the global financial crisis in late 2008, in which Russia
experienced adverse economic and financial effects including a substantial decrease in the growth rate of gross domestic product,
depreciation of local currency and a decline in domestic and international demand for its products and services. Economic instability
in Russia could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Emerging markets, such as Russia, are subject to greater risks than more developed markets and financial turmoil in
Russia could disrupt our business.

Investors in emerging markets, such as Russia, should be aware that these markets are subject to greater risks than more developed
markets, including significant economic risks. For example, the Russian economy has periodically experienced high rates of inflation
and is experiencing increased rates of inflation at present. According to The World Bank, the annual inflation rate in Russia, as
measured by the consumer price index, was 5.1% in 2012 and 6.8% in 2013. Periods of higher inflation may slow economic growth.
Inflation also is likely to increase some of our costs and expenses including the costs for our subsidiaries and joint ventures to
conduct business operations, including any outsourced product testing costs.

Prospective investors in our common stock should note that emerging markets are subject to rapid change and that the information
set out in this Annual Report on Form 10-K about our operations in Russia may become outdated relatively quickly.

Our subsidiary/joint venture research operations are conducted primarily in Russia, making them subject to political
uncertainties relating to Russia and U.S.-Russian relations.

The majority of our subsidiary’s and joint ventures’ research activities are in Russia. Given the unprecedented level of hostility
between the United States and Russia since the dissolution of the Soviet Union, our operations may
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be negatively and materially impacted by escalation of measures and counter-measures taken by the United States against Russia
and Russia against the United States and their respective citizens and persons organized under their laws, including the adoption of
measures that could require us to reduce, suspend or terminate our operations in Russia. For example, the organizations funding our
activities in Russia are highly regulated and, in many instances, are controlled by the Russian government so our funding could be
delayed, reduced or even terminated under expanded sanction regimes.

The legal system in Russia can create an uncertain environment for business activity, which could materially adversely
affect our business and operations in Russia.

The legal framework to support a market economy remains new and in flux in Russia and, as a result, its legal system can be
characterized by: inconsistencies between and among laws and governmental, ministerial and local regulations, orders, decisions,
resolutions and other acts; gaps in the regulatory structure resulting from the delay in adoption or absence of implementing
regulations; selective enforcement of laws or regulations, sometimes in ways that have been perceived as being motivated by political
or financial considerations; limited judicial and administrative guidance on interpreting legislation; relatively limited experience of
judges and courts in interpreting recent commercial legislation; a perceived lack of judicial and prosecutorial independence from
political, social and commercial forces; inadequate court system resources; a high degree of discretion on the part of the judiciary and
governmental authorities; and underdeveloped bankruptcy procedures that are subject to abuse.

In addition, as is true of civil law systems generally, judicial precedents generally have no binding effect on subsequent decisions. Not
all legislation and court decisions in Russia are readily available to the public or organized in a manner that facilitates understanding.
Enforcement of court orders can in practice be very difficult. All of these factors make judicial decisions difficult to predict and effective
redress uncertain. Additionally, court claims and governmental prosecutions may be used in furtherance of what some perceive to be
political or commercial aims.

Effective August 6, 2014, the Supreme State Commercial (Arbitrazh) Court was merged into the Russian Supreme Court and now
exits as a sub-division of the Russian Supreme Court, known as the Judicial Collegium for Economic Disputes of the Supreme
Court. A draft law on full merger of the commercial courts and courts of general jurisdiction reportedly is being prepared. As of the
date of this Annual Report, the consequences of this merger process on the expeditious resolution of commercial disputes and
stability of the prior decisions of the Supreme State Commercial (Arbitrazh) Court is unknown.

The untested nature of much of recent legislation in Russia and the rapid evolution of its legal system may result in ambiguities,
inconsistencies and anomalies in the application and interpretation of laws and regulations. Any of these factors may affect our ability
to enforce our rights under our contracts or to defend ourselves against claims by others, or result in our being subject to
unpredictable requirements. These uncertainties also extend to property rights and the expropriation or nationalization of any of our
entities, their assets or portions thereof, potentially without adequate compensation, could materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in the tax system in Russia or the arbitrary or unforeseen application of existing rules could materially adversely
affect our financial condition and results of operations.

There have been significant changes to the taxation system in Russia in recent years as the authorities have gradually replaced
legislation regulating the application of major taxes such as corporate income tax, value added tax, corporate property tax and other
taxes with new legislation. Effective January 1, 2015, the Russian tax law was amended as part of the government’s
“deoffshorization” policy to, among other things, introduce a concept analogous to that of controlled foreign corporations found in
other jurisdictions.

Tax authorities in Russia have also been aggressive in their interpretation of tax laws and their many ambiguities, as well as in their
enforcement and collection activities. Technical violations of contradictory laws and
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regulations, many of which are relatively new and have not been subject to extensive application or interpretation, can lead to
penalties. High-profile companies, particularly those operating in strategically sensitive sectors, can be perceived to be particularly
vulnerable to aggressive application of unclear requirements. Many companies must negotiate their tax bills with tax inspectors who
may demand higher taxes than applicable law appears to provide. Our Russian subsidiary’s and joint ventures’ tax liabilities may
become greater than the estimated amount that they have expensed to date and paid or accrued on the balance sheets, particularly if
the tax benefits currently received in Russia are changed or removed. Any additional tax liability, as well as any unforeseen changes
in tax laws, could materially adversely affect our future results of operations, financial condition or cash flows in a particular period.

In October 2006, the Supreme Arbitration Court of Russia issued a ruling that introduced the concept of an “unjustified tax benefit,”
which is a benefit that may be disallowed for tax purposes. Specific examples cited by the court include benefits obtained under
transactions lacking a business purpose (i.e., when the only purpose of a deal or structure is to derive tax benefits). The tax
authorities have actively sought to apply this concept when challenging tax positions taken by taxpayers. Although the intention of the
ruling was to combat tax abuse, in practice there is no assurance that the tax authorities will not seek to apply this concept in a
broader sense than may have been intended by the court. In addition, the tax authorities and the courts have indicated a willingness
to interpret broadly the application of criminal responsibility for tax violations.

The tax system in Russia imposes additional burdens and costs on our operations there and complicate our tax planning and related
business decisions. For example, the tax environment in Russia has historically been complicated by contradictions in Russian tax
law and ambiguity in areas such as the deductibility of certain expenses. This uncertainty could result in a greater than expected tax
burden and potentially exposes us to significant fines and penalties and enforcement measures, despite our best efforts at
compliance. These factors raise the risk of a sudden imposition of arbitrary or onerous taxes on our operations in these countries.
This could materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Selective or arbitrary government action may have an adverse effect on our business and the value of our common stock.

Government authorities have a high degree of discretion in Russia and have at times exercised their discretion selectively or
arbitrarily, without hearing or prior notice, and sometimes in a manner that is perceived to be influenced, or may be influenced, by
political or commercial considerations. The government also has the power, in certain circumstances, to interfere with the
performance of, nullify or terminate contracts. Selective or arbitrary actions have included withdrawal of licenses, sudden and
unexpected tax audits, criminal prosecutions and civil actions. Federal and local government entities have also used common defects
in documentation as pretexts for court claims and other demands to invalidate and/or to void transactions, apparently for political
purposes. We cannot assure you that regulators, judicial authorities or third parties will not challenge our compliance with applicable
laws, decrees and regulations in Russia. Selective or arbitrary government action could have a material adverse effect on our
business and on the value of our common stock.

Shareholder liability under Russian legislation could cause us to become liable for the obligations of our subsidiaries and
joint ventures.

The Russian Civil Code and the Law on Limited Liability Companies generally provide that shareholders in a Russian limited liability
company are not liable for the obligations of the company and bear only the risk of loss of their investment. This may not be the case,
however, when one person, an effective parent, is capable of determining decisions made by another, an effective subsidiary. The
effective parent bears joint and several responsibilities for transactions concluded by the effective subsidiary in carrying out these
decisions in certain circumstances.

In addition, a parent is secondarily liable for an effective subsidiary’s debts if an effective subsidiary becomes insolvent or bankrupt as
a result of the action or inaction of the parent. This is the case no matter how the
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parent’s capability to determine decisions of the effective subsidiary arises. For example, this liability could arise through ownership of
voting securities or by contract. In these instances, other shareholders of the effective subsidiary may claim compensation for the
effective subsidiary’s losses from the parent that caused the effective subsidiary to act or fail to act, knowing that such action or
inaction would result in losses. Accordingly, in CBLI’s position as a parent, there is a risk that it could be held liable in certain limited
circumstances for the debts of its effective subsidiaries consequently, it is possible that CBLI could face material liability in this regard
in the future, which could materially adversely affect our business and our results of operations.

Our Russian subsidiary/joint ventures can be forced into liquidation on the basis of formal noncompliance with certain legal
requirements.

Incuron, BioLab 612 and Panacela Labs, LLC, the wholly-owned Russian subsidiary of Panacela, were organized under the laws of
the Russian Federation. Certain provisions of Russian law may allow a court to order the liquidation of a locally organized legal entity
on the basis of its formal noncompliance with certain requirements during formation, reorganization or during its operations.
Additionally, Russian corporate law allows the government to liquidate a company if its net assets fall below a certain threshold.
Similarly, there have also been cases in Russia in which formal deficiencies in the establishment process of a legal entity or
noncompliance with provisions of law have been used by courts as a basis for liquidation of a legal entity. Weaknesses in the legal
systems of Russia create an uncertain legal environment, which makes the decisions of a court or a governmental authority difficult, if
not impossible, to predict. If involuntary liquidation of either of the aforementioned entities were to occur, such liquidation could
materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Crime and corruption could disrupt our ability to conduct our business.

Political and economic changes in Russia in recent years have resulted in significant dislocations of authority. The local and
international press has reported the existence of significant organized criminal activity, particularly in large metropolitan centers. In
addition, the local and international press has reported high levels of corruption, including the bribing of officials for the purpose of
initiating investigations by government agencies. Press reports have also described instances in which state officials have engaged in
selective investigations and prosecutions to further the interests of the state and individual officials, as well as private businesses,
including competitors and corporate raiders. Corruption in Russia is perceived to be pervasive and, in some cases, is worsening. The
government in Russia has recently pursued a campaign against corruption. However, there is no assurance that such laws or other
laws enacted elsewhere will be applied with any effectiveness by the local authorities and the continuing effects of corruption, money
laundering and other criminal activity could have a negative effect on the Russian economy and could materially adversely affect our
business in Russia.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Description of Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located at 73 High Street, Buffalo, New York 14203. We have approximately 32,000 square feet of
laboratory and office space under a twelve-year lease through June of 2019 with successive two-year renewals, of which 8,324
square feet was subleased to various companies. The sublease covering the majority of the subleased space may be terminated by
either party upon 90 days written notice to the other party. This space serves as our corporate headquarters and U.S. corporate
headquarters for Incuron and Panacela. In addition, we have less than 1,800 square feet under lease outside of the United States
expiring at varying times through January 2016. We do not own any real property.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

None.
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PART II

Item 5: Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

Our common stock trades on The NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “CBLI.” We have not paid dividends on our common
stock. We currently intend to retain all future income for use in the operation of our business and for future stock repurchases and,
therefore, we have no plans to pay cash dividends on our common stock at this time.

STOCK PRICES

The following table sets forth the range of high and low sale prices on The NASDAQ Capital Market, for each quarter during 2014 and
2013. On February 25, 2015, the last reported sale price of our common stock was $3.33 per share.
 

2014   High    Low  
First Quarter   $24.80    $12.80  
Second Quarter    15.60     9.20  
Third Quarter    11.60     7.60  
Fourth Quarter    10.20     5.40  

2013   High    Low  
First Quarter   $45.60    $26.00  
Second Quarter    45.20     28.60  
Third Quarter    36.80     29.20  
Fourth Quarter    33.60     19.40  

STOCKHOLDERS

As of December 31, 2014, there were approximately 32 stockholders of record of our common stock. Because many of our shares
are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of beneficial
stockholders represented by these record holders.

UNREGISTERED SALE OF SECURITIES

On June 20, 2014, we closed a private placement transaction, or the June Transaction, with certain accredited investors, or
Purchasers, pursuant to which we issued and sold units that were immediately separable into an aggregate of 305,370 shares of our
common stock, and warrants to purchase up to 154,186 additional shares of common stock, for an aggregate purchase price of $3.5
million, or $11.35 per unit. The warrants, which may be exercised for cash or by surrender of all or a portion of such warrant in a
cashless exercise, have a per share exercise price of $11.20 and a five year term. The purchasers in the June Transaction consisted
of Dr. Mikhail Mogutov, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Incuron and Chairman of the Investment Committee and founder of
BCV, as well as one institutional investor and its affiliate that collectively beneficially own more than 5% of our common stock. The
securities issued by us in the June Transaction and issuable upon exercise of the warrants, collectively, the Securities, have not been
registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Act, and may not be offered or sold in the United States absent
registration or an applicable exemption from registration requirements. We relied on the private placement exemption from
registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Act and by Rule 506 of Regulation D, promulgated by the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or the SEC, and in reliance on similar exemptions under applicable state laws.
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On January 9, 2014, we entered into a letter agreement, or the Placement Agency Agreement, with H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC, or
HCW, pursuant to which we engaged HCW to act as our exclusive placement agent in connection with the issuance and sale of our
Common Stock and warrants. Pursuant to the fee tail provision of the Placement Agency Agreement, which specifically excluded
BioProcess Capital Partners and its affiliates, including Dr. Mogutov, we paid $30,000 to HCW upon the completion of the June
Transaction.

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

We made no repurchases of our securities during the year ended December 31, 2014.
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Item 6: Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data has been derived from our audited financial statements. The information below is not
necessarily indicative of the results of future operations and should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” and the financial statements and related
notes thereto included in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K, in order to fully understand
factors that may affect the comparability of the information presented below:

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
 
   Year Ended December 31,  
(in thousands, except per share data)   2014   2013   2012   2011   2010  
Consolidated statements of operations data:       
Revenues:       

Government contract or grant   $ 3,547   $ 8,488   $ 3,571   $ 8,790   $ 15,332  
Incuron Revenue    155    —      —      —      —    

  

Total revenues  3,702   8,488   3,571   8,790   15,332  
Operating expenses (1)  18,409   31,564   33,617   33,895   26,069  
Loss from operations  (14,707)  (23,076)  (30,047)  (25,105)  (10,737) 
Other income (expense):

Change in value of warrant liability  2,662   2,864   7,702   19,822   (16,012) 
Gain on deconsolidation of Incuron, LLC  14,207  
Other income (expense)  (2,126)  83   (70)  53   77  

  

Total other income (expense)  14,743   2,947   7,632   19,875   (15,935) 
  

Net income (loss)  35   (20,129)  (22,415)  (5,230)  (26,672) 
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests  1,594   2,866   4,180   1,216   306  

  

Net income (loss) attributable to Cleveland BioLabs, Inc.  1,629   (17,263)  (18,234)  (4,014)  (26,366) 
Dividends on convertible preferred stock  —     —     —     —     —    

  

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $ 1,629  $(17,263) $(18,234) $ (4,014) $(26,366) 
  

Net income loss per share, basic and diluted $ 0.60  $ (7.60) $ (9.80) $ (2.40) $ (20.20) 
  

   December 31,  
(in thousands)   2014   2013   2012   2011   2010  
Consolidated balance sheet data:       
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 3,104   $ 10,048   $ 25,652   $ 22,873   $ 10,919  
Short-term investments    —      306    2,634    5,520    459  
Total current assets    3,545    11,157    29,406    31,010    17,751  
Total assets    9,814    14,696    32,010    32,127    19,887  
Capital leases (current & noncurrent)    8    91    169    —      —    
Long-term debt (current & noncurrent)    4,140    7,473    —      —      —    
Stockholder’s equity (deficit)    1,786    1,581    20,486    22,245    (12,500) 
 
(1) Operating expenses in 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010 included employee stock-based compensation costs of $0.5, $1.5,

$2.5, $4.0 million and $6.7 million, net of tax.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations and other portions of this filing contains
forward-looking information that involves risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated by
the forward-looking information. Factors that may cause such differences include, but are not limited to, availability and cost of
financial resources, results of our Research and Development, or R&D, efforts and clinical trials, product demand, market acceptance
and other factors discussed in this annual report in Item 1A, “Risk Factors” and the Company’s other Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC, filings. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the related
notes included elsewhere in this filing.

OVERVIEW

We are an innovative biopharmaceutical company seeking to develop first-in-class pharmaceuticals designed to address diseases
with significant unmet medical need. Our most advanced product candidate is entolimod, which we are developing as a radiation
countermeasure and an immunotherapy for oncology and other indications. We conduct business in the United States and in the
Russian Federation through several legal entities, one of which is wholly-owned, and two of which are owned in collaboration with
financial partners. See Item 1, “Business” for more information on our product candidates and our strategic partnerships. We refer to
Cleveland BioLabs, Inc., or CBLI, along with our wholly-owned subsidiary BioLab 612, LLC, or BioLab 612, as CBLI Stand-alone. We
refer to CBLI Stand-alone, in combination with, consolidated joint venture Panacela Labs, Inc., or Panacela, as CBLI Consolidated.
Our joint venture Incuron, LLC, or Incuron, was deconsolidated on November 25, 2014. As such, the Incuron balance sheet, including
cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments and all of its other assets and liabilities are no longer part of our consolidated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2014. In addition, Incuron’s detailed results of operations were consolidated through
November 25, 2014, after which we recognized only our equitable interest in Incuron’s results of operation as a single line item
classified as an operating expense in our Statement of Operations through December 31, 2014, as Incuron’s operations are an
extension of our core business.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP. The preparation of these
financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect our reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses.

On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to accrued expenses, income taxes, stock-
based compensation, investments and in-process research and development. We base our estimates on historical experience and on
various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of
our financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed and determinable,
collectability is reasonably assured, contractual obligations have been satisfied and title and risk of loss have been transferred to the
customer. We generate our revenue from two different types of contractual arrangements: cost-reimbursable grants and contracts
and fixed-price grants and contracts. Costs consist primarily of actual internal labor charges, subcontractor and material costs
incurred, plus an allocation of fringe benefits, overhead and general and administrative expenses, based on the terms of the contract.

Revenues on cost-reimbursable grants and contracts are recognized in an amount equal to the costs incurred during the period, plus
an estimate of the applicable fee earned. The estimate of the applicable fee earned is
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determined by reference to the contract: if the contract defines the fee in terms of risk-based milestones and specifies the fees to be
earned upon the completion of each milestone, then the fee is recognized when the related milestones are earned. Otherwise, we
compute fee income earned in a given period by using a proportional performance method based on costs incurred during the period
as compared to total estimated project costs and application of the resulting fraction to the total project fee specified in the contract.

Revenues on fixed-price grants and contracts are recognized using a percentage-of-completion method, which uses assumptions
and estimates, as appropriate. These assumptions and estimates are developed in coordination with the principal investigator
performing the work under the fixed-price grants to determine levels of accomplishments throughout the life of the grant.

Stock-Based Compensation

We expense all share-based awards to employees and consultants, including grants of stock options and shares, based on their
estimated fair value at the date of grant. Costs of all share-based payments are recognized over the requisite service period that an
employee or consultant must provide to earn the award (i.e., the vesting period) and allocated to the functional operating expense
associated with that employee or consultant.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, short-term investments, accounts payable and accrued
expenses approximates fair value due to the relatively short maturity of these instruments. Common stock warrants, which are
classified as liabilities, are recorded at their fair market value as of each reporting period.

The measurement of fair value requires the use of techniques based on observable and unobservable inputs. Observable inputs
reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect our market assumptions. The inputs create
the following fair value hierarchy:
 

 •  Level 1 – Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.
 

 
•  Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in

markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations where inputs are observable or where significant value drivers
are observable.

 

 •  Level 3 – Instruments where significant value drivers are unobservable to third parties.

We use the Black-Scholes model to determine the fair value of certain common stock warrants on a recurring basis and classify such
warrants in Level 3. The Black-Scholes model utilizes inputs consisting of: (i) the closing price of our common stock; (ii) the expected
remaining life of the warrants; (iii) the expected volatility using a weighted-average of historical volatilities of CBLI and a group of
comparable companies; and (iv) the risk-free market rate.

As of December 31, 2014, we held approximately $1.0 million in accrued expenses classified as Level 3 securities for warrants to
purchase common stock and for compensatory stock options not yet issued.

Income Taxes

Determining the consolidated provision for income tax expense, deferred tax assets and liabilities and related valuation allowance, if
any, involves judgment. On an on-going basis, we evaluate whether a valuation allowance is needed to reduce our deferred income
tax assets to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized. The evaluation process includes assessing historical and current
results in addition to future expected results. Upon determining that we would be able to realize our deferred tax assets, an
adjustment to the deferred tax valuation allowance would increase income in the period we make such determination.

Revenue

Our revenue originates from grants and contracts from both United States federal government sources and Russian Federation
government sources and service contracts with Incuron. U.S. federal grants and contracts are
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provided to advance research and development for product candidates that are of interest for potential sale to the U.S. Department of
Defense, or DoD, or the Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Authority of the U.S. Department of Health and Human
Services, or BARDA. State grants are usually designed to stimulate economic activity. Russian government contracts are provided to
develop the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries in Russia. We provide various research, management, business
development and clinical advisory and management services to Incuron.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development, or R&D, costs are expensed as incurred. Advance payments are deferred and expensed as performance
occurs. R&D costs include the cost of our personnel consisting of salaries, incentive and stock-based compensation, out-of-pocket
pre-clinical and clinical trial costs usually associated with contract research organizations, drug product manufacturing and
formulation and a pro-rata share of facilities expense and other overhead items.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative, or G&A, functions include executive management, finance and administration, government affairs and
regulations, corporate development, human resources, legal and compliance. The specific costs include the cost of our personnel
consisting of salaries, incentive and stock-based compensation, out-of-pocket costs usually associated with attorneys (both corporate
and intellectual property), bankers, accountants and other advisors and a pro-rata share of facilities expense and other overhead
items.

Other Income and Expenses

Other recurring income and expenses primarily consists of interest income on our investments, changes in the market value of our
derivative financial instruments and foreign currency transaction gains or losses.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

Revenue

Revenue decreased from $8.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 to $3.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014,
representing a decrease of $4.8 million, or 56%. In the year ended December 31, 2014, we received revenues associated with our
contracts and/or grants from DoD, Ministry of Industry and Trade of the Russian Federation, or MPT, and Skolkovo Foundation. The
revenues related to our contracts and grants are cost-based and vary as a direct function of the underlying contracted work, which
varies between periods. For instance, both the DoD and Skolkovo Foundation contracts completed in the first half of 2014, the
Xenomycin MPT contract was closed in the third quarter of 2014 and there were differences in the underlying research activities
associated with the other MPT contracts, which collectively resulted in decreased revenues. Additionally, we received service
contract revenue from Incuron after its deconsolidation. The revenue differences related to our contracts, grants and service contracts
between the periods and details regarding the sources of our government grant and contract revenue are set forth in the following
table:
 

    Year Ended December 31,      
Funding Source  Program  2014    2013    Variance  

DoD  MCS Contract  $ 23,390    $1,511,812    $(1,488,422) 
MPT  CBLB612 Pre-clinical (1)   519,302     1,065,454     (546,152) 
MPT  Entolimod Colorectal Cancer (1)  969,252     937,499     31,753  
DoD  DTRA Contract   —       765,096     (765,096) 
Incuron  Service Contracts   154,687     —       154,687  

    

 1,666,631   4,279,861   (2,613,230) 
Skolkovo Curaxin research (1)  1,000,770   2,060,080   (1,059,310) 
MPT Xenomycins Pre-clinical (1)  28,605   1,210,526   (1,181,921) 
MPT Mobilan Pre-clinical (1)  1,005,893   937,499   68,394  

    

$3,701,899  $8,487,966  $(4,786,067) 
    

 
(1) The contracts received from Russian government entities are denominated in Russian Rubles (RUR). The revenue above was

calculated using average exchange rates for the periods presented.
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We anticipate our revenue over the next year will continue to be derived primarily from government grants and contracts and service
contracts from Incuron. The following table sets forth information regarding our currently active contracts:
 
          As of December 31, 2014  

Funding Source  Program  
Total Award

Value   
Funded Award

Value   

Cumulative
Revenue

Recognized  
Funded
Backlog   

Unfunded
Backlog  

MPT  CBLB612 Pre-clinical (1)  $ 3,494,956   $ 3,494,956   $2,552,978   $ 941,978   $ —    
MPT  Entolimod Colorectal Cancer (1)   3,250,824    2,543,374    1,827,215    716,159    707,450  

 6,745,780   6,038,330   4,380,193   1,658,137   707,450  
MPT Mobilan Pre-clinical (1)  3,367,002   2,659,552   1,943,392   716,160   707,450  

$10,112,782  $ 8,697,882  $6,323,585  $2,374,297  $1,414,900  
 

(1) The contract values above are calculated based on the cumulative revenue recognized to date plus our backlog valued at the
December 31, 2014 exchange rate. Since December 31, 2014, the Russian Ruble: Dollar exchange rate has increased from
56.2584 to 66.0585 as of February 12, 2015. Based on the February 12, 2015 exchange rate, the funded backlog value
decreased from $2.4 million to $2.0 million and the unfunded backlog value decreased from $1.4 million to $1.2 million.

Research and Development Expenses

R&D expenses decreased from $19.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 to $9.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2014, representing a decrease of $9.8 million, or 50%. $5.3 million of this net decrease related to reduced utilization of third-party
vendors including reductions of $3.1 million for entolimod for a biodefense indication, $1.8 million for Panacela compounds, $0.7
million for Curaxin compounds, and $0.7 million for CBLB612, which were partially offset by a $1.0 million increase in entolimod for
oncology applications. In addition, compensation expense decreased by $3.7 million primarily attributable to personnel transferred to
Buffalo BioLabs, LLC in the fourth quarter of 2013. Of the $3.7 million in reduced compensation expense, $3.6 million relates to cash
compensation and $0.1 million relates to non-cash compensation. Reduced facilities and travel costs accounted for $0.8 million of the
net decrease. The following table sets forth our total R&D costs by drug candidate:
 

   Year Ended December 31,      
   2014    2013    Variance  
Entolimod for Biodefense Indication   $3,926,110    $ 9,337,962    $(5,411,852) 
CBLB612    508,247     1,149,098     (640,851) 
Entolimod for Oncology Indications    1,289,692     628,797     660,895  

      

 5,724,049   11,115,857   (5,391,808) 
Curaxins  2,708,516   4,459,854   (1,751,338) 
Panacela product candidates  1,221,579   3,950,239   (2,728,660) 

      

Total research & development expenses $9,654,144  $19,525,950  $(9,871,806) 
      

General and Administrative Expenses

G&A expenses decreased from $12.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 to $8.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2014, representing a decrease of $3.5 million, or 29%. $2.2 million of the reduction was due to a reduction in costs related to our
personnel and consultants, of which $1.3 million relates to cash compensation and $0.9 million relates to non-cash compensation.
$0.8 million was due to a reduced usage of outside professionals. In addition, $0.3 million was due to charges in 2013 associated with
the execution of a bank guarantee at Biolab 612 and a non-cash idle facilities reserve. Travel expenses decreased by $0.2 million.
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Other Income and Expenses

Other net income increased from $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 to $14.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2014, representing a net income increase of $11.5 million, or 383%. The net increase was primarily attributable to a
$14.2 million gain on the deconsolidation of Incuron described in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements which was partially
offset by $1.1 million of other expenses related to interest associated with our loans, $1.1 million due to foreign exchange losses
incurred due the depreciation of the ruble, a $0.2 million loss attributable to changes in the value of our warrant liability, and a $0.3
million loss in our equitable share of Incuron’s operating results for the period post deconsolidation.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012

Revenue

Revenue increased from $3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 to $8.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013,
representing an increase of $4.9 million, or 138%. This increase consisted of increases of $1.0 million from U.S. government
contracts and $3.9 million from Russian government contracts, primarily due to increased development activities under Russian
government contracts, including two new contracts from MPT that were awarded in the fourth quarter of 2013 for development of an
oncology application of entolimod and Mobilan.

The following table sets forth details regarding the sources of our government grant and contract revenue in 2012 and 2013:
 
      Year Ended December 31,      
Funding Source   Program   2013    2012    Variance  

DoD   MCS Contract (1)   $1,511,812    $1,113,830    $ 397,982  
MPT   CBLB612 Pre-clinical (2)    1,065,454     888,686     176,768  
MPT   CBLB502 Colorectal Cancer (2)   937,499     —       937,499  
DoD   DTRA Contract    765,096     130,149     634,947  

        

 4,279,861   2,132,665   2,147,196  
Skolkovo Foundation Curaxin research (2)  2,060,080   488,781   1,571,299  

MPT Xenomycins Pre-clinical (2)  1,210,526   949,264   261,262  
MPT Mobilan Pre-clinical (2)  937,499   —     937,499  

        

$8,487,966  $3,570,710  $4,917,256  
        

 

(1) The grants received from Russian government entities are denominated in Russian Rubles (RUR). The revenue above was
calculated using average exchange rates for the periods presented.

(2) The contracts received from Russian government entities are denominated in Russian Rubles (RUR). The revenue above was
calculated using average exchange rates for the periods presented.
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Research and Development Expenses

R&D expenses decreased from $22.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 to $19.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013, representing a decrease of $3.0 million, or 13%. This net decrease primarily reflected decreases of $2.7 million
related to entolimod’s biodefense indication, as the development in 2013 focused on a less expensive, non-irradiated non-human
primate study, and $1.6 million related to a narrowed scope of development for the compounds under development by Panacela.
These decreases were partially offset by an increase of $1.2 million related to Curaxin development, primarily due to the initiation of a
clinical trial in the United States for CBL0137. The following table sets forth our R&D expenses by drug candidate:
 

   2013    2012    Variance  
Entolimod for Biodefense Applications   $ 9,337,962    $11,986,020    $(2,648,058) 
CBLB612    1,149,098     1,039,832     109,266  
Entolimod for Oncology Indications    628,797     605,365     23,432  

      

 11,115,857   13,631,217   (2,515,360) 
Curaxins  4,459,854   3,276,866   1,182,988  
Panacela product candidates  3,950,239   5,593,722   (1,643,483) 

      

Total research & development expenses $19,525,950  $22,501,805  $(2,975,855) 
      

General and Administrative Expenses

G&A costs increased from $11.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 to $12.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2013, representing an increase of $0.9 million, or 8%. This net increase was primarily attributable to increases of $1.0 million related
to our Russian-based subsidiary and joint ventures, $0.4 million in corporate legal and intellectual property fees and $0.4 million due
to a reduction in incentive tax refunds. These increases were partially offset by decreases of $0.7 million in business development
expenses and $0.2 million in non-cash stock-based compensation.

Other Income and Expenses

Other income decreased from $7.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 to $2.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2013, representing a decrease of $4.7 million, or 61%. The change in the fair market value of our stock yielded a change in the fair
market value of our accrued warrant liability, which was the primary reason for this decrease.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We incurred net losses of $133.9 million from our inception through December 31, 2014. Historically, we have not generated, and do
not expect to generate, revenue from sales of product candidates in the immediate future. Since our founding in 2003, we have
funded our operations through a variety of means:
 

 

•  Through December 31, 2014, CBLI raised $117.5 million of net equity capital, including amounts received from the
exercise of options and warrants. CBLI has also received $5.8 million in net proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt
instruments. In January 2015, after receiving approval from our shareholders we executed a reverse stock split of 1:20 to
increase the trading price per share of our common stock to regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirements
set forth in the NASDAQ Listing Rules in order to remain listed on NASDAQ. Most recently, on February 6, 2015 we
successfully sold common stock and securities convertible into common stock for estimated net proceeds of $3.7 million;

 

 

•  U.S. government funded grants and contracts totaling $44.6 million for the development of entolimod as a radiation
countermeasure. In January 2015, we announced that we had received notice that our proposal application to support
further development of entolimod as a medical radiation countermeasure has been recommended for funding subject to
negotiations by the DoD office of
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Congressionally Directed Medical Research Programs, or CDMRP. The proposal application aims to conduct several
pivotal animal efficacy studies required by the FDA for submission of a Biologics License Application, or BLA. The
Company’s receipt of this award is subject to successful negotiations and availability of funds;

 

 

•  Entities affiliated with the Russian Federation have awarded us contracts totaling $18.3 million through a series of awards
of over $3.2 million each. All awards are valued based on revenue recognized to date, with the remaining backlog valued
at the December 31, 2014 exchange rate. These contracts include a requirement for us to contribute matching funds, which
we have satisfied or expect to satisfy with both the value of developed intellectual property at the time of award, incurred
development expenses and future expenses;

 

 
•  We have been awarded $4.0 million in grants and contracts not described above, all of which was recognized at

December 31, 2013;
 

 
•  Incuron was formed to develop and commercialize our Curaxin product line, including our lead oncology drug candidate

CBL0137. BCV committed to contribute up to $17.0 million of funding as development milestones were accomplished. As
of the date of this filing, Incuron had received all committed funds form BCV; and

 

 

•  Panacela was formed to develop and commercialize several pre-clinical compounds. Open Joint Stock Company
“Rusnano” contributed $9.0 million at formation, a $1.5 million convertible loan and has an option to contribute up to $15.5
million of additional funding. CBLI contributed $3.0 million plus intellectual property at formation and has an option to
contribute additional capital based on agreed-upon terms.

At December 31, 2014, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $3.1 million, or $6.8 million after giving effect to
our equity raise on February 6, 2015 described in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Of that total, $0.5 million was
restricted for the use of our consolidated joint venture, Panacela, leaving $2.6 million available for general use, or $6.3 million giving
effect to our February 2015 offering. Furthermore, Panacela and Biolab 612 had an additional $1.7 million of restricted cash held for
performance bonds in connection with their respective MPT grants, which are classified as a long-term asset.

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operations decreased by $8.6 million to $14.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 from $23.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2013. After adjusting for non-cash items, the net loss decreased by $5.7 million, while changes in
working capital provided cash and cash equivalents of $2.9 million.

Investing Activities

Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities changed by $2.3 million to $1.8 million used for the year ended December 31, 2014
from $0.6 million provided for the year ended December 31, 2013. This change was primarily attributable to cash divested upon the
deconsolidation of Incuron.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities increased by $3.3 million to $10.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, from $7.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2013. During the year ended December 31, 2014, we raised $9.7 million, net of offering
costs, through the sale of equity securities, BCV made an equity investment in Incuron of $5.2 million, we repaid $4.2 million of debt
owed to Hercules and we made $0.1 million in capital lease payments.
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Other

We have incurred cumulative net losses and expect to incur additional losses related to our research and development activities. We
do not have commercial products and have limited capital resources. We will need additional funds to complete the development of
our product candidates. Our plans with regard to these matters may include seeking additional capital through a combination of
government contracts, collaborative agreements, strategic alliances, research grants and equity and debt financing. There is no
assurance that we will be successful in obtaining additional financing on commercially reasonable terms or that we will be able to
secure funding from anticipated government contracts and grants. Additionally, our ability to raise funds through equity or debt
financing is currently limited by our requirement to receive stockholder approval of certain of the terms of our February 2015 equity
transaction.

We believe that our funds as of December 31, 2014, combined with the net proceeds of $3.7 million from our February 2015 offering
and the cash flows from existing government grants and contracts, will be sufficient to fund our projected operating requirements into
June 2015. In order to finance the continued development of our product and to otherwise satisfy obligations as they mature, we will
likely seek to sell additional equity or debt securities or obtain additional credit facilities. Our success is dependent upon
commercializing our research and development programs and our ability to obtain adequate future financing. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to obtain future financing or, if obtained, what the terms of such future financing may be, or that any
amount that we are able to obtain will be adequate to support our working capital requirements until we achieve profitable operations.
If we are unable to raise adequate capital and/or achieve profitable operations, future operations might need to be scaled back or
discontinued. The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability of the carrying amount of
recorded assets and liabilities that might result from the outcome of these uncertainties.

Our auditors, Meaden & Moore, LLP, have indicated in their report on our financial statements for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2014, that conditions exist that raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern due to our
recurring losses and substantial decline in our working capital. Our ability to continue as a going concern will depend upon the
availability and terms of future funding and our ability to limit our expenses. If we are unable to achieve these goals, our business
would be jeopardized and the Company may not be able to continue. If we ceased operations, it is likely that all of our investors would
lose their investment.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements at December 31, 2014.

Item 8: Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our financial statements, together with the independent registered public accounting firm report thereon, are incorporated by
reference from the applicable information set forth in Part IV Item 15, “Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules” of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31,
2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity (deficit),
and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the entity’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Cleveland
BioLabs, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the entity will continue as a going concern. As discussed
in Note 2 to the financial statements, the entity has suffered recurring losses from operations and has a net capital deficiency that
raises substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also
described in Note 2. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

/s/ Meaden & Moore, Ltd.

MEADEN & MOORE, LTD.
Certified Public Accountants

Cleveland, Ohio
February 27, 2015
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CLEVELAND BIOLABS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

 

 
  December 31,  
  2014   2013  

ASSETS    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 3,103,969   $ 10,048,466  
Short-term investments    —      305,538  
Accounts receivable    267,199    458,391  
Other current assets    174,179    344,386  

  

Total current assets  3,545,347   11,156,781  

Equipment, net  244,537   457,912  
Restricted cash  1,699,759   2,921,724  
Other long-term assets  56,131   159,224  
Investment in Incuron, LLC  4,268,458   —    

  

Total assets $ 9,814,232  $ 14,695,641  
  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 1,057,743  $ 794,397  
Accrued expenses  1,804,456   2,445,446  
Deferred revenue  156,317   1,069,438  
Accrued warrant liability  862,074   1,241,311  
Current portion of notes payable  2,640,968   351,527  
Current portion of capital lease obligation  7,522   83,634  

  

Total current liabilities  6,529,080   5,985,753  

Noncurrent portion of capital lease obligation  —     7,522  
Long-term debt  1,499,050   7,121,388  

Commitments and contingencies  —     —    
  

Total liabilities  8,028,130   13,114,663  

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.005 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized, 0 shares issued

and outstanding as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively  —     —    
Common stock, $.005 par value; 160,000,000 shares authorized, 2,858,126 and

2,259,818 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively  14,287   11,299  

Additional paid-in capital  132,693,988   125,723,083  
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  (380,110)  307,339  
Accumulated deficit  (133,935,562)  (135,564,666) 

  

Total Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. stockholders’ equity (deficit)  (1,607,397)  (9,522,945) 
Noncontrolling interest in stockholders’ equity  3,393,499   11,103,923  

  

Total stockholders’ equity  1,786,102   1,580,978  
  

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 9,814,232  $ 14,695,641  
  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CLEVELAND BIOLABS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

 
   For the Year Ended December 31,  
   2014   2013   2012  
Revenues:     

Grants and contracts   $ 3,701,899   $ 8,487,966   $ 3,570,710  

Operating expenses:     
Research and development    9,654,144    19,525,950    22,501,805  
General and administrative    8,469,690    12,038,775    11,115,511  

  

Total operating expenses  18,123,834   31,564,725   33,617,316  
  

Loss from operations  (14,421,935)  (23,076,759)  (30,046,606) 

Other income (expense):
Interest and other income (expense)  (1,089,582)  44,925   295,123  
Foreign exchange gain (loss)  (1,036,459)  38,202   (365,138) 
Gain on deconsolidation of Incuron, LLC  14,206,555   —     —    
Change in value of warrant liability  2,662,329   2,864,348   7,701,981  
Equity in loss of Incuron, LLC  (285,542)  —     —    

  

Total other income  14,457,301   2,947,475   7,631,966  
  

Net income (loss)  35,366   (20,129,284)  (22,414,640) 
  

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests  1,593,738   2,866,407   4,180,498  
  

Net income (loss) attributable to Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. $ 1,629,104  $(17,262,877) $(18,234,142) 
  

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders per share of common
stock, basic and diluted $ 0.60  $ (7.67) $ (9.75) 

  

Weighted average number of shares used in calculating net income (loss) per
share, basic and diluted  2,702,884   2,250,142   1,869,443  

  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CLEVELAND BIOLABS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

 
  For the Year Ended December 31,  
  2014   2013   2012  
Net income (loss) including noncontrolling interests  $ 35,366   $(20,129,284)  $(22,414,640) 
Other comprehensive loss    

Foreign currency translation adjustment   (1,816,840)   (421,345)   797,558  

Comprehensive income (loss) including noncontrolling interests  (1,781,474)  (20,550,629)  (21,617,082) 
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests  2,477,469   3,048,618   3,844,800  

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. $ 695,995  $(17,502,011) $(17,772,282) 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CLEVELAND BIOLABS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 
   For the Year Ended December 31,  
   2014   2013   2012  
Cash flows from operating activities:     

Net income (loss)   $ 35,366   $(20,129,284)  $(22,414,640) 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in operating

activities:     
Depreciation    200,792    376,213    479,595  
Amortization of loan costs    640,248    94,995    —    
Unrealized currency loss on short-term investments     —      52,726  
(Gain) loss on equipment disposal    24,685    (3,222)   18,997  
Impairment loss on property and equipment     293,162    —    
Noncash compensation    496,470    1,473,449    2,535,217  
Warrant issuance costs    171,116    —      244,857  
Equity in loss of Incuron, LLC    285,542    —      —    
Change in value of warrant liability    (2,662,329)   (2,864,348)   (7,701,981) 
Gain on deconsolidation of Incuron, LLC    (14,206,555)   —      —    
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     

Accounts receivable    629,397    (416,495)   1,736,199  
Other current assets    (1,242)   697,966    (182,428) 
Other long-term assets    15,690    (29,732)   (6,414) 
Accounts payable    459,337    (713,502)   609,522  
Deferred revenue    (756,808)   (2,062,332)   3,238,124  
Accrued expenses    213,104    180,483    740,723  

  

Net cash used in operating activities  (14,455,187)  (23,102,647)  (20,649,503) 
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of short-term investments  (1,408,169)  —     (5,220,781) 
Sale of short-term investments  1,689,670   2,197,940   8,312,120  
Purchase of equipment  (20,222)  (139,491)  (178,271) 
Cash divested upon deconsolidation of Incuron, LLC  (2,048,023)  —     —    
Increase in restricted cash  —     (1,497,740)  (1,541,366) 

  

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (1,786,744)  560,709   1,371,702  
Cash flows from financing activities:

Issuance of common stock, net of offering costs  9,697,501   —     15,675,727  
Net proceeds/(repayment) of long-term debt  (4,176,275)  7,327,675   —    
Noncontrolling interest capital contribution to Incuron, LLC  5,152,438   —     5,893,557  
Exercise of options  —     12,392   2,375  
Repayment of capital lease obligation  (83,634)  (78,125)  (52,410) 

  

Net cash provided by financing activities  10,590,030   7,261,942   21,519,249  
Effect of exchange rate change on cash and equivalents  (1,292,595)  (323,621)  538,046  

  

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (6,944,497)  (15,603,617)  2,779,494  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  10,048,466   25,652,083   22,872,589  

  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 3,103,969  $ 10,048,466  $ 25,652,083  
  

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for interest $ 451,327  $ 17,105  $ 23,708  

Supplemental schedule of noncash financing activities:
Allocation of equity proceeds to fair value of warrants $ 2,216,593  $ —    $ —    
Noncash warrant issuance costs $ 15,993  $ 117,999  $ —    
Equipment acquired through lease financing $ —    $ —    $ 221,690  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CLEVELAND BIOLABS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

 
  

Common Stock  
 

Additional
Paid-in
Capital  

 Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)  

 

Accumulated
Deficit  

 

Noncontrolling
Interests  

 

Total  

       

  Shares   Amount       
Balance at December 31,

2011   1,781,319    8,907   $109,034,800   $ 84,613   $(100,067,647)  $ 13,184,824   $ 22,245,496  
        —    

Issuance of common stock
net of offering costs of
$1,129,916   426,250    2,131    15,918,453    —      —      —      15,920,584  

Allocation of financing
proceeds to fair value of
warrants   —      —      (4,521,681)   —      —      —      (4,521,681) 

Noncontrolling interest
capital contribution to
Incuron, LLC   —      —      1,081,040    —      —      4,812,517    5,893,557  

Stock based compensation   29,601    148    2,562,311    —      —      —      2,562,459  
Exercise of options   63    0    2,375    —      —      —      2,375  
Net loss   —      —      —      —      (18,234,142)   (4,180,498)   (22,414,640) 
Foreign currency translation   —      —      —      461,860    —      335,698    797,558  

Balance at December 31,
2012  2,237,233   11,186   124,077,297   546,473   (118,301,789)  14,152,541   20,485,708  

Stock based compensation  22,100   111   1,515,399   —     —     —     1,515,509  
Exercise of options  485   2   12,389   —     —     —     12,391  
Allocation of debt proceeds

to fair value of warrants  —     —     117,999   —     —     —     117,999  
Net loss  —     —     —     —     (17,262,877)  (2,866,407)  (20,129,284) 
Foreign currency translation  —     —     —     (239,134)  —     (182,211)  (421,345) 

Balance at December 31,
2013  2,259,818   11,299   125,723,083   307,339   (135,564,666)  11,103,923   1,580,978  

Stock based compensation  3,052   12   645,488   —     —     —     645,500  
Issuance of common stock,

net of offering costs of
$697,882  595,256   2,976   9,799,142   —     —     —     9,802,118  

Allocation of equity proceeds
to fair value of warrants  —     —     (2,216,593)  —     —     —     (2,216,593) 

Noncontrolling interest
capital contribution  —     —     1,176,982   —     —     3,975,301   5,152,283  

Deconsolidation of Incuron,
LLC  —     —     (2,434,114)  245,660   —     (9,208,256)  (11,396,710) 

Net income (loss)  —     —     —     —     1,629,104   (1,593,738)  35,366  
Foreign currency translation  —     —     —     (933,109)  —     (883,731)  (1,816,840) 

Balance at December 31,
2014  2,858,126  $14,287  $132,693,988  $ (380,110) $(133,935,562) $ 3,393,499  $ 1,786,102  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CLEVELAND BIOLABS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of Business

Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. is an innovative biopharmaceutical company seeking to develop first-in-class pharmaceuticals designed to
address diseases with significant unmet medical need. Our most advanced product candidate is entolimod, which we are developing
as a radiation countermeasure and an immunotherapy for oncology and other indications. We conduct business in the United States
and in the Russian Federation, or Russia, through several legal entities, one of which is wholly-owned and two of which are owned in
collaboration with financial partners. As used throughout these consolidated financial statements, the terms “Cleveland BioLabs” and
“CBLI” refer to Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary BioLab 612, LLC, but not its consolidated joint venture,
Panacela Labs, Inc. or its unconsolidated joint venture, Incuron, LLC. The “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Cleveland
BioLabs, Inc. together with its wholly-owned subsidiary BioLab 612, LLC, its consolidated joint venture, Panacela Labs, Inc., and its
unconsolidated joint venture, Incuron, LLC.

CBLI was incorporated in Delaware in June 2003 and is headquartered in Buffalo, New York. As of December 31, 2014, CBLI had
one wholly-owned subsidiary, Biolab 612, LLC, or Biolab 612, which began operations in 2012, one consolidated joint venture,
Panacela Labs, Inc., or Panacela, which was formed by us and a financial partner in 2011, and one unconsolidated joint venture,
Incuron, LLC, or Incuron, which was formed by us and a financial partner in 2010. Additionally, Panacela had a wholly-owned
subsidiary, Panacela Labs, LLC, which was formed in 2011.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of CBLI and the subsidiary and joint venture in which CBLI
held a controlling interest in as of December 31, 2014, BioLab 612 and Panacela. The accounts of Incuron are also included through
November 25, 2014, the date at which CBLI no longer maintained a controlling interest in Incuron. For the period from November 25,
2014 through December 31, 2014, the Company’s interest in Incuron has been presented under the equity method of accounting. All
significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. These financial statements have been
prepared on the accrual basis in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP.

On January 28, 2015, the Company, after receiving authorization from the Company’s shareholders and board of directors, executed
a reverse stock split, or Reverse Split, of the Company’s common stock at the ratio of 1:20. All historical share balances and share
price-related data have been adjusted based on this ratio.

At December 31, 2014, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments of $3.1 million, $6.8 million after giving effect to
our equity raise on February 6, 2015 described in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Of that total, $0.5 million was
restricted for the use of our consolidated joint venture, Panacela, leaving $2.6 million available for general use, or $6.3 million giving
effect to the February 2015 raise, which management believes will be sufficient to support operations into June 2015. To ensure
continuing operations beyond that point, management is evaluating all opportunities to secure additional financing, including
investments from non-controlling interests, the sale or license of our drug candidates, the issuance of equity and additional revenues
from the U.S. or Russian governments. Management believes that sufficient sources of financing will be available to support
operations into the future, however there can be no assurances at this time. These matters raise substantial doubt about the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. These financial statements have been prepared under the assumption that the
Company will continue as a going concern and do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Of the $3.1 million and $10.0 million of cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, $0
million and $3.5 million, respectively, consisted of highly liquid investments with maturities of 90 days or less when purchased. These
investments consist of commercial paper, short-term debt securities, time deposits and investments in money market funds with
commercial banks and financial institutions. As of December 31, 2014, $0.5 million of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents were
restricted to the use of our consolidated joint venture, Panacela, leaving $2.6 million available for general use.

Short-Term Investments

The Company’s short-term investments are classified as held to maturity given the intent and ability to hold the investments to
maturity. Accordingly, these investments are carried at amortized cost. Short-term investments classified as held-to-maturity
consisted of certificates of deposit with maturity dates beyond three months and less than one year. The Company’s short-term
investments were $0.0 million and $0.3 million as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively and were restricted for use by its
consolidated joint ventures.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a significant concentration of credit risk primarily consist of cash and
cash equivalents and short-term investments. The Company maintains cash balances with financial institutions in excess of insured
limits. The Company does not believe it is exposed to significant credit risk due to the financial position of the depository institutions in
which those deposits are held.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company held 43% of its cash and cash equivalents in accounts located outside of the United States.

As of February 12, 2015, the Russian Ruble: Dollar exchange rate increased from 56.2584 to 66.0585, resulting in a decrease of $0.2
million to the Company’s cash and cash equivalents as compared to December 31, 2014.

Significant Customers and Accounts Receivable

Grant and contract revenue from the United States government accounted for 0.6%, 26.8% and 34.8% of total revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Although the Company anticipates ongoing U.S. and Russian government
contract and grant revenue, there is no guarantee that these revenue streams will continue in the future.

Grant and contract revenue received by our subsidiary/joint ventures from Russian government agencies accounted for 95.2%,
73.2% and 65.2% of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Service contract revenue received by us from Incuron accounted for 4.2%, 0.0% and 0.0% of total revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Accounts receivable consist of amounts due under contracts with certain government and foreign entities. The Company extends
unsecured credit to its government customers under normal trade agreements and contracted terms, which generally require
payment within 30 days.
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Management estimates an allowance for doubtful accounts that is based upon management’s review of delinquent accounts and an
assessment of the Company’s historical evidence of collections. There were allowances for doubtful accounts of $0.1 and $0.0 million
at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, pertaining to accounts receivable from our subleases.

Equipment

Equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Upon retirement or sale, the cost of assets disposed of and the related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited or charged to operations. Repair
and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Equipment is depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets as follows:
 

Asset Category   
Estimated Useful Life

(in Years)  
Laboratory equipment    5  
Furniture and fixtures    5  
Computer equipment    3  

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets to be held and used are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amounts of the assets or related asset group may not be recoverable. Determination of recoverability is based on an
estimate of discounted future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset. In the event that such cash flows are not expected to be
sufficient to recover the carrying amount of the asset or asset group, the carrying amount of the asset is written down to its estimated
net realizable value.

In connection with the restructuring discussed in Note 8, “Restructuring,” the Company entered into an equipment lease agreement
with Buffalo BioLabs, LLC, or BBL, effective January 1, 2014 for the equipment used by the employees transitioned to BBL. The
estimated fair value of those assets using a discounted cash flow approach was $243,000. Comparing this fair value to the carrying
amount of the equipment as of December 31, 2013 of $536,000 resulted in a $293,000 write-down of the assets, which was included
in research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash at December 31, 2014 includes certificates of deposit denominated in Russian Rubles and posted by Panacela and
BioLab 612 as collateral for performance guarantees for their contracts with the Ministry of Industry and Trade of the Russian
Federation. The guarantees require Panacela and BioLab 612 to satisfactorily perform their statements of work under the contracts.
Both Panacela and BioLab 612 anticipate receiving the full proceeds of their deposits at the completion of the contracts, which for
each contract is more than a year away. As a consequence, all of the Company’s restricted cash is classified as a noncurrent asset.

Equity Method Investment

The Company’s equity method investment includes its minority holdings in Incuron. The opening equity investment amount as of
November 25, 2014, the date at which we no longer maintained a controlling interest, was determined to be $4,554,000. This
determination was made by an independent valuation expert based on the commercial potential of Incuron’s drug candidates and
market values assigned to other early-stage oncology drug candidates.

Under the equity method, the carrying amount of the investment is adjusted for the Company’s share of earnings and losses, as well
as any capital contributions to and distributions from Incuron. The Company classifies income and losses related to its equity method
investments as a component of operating income or loss as Incuron is an
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extension of the Company’s core business. The Company evaluates equity investments for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the investment may have experienced an “other-than-temporary” decline in
value. If such conditions exist, the Company compares the estimated fair value of the investment to its carrying value to determine if
an impairment is indicated and whether the impairment is “other-than-temporary” based on an assessment of all relevant factors,
including consideration of the intent and ability to retain the investment.

Intellectual Property

Costs related to filing and pursuing patent applications are recognized as general and administrative expenses as incurred, since the
recoverability of such expenditures is uncertain. Upon marketability approval by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, or a
respective foreign governing body, such costs will be capitalized and depreciated over the expected life of the related patent.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents cash received under grants and contracts in excess of the revenue recognizable through the end of the
respective financial reporting period. The revenue associated with these advances will be recognized in future periods as the
applicable costs are incurred.

Accrued Warrant Liability

Certain warrants are accounted for as derivative instruments in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board
Accounting Standards Codification, or the Codification, on derivatives and hedging as the warrant holders, under certain change of
control situations, could require settlement in cash. As such, the warrants were initially recorded as liabilities based on their fair
values on the date of issuance. Subsequent changes in the value of the warrants are recorded in the statements of operations as
“Change in value of warrant liability.”

The Company’s remaining outstanding warrants were treated as equity upon issuance and continue to be treated as equity since they
did not contain any mandatory redemption features or other provisions that would require a different classification of these warrant
instruments outside of permanent equity.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Russian ruble is the functional currency of our foreign subsidiary and joint ventures, which are all located in the Russian
Federation. Assets and liabilities of these companies are translated into U.S. dollars at the period-end exchange rate. Income and
expense items are translated at the average exchange rates during the period. The net effect of this translation is recorded in the
consolidated financial statements as accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates grant and contract revenue from two different types of contractual arrangements: cost reimbursable grants
and contracts and fixed-price grants and contracts. Costs consist primarily of internal labor charges, subcontractors and materials, as
well as an allocation of fringe benefits, overhead and general and administrative expenses, based on the terms of the contract. Under
cost reimbursable grants and contracts, revenue is recognized during the period that the associated research and development costs
are incurred. Under fixed-price grants and contracts, revenue is recognized using the percentage-of-completion method. The
assumptions and estimates used in determination of the percentage-of-completion are developed in coordination with the principal
investigator performing the work.
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Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs primarily consist of salaries, fringe
benefits, materials and related expenses for personnel and facility expenses. Other research and development expenses include fees
paid to consultants and outside service providers, the costs of materials used in clinical trials and research and development and
stock-based compensation.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

The 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, or the “Plan”, authorizes CBLI to grant (i) options to purchase common stock,
(ii) restricted or unrestricted stock units, and (iii) stock appreciation rights, so long as the exercise or grant price of each are at least
equal to the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant. At the 2012 annual meeting of stockholders, an amendment to
increase the maximum number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the Plan was approved, and as of
December 31, 2014, an aggregate of 500,000 shares of common stock were authorized for issuance under the Plan, of which a total
of approximately 100,000 shares of common stock remained available for future awards. A single participant cannot be awarded more
than 20,000 shares annually. Awards granted under the Plan have a contractual life of no more than 10 years. The terms and
conditions of equity awards (such as price, vesting schedule, term and number of shares) under the Plan are specified in an award
document, and approved by compensation committee of the CBLI board of directors.

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes valuation model for estimating the fair value of all stock options granted. Set forth below are
the assumptions used in valuing the stock options granted and a discussion of the Company’s methodology for developing each of the
assumptions used:
 

   For the year ended December 31,  
   2014   2013   2012  
Risk-free interest rate    1.59 - 1.98%   .02 - 1.92%   .65 - 1.49% 
Expected dividend yield    0%   0%   0% 
Expected life    5 - 6 Years    5 - 7.3 Years    5 - 6 Years 
Expected volatility    71.24 - 78.02%   78.62 - 89.66%   86.58 - 92.60% 

“Risk-free interest rate” means the range of U.S. Treasury rates with a term that most closely resembles the expected life of the
option as of the date the option is granted.

“Expected dividend yield” means the Company does not pay regular dividends on its common stock and does not anticipate paying
any dividends in the foreseeable future.

“Expected life” means the period of time that options granted are expected to remain outstanding, based wholly on the use of the
simplified (safe harbor) method. The simplified method is used because the Company does not yet have adequate historical exercise
information to estimate the expected life the options granted.

“Expected volatility” means a measure of the amount by which a financial variable, such as share price, has fluctuated (historical
volatility) or is expected to fluctuate (implied volatility) during a period. Expected volatility is based on the Company’s historical
volatility and incorporates the volatility of the common stock of comparable companies when the expected life of the option exceeds
the Company’s trading history.

In June 2013, CBLI’s stockholders approved the 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP, which provides a means by which
eligible employees of CBLI, and certain designated related corporations may be given an opportunity to purchase shares of CBLI
common stock. As of December 31, 2014, there were 115,000 shares of common stock reserved for purchase under the ESPP. The
number of shares reserved for purchase under the ESPP increases on January 1 of each calendar year by the lesser of (i) 10% of the
total number of shares of common stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceding year, or (ii) 10,000 shares of common stock.
The ESPP, when implemented, will allow employees to use up to 15% of their compensation, up to $25,000 per year, to purchase
shares of common stock at an amount equal to 85% of the fair market value of the our common stock on the offering date or the
purchase date, whichever is less.
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Income taxes

No income tax expense was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, as the Company did not have taxable
income for any of the years presented. A full valuation allowance has been recorded against the Company’s net deferred tax asset.

Earnings/(loss) per share

Basic net income (loss) per share of common stock excludes dilution for potential common stock issuances and is computed by
dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net income (loss) per share
reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into
common stock. Diluted net loss per share is identical to basic net loss per share as potentially dilutive securities have been excluded
from the calculation of diluted net loss per common share because the inclusion of such securities would be antidilutive.

The Company has excluded the following outstanding warrants and options from the calculation of diluted net loss per share because
all such securities were antidilutive for the periods presented:
 

   As of December 31,  
Common Equivalent Securities   2014    2013    2012  
Warrants    875,304     526,752     518,939  
Options    261,389     278,242     250,849  

      

Total  1,136,693   804,994   769,788  
      

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The Company applies the Codification on comprehensive income (loss) that requires disclosure of all components of comprehensive
income (loss) on an annual and interim basis. Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity of a business
enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board or other standard
setting bodies that are adopted by us as of the specified effective date. Unless otherwise discussed, we believe that the impact of
recently issued standards that are not yet effective will not have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations
upon adoption.

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, 2014-09, Revenue
from Contracts with Customers, which updates the principles for recognizing revenue. ASU 2014-09 also amends the required
disclosures of the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. ASU
2014-09 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within that reporting
period. The Company is evaluating the potential impacts of the new standard on its existing revenue recognition policies and
procedures.

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-12, Accounting for Share-Based Payments When the Terms of an Award Provide That a
Performance Target Could Be Achieved after the Requisite Service Period. ASU 2014-12 requires that a performance target that
affects vesting and that could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance condition, and as such, the
performance target should not be reflected in estimating the grant-date fair value of the award. ASU 2014-12 is effective for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015, with early adoption permitted. The Company is evaluating the potential impacts
of the new standard on its existing stock-based compensation plans.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern,
ASU 2014-15 requires that an entity’s management evaluate whether there are
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conditions or events that raise substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date
that the financial statements are issued. ASU 2014-15 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016 and for
interim periods thereafter. The Company is evaluating the potential impacts of this new standard on its quarterly reporting process.

3. Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures and records cash equivalents and warrant liabilities at fair value in the accompanying financial statements.
Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability, an exit price, in the
principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the
measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the
use of unobservable inputs. The three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value include:
 

 •  Level 1 – Observable inputs for identical assets or liabilities such as quoted prices in active markets;
 

 •  Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable; and
 

 
•  Level 3 – Unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, which are therefore developed by the Company

using estimates and assumptions that reflect those that a market participant would use.

The following tables represent the Company’s fair value hierarchy for its financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a
recurring basis as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013:
 

   As of December 31, 2014  
   Level 1    Level 2    Level 3    Total  
Liabilities:         
Accrued warrant liability   $        —      $        —      $ 862,074    $ 862,074  
Compensatory stock options not yet issued (1)    —       —       132,295     132,295  

        

Total liabilities $ —    $ —    $ 994,369  $ 994,369  
        

   As of December 31, 2013  
   Level 1    Level 2    Level 3    Total  
Liabilities:         
Accrued warrant liability   $        —      $        —      $1,241,311    $1,241,311  
Compensatory stock options not yet issued (1)    —       —       309,450     309,450  

        

Total liabilities $ —    $ —    $1,550,761  $1,550,761  
        

 
(1) Included in accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The Company has certain warrants that could require settlement in cash if a fundamental transaction occurs, as defined in the
respective agreements. These agreements specify the amount due to warrant holders is based on the Black-Scholes pricing model.
The following are the assumptions used to measure the accrued warrant liability at December 31, 2014 and 2013, which were
determined in a manner consistent with that described for grants of options to purchase common stock as set forth in Note 2,
“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”:
 

   December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013 
Stock Price   $ 5.60   $ 23.40  
Exercise Price   $ 10.10 - 100.00   $ 32.00 - 100.00  
Term in years    0.46 - 6.04    0.59 - 1.91  
Volatility    70.69 - 100.08%   42.52 - 76.03% 
Annual rate of quarterly dividends    0%   0% 
Discount rate- bond equivalent yield    .12 - 1.65%   .08 - .36% 
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The following are the assumptions used to measure the compensatory stock options not yet issued at December 31, 2014:
 

   December 31, 2014 
Stock price   $ 5.60  
Term in years    5  
Volatility    73.99% 
Annual rate of quarterly dividends    0% 
Discount rate – bond equivalent yield    1.45% 

The following table sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the Company’s Level 3 fair value measurements for the year
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013:
 
   Year Ended December 31, 2014  

   
Accrued Warrant

Liability   

Compensatory
Stock Options
Issued After

Year End  
Beginning Balance   $ 1,241,311   $ 309,450  
Total (gains) or losses, realized and unrealized, included in earnings (1)(2)    (2,572,035)   (21,055) 
Issuances    2,283,092    132,295  
Settlements    (90,294)   (288,395) 

  

Balance, December 31, 2014 $ 862,074  $ 132,295  
  

   Year Ended December 31, 2013  

   
Accrued Warrant

Liability   

Compensatory
Stock Options
Issued After

Year End  
Beginning Balance   $ 4,105,659   $ —    
Total (gains) or losses, realized and unrealized, included in earnings (1)(2)    (2,864,348)   —    
Estimates and other changes in fair value    —      309,450  

  

Balance, December 31, 2013 $ 1,241,311  $ 309,450  
  

 
(1) Unrealized gains or losses related to the accrued warrant liability were included as change in value of accrued warrant liability.

For the year ended December 31, 2014 we realized a gain of $90,294 in connection with the elimination of the Series B
warrants issued to an investor in the January 2014 equity investment transaction. For the year ended December 31, 2013 there
were no realized gains or losses.

(2) Expenses recorded for compensatory stock options not yet issued are included in research and development expense and
general and administrative expense.

Separate disclosure is required for assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, as documented above, from
those measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had no assets or liabilities
that were measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis.
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The Company considers the accrued warrant liability and compensatory stock options not yet issued to be Level 3 because some of
the inputs into the measurements are neither directly or indirectly observable. The compensatory stock options not yet issued use
management’s estimate for the expected term, which is based on the safe harbor method as historical exercise information over the
term of each security is not readily available. The following table summarizes the unobservable inputs into the fair value
measurements:
 
  December 31, 2014  
Description  Fair Value   Valuation Technique   Unobservable Input  Range in years 
Compensatory stock options not yet issued  $132,295    Black-scholes pricing model    Expected term    5  
Accrued warrant liability

  862,074    
Black-scholes pricing

model    Expected term    0.46 - 6.04  

$994,369  

Management believes the value of the accrued warrant liability and compensatory stock options are more sensitive to changes in the
Company’s stock price at the end of the respective reporting period as opposed to changes in the expected term. At December 31,
2014, a 10% increase in the expected term of the Company’s warrants measured using the Black-Scholes pricing model would
increase the warrant liability by approximately 13%, while a 10% decrease in the expected term would decrease the warrant liability
by approximately 14%. A 10% increase in the Company’s stock price would result in an increase in the accrued warrant liability of
approximately 17%, while a 10% decrease in the stock price would decrease the warrant liability by approximately 16%. At
December 31, 2014, a 10% increase or decrease in the expected term of the Company’s compensatory stock options not yet issued
would increase or decrease the amount accrued by approximately 4%, while a 10% increase or decrease in the stock price would
increase or decrease the amount accrued by approximately 10%.

The carrying amounts of the Company’s remaining financial instruments, which include cash, short-term investments, accounts
receivable and accounts payable, approximate their fair values due to their short maturities.

4. Equipment

The following table summarizes the Company’s gross equipment costs for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013:
 

   As of December 31,  
   2014    2013  
Lab equipment   $ 1,062,679    $ 1,083,463  
Computer equipment    293,663     332,386  
Furniture    528,807     528,807  

    

 1,885,149   1,944,656  
Less accumulated depreciation  (1,640,612)  (1,486,744) 

    

Equipment, net $ 244,537  $ 457,912  
    

As part of the sublease income received from Buffalo BioLabs, Inc. mentioned in Note 9, Significant Alliances and Related Parties,
the Company leases lab equipment to Buffalo BioLabs, Inc. The original cost and net book value of that equipment as of
December 31, 2014 was $1,054,166 and $137,553, respectively. The monthly income we receive from Buffalo BioLabs, Inc. for this
equipment is $4,500 and is cancellable upon 90 days notice.

5. Noncontrolling Interests

On May 31, 2012, Bioprocess Capital Ventures, or BCV, our financial partner in Incuron, contributed approximately 194.0 million
Russian rubles (approximately $5.9 million) to Incuron, which increased its ownership percentage to 40.78% and decreased CBLI’s
ownership percentage to 59.22%, which is the ownership percentage at December 31, 2013. On June 20, 2014, BCV contributed
100.0 million Russian rubles
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(approximately $2.9 million) to Incuron, which increased its ownership interest from 40.78% to 46.06% and decreased CBLI’s
ownership percentage from 59.22% to 53.94%. The effect of this change in CBLI’s ownership interest in Incuron on CBLI’s equity is
shown on the consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity. On August 5, 2014, BCV contributed an additional 79.9 million Russian
rubles (approximately $2.3 million) to Incuron which increased its ownership interest from 46.06% to 49.98%. On November 25, 2014,
BCV exercised their rights under Amendment 1 to the Participation Agreement and purchased 3.05% of Incuron from us for a nominal
amount. As a result, effective November 25, 2014 CBLI no longer maintained control of Incuron, owning 46.96%, and deconsolidated
Incuron. The Company’s consolidated income statement includes revenue, research and development, and general and
administrative expenses recognized by Incuron through November 25, 2014 in the amounts of $1,000,770, $1,664,094 and $907,643,
respectively.

Beginning on November 25, 2014, CBLI accounted for its ownership interest in Incuron using the equity method of accounting, and
recognized its share of equity method losses in the amount of $285,542. The gain on deconsolidation of Incuron amounted to
$14,206,555, and was determined based on comparison of the fair value of CBLI’s retained investment in Incuron of $4,554,000 and
the carrying amount of the non-controlling interest on the deconsolidation date of $9,797,083, less the carrying amount of the net
assets of Incuron on the deconsolidation date of $144,528.

The fair value of Incuron at the date of deconsolidation was determined by an independent valuation. This fair value is categorized
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The value was determined by weighting a market approach and an income approach (Risk
adjusted debt-free discounted cash flow) using equal weights of 50% and adjusted for uncertainties associated with the Russian
capital markets. The unobservable input of the market approach was a 0.5 multiple of market value to invested capital. The
unobservable input to the income approach was a discount rate based upon a weighted average cost of capital of 22%.

We anticipate that CBLI will continue to provide services to Incuron in a related party capacity following the date of deconsolidation to
assist in furthering the development of CBL0137. Since the date of the deconsolidation, the Company recognized $154,687 of
revenues associated with executed services contracts. As of the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company has $156,464 in
accounts receivable with Incuron. A summary of Incuron’s financial position and results of operations follows:
 

December 31, 2014  
ASSETS   LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  

Cash and cash equivalents   $1,103,384   Accounts payable   $ 33,303  
Short-term investments    248,852   Accounts payable to CBLI    156,464  
Other current assets    47,846   Accrued expenses    253,915  

    

Total current assets  1,400,082  Total current liabilities  443,681  
Long-term assets  6,900  Net equity  963,300  

    

Total assets $1,406,982  Total liabilities and equity $1,406,982  
    

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS   
For the period from

November 26, 2014 to December 31, 2014
  
  

REVENUES
Grant and contract revenue $ —    

OPERATING EXPENSES
Research and development  215,392  
CBLI development costs  169,511  
General and administrative  106,277  

    

Total operating expenses  491,180  
    

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS  (491,180) 
OTHER EXPENSES

Foreign exchange gain (loss)  (116,874) 
    

NET INCOME/(LOSS) $ (608,054) 
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In 2011, CBLI and Open Joint Stock Company “Rusnano”, or Rusnano, and certain other third-party technology providers formed
Panacela to develop and commercialize a early-stage drug candidates for the treatment of oncological, infectious or other diseases.
CBLI invested $3.0 million, certain third-party owners, assigned and/or provided exclusive licenses, and Rusnano invested $9.0
million, with an additional $17.0 million available for investment. $1.5 million of the $17.0 million was invested in the form of a
convertible loan, discussed in Note 6, “Debt,” leaving $15.5 million currently available to be invested at Rusnano’s option. At
December 31, 2014, CBLI had an ownership stake of 57.78% in Panacela.

6. Debt

On September 30, 2013, CBLI and BioLab 612 entered into a Loan and Security Agreement, or the Loan Agreement, with Hercules
Technology II, L.P., or Hercules, pursuant to which we issued a $6.0 million note and received net proceeds of $5.9 million. The loan
bears interest at the greater of (i) 10.45% per annum or (ii) 10.45% plus the prevailing prime rate minus 4.25%. The loan matures on
January 1, 2017, and requires interest-only payments for the initial 12 months and principal and interest payments in 27 monthly
installments thereafter. In June 2014, CBLI repaid $4.0 million of the Hercules Loan using net proceeds from a sale of equity and
cash.

In connection with the Loan Agreement, CBLI granted a first priority lien in substantially all of CBLI’s assets (exclusive of intellectual
property). The Loan Agreement also contains representations and warranties by CBLI and Hercules, indemnification provisions in
favor of Hercules, customary covenants (including limitations on other indebtedness, liens, acquisitions, investments and dividends,
but excluding any financial covenants), and events of default (including payment defaults, breaches of covenants, material adverse
events and events leading to bankruptcy or insolvency). Prepayment of the loan is subject to a penalty rate applied to the balance of
the secured obligation and ranges from 1% to 3% based on the date the loan is prepaid. The prepayment penalty was waived on
connection with the above referenced June 2014 prepayment.

Additional loan features, all of which are recorded debt issuance costs and loan discounts in non-current assets, include: $102,000
related to legal fees and a $100,000 facility fee both of which were paid in cash. A $550,000 “end-of-term charge” which is due upon
full repayment of the loan or on the maturity date, whichever occurs sooner and is included in long-term liabilities. And a five-year
warrant to purchase 7,813 shares of CBLI common stock. The warrant had an initial exercise price of $32.00 per share, which was
subsequently lowered to $10.10 per share in accordance with its terms. The Black-Scholes pricing model yielded $117,999 as the fair
value of the warrant upon issuance which was recorded as equity.

CBLI will amortize the loan discounts and debt issuance costs to interest expense over the term of the loan using the effective
interest rate method, which approximates 16.6%.

The following schedule shows the payments for principal and the end of term charge on the Hercules loan by calendar year:
 

2015 $ 748,738  
2016  831,721  
2017  852,365  

  

Total $2,432,824  
  

On September 3, 2013, Panacela entered into a Master Agreement, or the Panacela Loan, with Rusnano and CBLI pursuant to which
Panacela issued a $1,530,000 note to Rusnano. The Panacela Loan bears interest at a rate of 16.3% per annum and matures on
September 10, 2015, at which time Panacela must repay all unpaid principal and accrued interest. As of the year ended
December 31, 2014, Panacela had $355,493 of interest accrued associated with the Panacela Loan. Prior to March 10, 2015, the
loan is mandatorily convertible into shares of Panacela preferred stock at a conversion price of $1,057 per share if Panacela
completes a qualified financing in accordance with the terms of the Panacela Loan. Subsequent to March 10, 2015, Rusnano has the
option to convert the unpaid principal plus interest into shares of Panacela preferred stock at a conversion price of $1,057 per share,
or if Panacela has a qualified financing event, at a discounted price of 0.75 times the purchase price per share.
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In connection with the Panacela Loan, CBLI issued Rusnano a warrant that has an exercise period that begins upon an event of
default on the Panacela Loan and expires on December 31, 2016. Upon an event of default, Rusnano has the option to assign 69.2%
of the unpaid principal and interest under the Panacela Loan to CBLI in exchange for shares of CBLI common stock at a price of
$33.88 per share.

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, we recognized interest expense of $1,340,639 and $338,112 for these loans,
respectively. Included in the $1,340,639 of interest expense recognized for the year ended December 31, 2014 was a $401,803 non-
cash write-off of debt issuance costs associated with the $4.0 million early loan repayment in June 2014.

7. Stockholders’ Equity

On January 27, 2015, the Company’s stockholders approved the Reverse Split of one share for each twenty shares outstanding
(1:20). The Reverse Split became effective as of the open of trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market on January 28, 2015. All shares
of Common Stock, warrants, options, per share data and exercise prices included in these financial statements and notes for all
periods presented have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Split with respect to the Company’s shares of Common
Stock.

On June 20, 2014, the Company completed a sale of units that were immediately separable into an aggregate of 308,370 shares of
the Company’s common stock and warrants to purchase up to 154,186 additional shares of the Company’s common stock issuable
upon the exercise of a warrant. Each unit was sold for $11.35, which qualified as an “at market” transaction as determined by
NASDAQ, resulting in net proceeds of approximately $3.3 million after deducting for placement agent fees and offering expenses. In
connection with the sale, the Company issued Series J warrants for 154,186 shares of common stock to the purchasers, and 1,324
Series J warrants to the placement agent. Each Series J warrant has an exercise price of $11.20 per share, and will expire five years
from the date of issuance. The sale also triggered a reduction in the exercise price of 228,891 of the Company’s warrants to $10.10.

On January 16, 2014, the Company completed a public offering of 286,886 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of
$24.40 per share, resulting in net proceeds of approximately $6.4 million after deducting for placement agent fees and offering
expenses. In connection with the offering, the Company issued Series A warrants for 143,445 shares of common stock and Series B
warrants for 143,445 shares of common stock to the purchasers. Each Series A warrant has an exercise price of $24.40 per share,
and will become exercisable nine months following the date of issuance and expire five years from the date of issuance. Each Series
B warrant has an exercise price of $24.40 per share, and became exercisable nine months following the date of issuance and will
expire 18 months from the date of issuance. In addition to the warrants issued to the purchasers, the Company also issued Series A
warrants for an aggregate of 4,306 shares of common stock and Series B warrants for an aggregate of 4,306 shares of common stock
to the placement agent as compensation for completing the offering. The warrants to the placement agent have the same terms,
including exercise price, as the warrants issued to investors. The offering also triggered a reduction in the exercise price of 221,078 of
the Company’s warrants to $24.40.

The January 2014 Series A and B warrants contain provisions that could require the Company to settle the warrants in cash, and
accordingly, have been classified as a liability. The fair value of the January Series A and B warrants amounted to $2,283,092 and
was determined based on the following assumptions using the Black-Scholes valuation model:
 

   
January 16,

2014  
Stock price   $ 24.60  
Exercise price   $ 24.40  
Term in years    .75 - 2.50  
Expected volatility    43.06 - 79.86% 
Expected dividend yield    0% 
Risk-free interest rate    .09 - .58% 
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On September 4, 2014, the Company and certain investors in the January 16, 2014 public offering discussed above amended the
Securities Purchase Agreement to remove restrictions on the Company’s ability to issue securities involving a variable rate
transaction, as therein defined. In addition, the same investors returned January 2014 Series B warrants to purchase, in the
aggregate, 102,460 shares of the Company’s common stock for cancellation. In exchange for these concessions, the Company
agreed to extend the expiration dates from January 16, 2019 to January 16, 2021 for Series A warrants to purchase 102,460 shares of
the Company’s common stock, and reduced the exercise price from $24.40 to $20.40.

On September 29, 2014, the Company and certain investors amended a Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 13,
2009, to remove restrictions on the Company’s ability to issue securities involving a variable rate transaction, as therein defined. In
exchange, the Company agreed to extend the expiration dates from February 13, 2016 to March 30, 2018 on Series D warrants to
purchase 174,307 shares of the Company’s common stock, and revised the anti-dilution provision in the Series D warrants to include
variable rate transactions.

On January 9, 2015, the Company and certain investors amended a Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 25, 2010,
to remove restrictions on the Company’s ability to issue securities involving a variable rate transaction, as therein defined. In
exchange, the Company agreed to extend the expiration dates from March 2, 2015 to March 2, 2017 on warrants to purchase 46,771
shares of the Company’s common stock, and revised the anti-dilution provision to include variable rate transactions.

In October 2012, CBLI completed a public offering of 187,500 units at a price of $40.00 per unit, with each unit consisting of one
share of CBLI common stock, and one warrant to purchase 0.5 of a share of CBLI common stock at an exercise price of $60.00 per
whole share, or the 2012 Offering. The shares of CBLI common stock and the warrants issued in the 2012 Offering were issued
separately. Under the terms of the related underwriting agreement, CBLI granted the Underwriters an option, exercisable for 30 days,
to purchase up to an additional 56,250 shares of CBLI common stock (with an over-allotment price of $39.90 per share) and/or
additional warrants to purchase up to 28,125 shares of CBLI common stock (with an over-allotment price of $0.19 for each warrant to
purchase a whole share) to cover over-allotments, if any. The underwriter exercised their option in part by purchasing 51,250 shares
and 28,125 warrants of the over-allotment option within 30 days of the closing.

Certain warrants issued during the 2012 offering contain provisions that could require the Company to settle the warrants in cash
and, accordingly, were originally recorded as a liability in the amount of $4,521,681 determined by the Black-Scholes valuation model
with the following assumptions:
 

Stock price $49.60  
Exercise price $60.00  
Term in years  2.51  
Expected volatility  79.70% 
Expected dividend yield  0% 
Risk-free interest rate  0.35% 

The 2012 Offering triggered a reduction in the exercise price of 46,771 of the Company’s warrants to $40.00.
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The following table sets forth the changes in the number of warrants outstanding for the periods presented, exclusive of the warrants
issued to Rusnano in connection with their loan to Panacela as those warrants are not exercisable until the occurrence of an event of
default, which has not occurred:
 

   
Number of
Warrants   

Weighted Average
Exercise Price  

Outstanding at December 31, 2012    518,939   $ 58.80  
Granted    7,813    32.00  
Forfeited, Canceled    —      —    

  

Outstanding at December 31, 2013  526,752   54.00  
Granted  451,012   19.85  
Forfeited, Canceled  (102,460)  24.40  

  

Outstanding at December 31, 2014  875,304   33.72  
  

Equity Incentive Plan

The following is a summary of option award activity under the Plan for the year ended December 31, 2014:
 

   Year Ended December 31, 2014  

   
Total Stock Options

Outstanding    

Weighted Average
Exercise Price per

Share    
Nonvested Stock

Options    

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value per Share  

December 31, 2013    278,390    $ 82.90     29,724    $ 29.97  
Granted    49,550     12.48     2,405     6.73  
Vested    —       —       (5,155)    51.85  
Exercised    —       —       —       —    
Forfeited, Canceled    (66,551)    89.45     (5,687)    28.97  

        

December 31, 2014  261,389   67.89   21,287   22.31  
        

The following is a summary of outstanding stock options under the Plan as of December 31, 2014:
 

   
Stock Options
Outstanding    

Non-Vested Stock
Options  

Quantity    261,389     21,287  
Weighted-average exercise price   $ 67.89    $ 28.97  
Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term (in Years)    6.48     6.30  
Intrinsic value   $ —      $ —    

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Company granted 49,550, 45,191 and 56,646 stock options,
respectively, with a weighted-average grant date fair value of $7.60, $24.15 and $26.33, respectively. For the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the total fair value of options vested was $267,382, $887,603 and $1,549,888, respectively. The
total intrinsic value of options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $0, $5,736 and $1,485,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2014, total compensation cost not yet recognized related to non-vested stock options was $63,013. The
Company expects to recognize this cost over a weighted average period of 0.57 years.

8. Restructuring

On September 30, 2013, we transferred 26 laboratory and pre-clinical employee positions to BBL, an entity then owned in part by our
Chief Scientific Officer, or CSO, and director, Dr. Andrei Gudkov, to enable us to better focus on clinical development activities. In
connection with this transition, we entered into a Master Services Agreement, or MSA, with BBL, pursuant to which BBL agreed to
perform laboratory and pre-clinical research services for us. We plan to engage BBL for pre-clinical research services in the future.
Such services are discussed further in Note 9, “Significant Alliances and Related Parties.”
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As a result of the above described restructuring, we recorded $101,000 for one-time employee transition costs, $112,000 for an idle
facilities reserve and $293,000 for an impairment loss on research equipment. All of these costs were recorded as R&D expense
during the year ended December 31, 2013. During the year ended December 31, 2014, a subsequent measurement adjustment of
$33,126 was recorded against our idle facilities reserve.

9. Significant Alliances and Related Parties

Roswell Park Cancer Institute

The Company has entered into several agreements with Roswell Park Cancer Institute, or RPCI, including: various sponsored
research agreements, an exclusive license agreement and clinical trial agreements for the conduct of the Phase 1 entolimod
oncology study and the Phase 1 CBL0137 intravenous administration study. Additionally, the Company’s CSO is the Senior Vice
President of Basic Research at RPCI.

The Company incurred $1,042,859, $2,323,078 and $3,876,073 in expense to RPCI related to research grants and agreements for
the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The Company had $0 and $172,295 included in accounts payable
owed to RPCI at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. In addition, the Company had $324,194 and $491,397 in accrued
expenses payable to RPCI at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

The Cleveland Clinic

CBLI entered into an exclusive license agreement, or the License, with The Cleveland Clinic pursuant to which CBLI was granted an
exclusive license to The Cleveland Clinic’s research base underlying our therapeutic platform and certain product candidates in
development by Panacela. CBLI has the primary responsibility to fund all newly developed patents; however, The Cleveland Clinic
retains ownership of those patents covered by the agreement. CBLI also agreed to use commercially diligent efforts to bring one or
more products to market as soon as practical, consistent with sound and reasonable business practices and judgments. In
consideration for the License, CBLI agreed to issue The Cleveland Clinic common stock and make certain milestone, royalty and
sublicense royalty payments. Milestone payments, which may be credited against future royalties, amounted to $0, $0 and $100,000
for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. No royalty or sublicense royalty payments were made to The
Cleveland Clinic during the three-year period ended December 31, 2014.

The Company did not have any liabilities to The Cleveland Clinic at December 31, 2014 or 2013.

Buffalo BioLabs, et. al.

Our CSO, Dr. Andrei Gudkov has business relationships with several entities with which we transact business, the most significant of
which is BBL where Dr. Gudkov was a founder and currently serves as their Principal Scientific Advisor. Pursuant to the MSA that
was executed with BBL (see Note 8, “Restructuring”), the Company recognized $1,159,963, $419,284 and $0 as research and
development expense for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and included $34,800 and $111,356 in
accounts payable at December 31, 2014 and 2013. We also recognized $230,398, $64,362 and $6,500 from BBL for sublease and
other income for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Pursuant to our real estate sublease and
equipment lease with BBL, we had accounts receivable of $198,124 and $843 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. As far
as other entities with which Dr. Gudkov is affiliated, the Company recognized other income of $0 and $217,347, and $0; and,
recognized research and development expenses of $0, $29,607 and $0 for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, there were no amounts owed to, or receivable from these entities.

10. Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Deferred taxes are determined by calculating the future
tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial accounting and tax bases
 

77

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



Table of Contents

of existing assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance is recorded against deferred tax assets when, in the opinion of management, it
is more likely than not that the Company will not be able to realize the benefit from its deferred tax assets.

The Company files income tax returns, as prescribed by the national, state and local jurisdictions in which it operates. The Company’s
uncertain tax positions are related to tax years that remain subject to examination and are recognized in the financial statements
when the recognition threshold and measurement attributes are met. Interest and penalties related to tax deficiencies and uncertain
tax positions are recorded as income tax expense.

Income (loss) from continuing operations consists of the following:
 

   For the Year Ended December 31,  
   2014    2013    2012  
US operations   $ 6,234,092    $(13,505,266)   $(14,317,608) 
Foreign operations    (6,198,726)    (6,624,018)    (8,097,032) 

      

$ 35,366  $(20,129,284) $(22,414,640) 
      

The provision for income taxes charged to continuing operations is $0 for all periods presented.

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) were comprised of the following as of the periods presented below:
 

   As of December 31,  
   2014    2013    2012  
Deferred tax assets:       

Operating loss carryforwards   $ 48,643,000    $ 44,120,000    $ 37,642,000  
Accrued expenses    8,916,000     8,861,000     8,576,000  
Tax credit carryforwards    3,449,000     3,186,000     2,921,000  
Intellectual property    3,214,000     4,846,000     3,377,000  
Outside tax basis difference in affiliate    3,948,000     2,825,000     1,616,000  
Equipment    365,000     388,000     237,000  
Other    —       —       4,000  

      

Total deferred tax assets  68,535,000   64,226,000   54,373,000  
Deferred tax liabilities:  —     —     —    

      

Net deferred tax asset  68,535,000   64,226,000   54,373,000  
Valuation allowance  (68,535,000)  (64,226,000)  (54,373,000) 

      

$ —    $ —    $ —    
      

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount of income tax determined by applying the applicable U.S. statutory federal
income tax rate to the pretax loss from continuing operations as a result of the following differences:
 

   For the Year Ended December 31,  
   2014    2013    2012  
Tax at the U.S. statutory rate   $ 12,000    $(6,810,000)   $ (7,621,000) 
Change in value of warrant liability    (905,000)    (974,000)    (2,619,000) 
Stock option expenses    —       —       —    
Valuation allowance    5,717,000     7,723,000     10,204,000  
Deconsolidation of Incuron    (4,830,000)     
Other    6,000     61,000     36,000  

      

$ —    $ —    $ —    
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At December 31, 2014, the Company had U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $120,934,000, which begin
to expire if not utilized by 2023, and approximately $3,565,000 of tax credit carryforwards which begin to expire if not utilized by 2024.
The Company also has U.S. state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $110,957,000, which begin to expire if not
utilized by 2027 and state tax credit carryforwards of approximately $337,000, which begin to expire if not utilized by 2022.

The Company files U.S. federal tax returns, along with various state and foreign income tax returns. All federal, state and foreign tax
returns for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 are still open for examination.

The following presents a roll-forward of the unrecognized tax benefits and the associated interest and penalties:
 

   
Unrecognized
Tax Benefits    

Interest
and Penalties 

Balance at January 1, 2013   $ 437,000    $ —    

Prior year tax position    —       —    
Current year tax position    —       —    
Deferred tax position    8,000     —    
Settlements with tax authorities    —       —    
Expiration of the statute of limitations    —       —    

    

Balance at December 31, 2013  445,000   —    

Prior year tax position  —     —    
Current year tax position  —     —    
Deferred tax position  8,000   —    
Settlements with tax authorities  —     —    
Expiration of the statute of limitations  —     —    

    

Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 453,000  $ —    
    

CBLI received New York State incentive tax credit refunds of $0, $62,000 and $532,000 during 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
These refundable tax credits were based on the Company’s research and development activities, real estate tax payments,
employment levels and equipment purchases. Since there is no state tax liability or refund of prior year tax payments, these
refundable tax credits were recorded against operating expenses in the year of receipt, instead of being recorded as an income tax
benefit.

11. Employee Benefit Plan

CBLI maintains an active defined contribution retirement plan for its employees, referred to herein as the Benefit Plan. All employees
satisfying certain service requirements are eligible to participate in the Benefit Plan. The Company makes matching cash
contributions each payroll period, up to 4% of employees’ salaries. The Company’s expense relating to the Benefit Plan was $79,737,
$196,257 and $201,510 for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

12. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has entered into various agreements with third parties and certain related parties in connection with the research and
development activities of its existing product candidates as well as discovery efforts on potential new product candidates. These
agreements include fixed obligations to sponsor research and development activities and minimum royalty payments for licensed
patents. These amounts do not include any additional amounts that the Company may be required to pay under its license
agreements upon the achievement of scientific, regulatory and commercial milestones, including milestones such as the submission
of an IND to the FDA and the first commercial sale of the Company’s products in various countries. As of December 31, 2014
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the Company is uncertain as to whether any of these contingent events will become realized. The Company is also party to five
agreements that require it to make milestone payments, pay royalties on net sales of the Company’s products, and make payments
on sublicense income received by the Company relating to certain products. There were no milestone payments or royalties on net
sales accrued for any of these agreements as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 as none were due.

From time-to-time, the Company may have certain contingent liabilities that arise in the ordinary course of business. The Company
accrues for liabilities when it is probable that future expenditures will be made and such expenditures can be reasonably estimated.
For all periods presented, the Company was not a party to any pending material litigation or other material legal proceedings.

The Company has entered into agreements with substantially all of our employees who, if terminated by the Company without cause
as described in these agreements, would be entitled to severance pay.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had unconditional purchase obligations totaling $861,257 for goods and services,
substantially all of which the Company anticipates to incur during 2015.

Capital Lease

In December 2011, the Company entered into a capital lease for scientific equipment in the amount of $304,673. The terms of the
lease required an upfront payment of $82,983 and monthly payments of $7,616 for 36 months once the lease term began in March
2012. Principal payments under the capital lease obligation were $83,634, $78,125 and $52,410; and, interest payments were
$7,707, $20,827 and $23,708 for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. During the year ended
December 31, 2013, the Company recognized an impairment loss of $105,491 related to this leased asset as the anticipated
discounted future cash flows resulting from the lease with BBL exceeded the carrying value of the asset. As of December 31, 2014,
future minimum lease payments amount to $4,500. As of December 31, 2014, accumulated depreciation for the leased equipment
was $27,622.

Operating Leases

The Company leases laboratory facilities and office facilities at various locations with expiration dates ranging from 2015 to 2019. The
Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the related operating leases. For the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, total rent expense related to the Company’s operating leases was $466,770, $511,029 and
$459,150, respectively. In addition, the Company has subleased some of its facilities.

As of December 31, 2014, future minimum payments under operating leases are as follows:
 

2015 $ 377,623  
2016  354,918  
2017  365,565  
2018  376,532  
2019  191,048  

  

Total minimum lease payments $1,665,686  
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13. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of the quarterly consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013:
 
   For the Quarter Ended  

   March 31, 2014  
June 30,

2014   September 30, 2014  December 31, 2014 
Revenues   $ 1,334,254   $ 562,087   $ 415,126   $ 1,390,432  
Loss from Operations    (3,519,062)   (4,012,504)   (3,438,739)   (3,451,630) 
Net Income (Loss)    (1,901,197)   (4,131,571)   (4,615,663)   10,683,797  
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to

Cleveland BioLabs, Inc.    (1,585,372)   (3,961,161)   (4,096,134)   11,271,771  
Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share Available

for Common Shareholders   $ (0.63)  $ (1.53)  $ (1.43)  $ 3.95  
Fully Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Available for Common Shareholders   $ (0.63)  $ (1.53)  $ (1.43)  $ 3.95  
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding,

Basic    2,498,407    2,594,582    2,855,510    2,856,461  
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding,

Diluted    2,498,407    2,594,582    2,855,510    2,856,461  
 
   For the Quarter Ended  

   March 31, 2013  
June 30,

2013   September 30, 2013  December 31, 2013 
Revenues   $ 1,367,472   $ 1,613,262   $ 1,635,600   $ 3,871,632  
Loss from Operations    (7,447,515)   (6,776,618)   (5,856,468)   (2,996,158) 
Net Loss    (10,787,148)   (3,886,421)   (4,610,961)   (844,754) 
Net Loss Attributable to Cleveland

BioLabs, Inc.    (9,764,323)   (3,042,111)   (4,091,196)   (365,247) 
Basic Loss Per Share Available for

Common Shareholders   $ (4.36)  $ (1.35)  $ (1.82)  $ (0.16) 
Fully Diluted Loss Per Share Available for

Common Shareholders   $ (4.36)  $ (1.35)  $ (1.82)  $ (0.16) 
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding,

Basic    2,241,329    2,247,430    2,253,064    2,258,507  
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding,

Diluted    2,241,329    2,247,430    2,253,064    2,258,507  

14. Subsequent Events

On February 6, 2015, we sold 572,205 shares of common stock, plus an additional 594,688 shares of common stock subject to
Series B pre-funded warrants all at a price of $3.00 per share. An additional $717,400 was invested in Series A preferred stock
convertible into common stock at $3.00 per share for 239,135 shares and issued in a private placement. The total investment
amounted to $4.2 million and the total common shares issuable under these securities are 1,406,028 after full exercise and
conversion, subject to shareholder approval. In addition, a total of 1,406,028 Series A warrants to purchase shares of common stock
at an exercise price of $3.64 per share were issued in a private placement, which shall be initially exercisable six months following
issuance and expire six years from the date they become exercisable.

After giving effect to the forgoing transaction and 5,023 shares issued in January 2015 to certain Board members in lieu of cash
compensation, CBLI’s capitalization structure as of February 6, 2015 follows:

Series A convertible preferred stock, $1,000 stated value: 717.4 shares outstanding, convertible into 239,135 common shares.
Common shares outstanding: 3,435,354, along with 594,688 shares of common stock issuable
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under Series B pre-funded warrants. Upon the full conversion of all Series A convertible preferred shares and issuance of stock under
all Series B pre-funded warrants, the Company would have 4,269,177 shares of common stock outstanding. All of the common
shares issuable under the Series A convertible preferred stock and Series B pre-funded warrants are currently convertible/issuable at
$3.00 per share, subject to adjustment if the Company sells stock at a lesser price.

Shares issuable under outstanding options increased since December 31, 2014 and, as of February 6, 2014, there were 261,470
shares issuable at a weighted average price of $67.89 per share.

The following table sets forth the details of our outstanding warrants as of February 6, 2015, giving effect exercise price adjustments
triggered by the equity offering discussed above.
 

Warrant Series          
Expiration

Date    
Current

Exercise Price   
Outstanding

Warrants  
Jun 2011 Series F agent       6/17/2015    $ 100.00     8,809  

Jan 2014 Series B       7/16/2015     24.40     45,291  
Jun 2011 Series F       6/22/2016     100.00     73,414  

Mar 2010 *     **   3/2/2017     3.00     46,771  
Oct 2012 Series G ***      10/24/2017     60.00     215,638  

2009 Series D **       3/30/2018     3.00     174,307  
Hercules *       9/29/2018     10.10     7,813  

Jan 2014 Series A       1/16/2019     24.40     45,291  
Jun 2014 Series J *       6/20/2019     11.20     155,510  

Jan 2014 Series A Modified       1/16/2021     20.40     102,460  
Feb 2015 Series A **       8/4/2021     3.64     1,406,028  

        

 2,281,332  
        

Weighted average exercise price $ 14.49  
        

 
* can be exercised cashlessly
** have price protection only, no increase in shares
*** trade under own cusip

In addition, a warrant for 38,504 shares could be exercised at $33.88 per share in the event of a default on a loan between Rusnano
and Panacela. That loan is currently not in default and therefore this warrant is excluded from the above.
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Item 9: Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A: Controls and Procedures

Effectiveness of Disclosure

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or the Exchange Act, as of December 31, 2014. Our management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter
how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily
applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2014, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that,
as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to assure that information required to be declared by us in
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and (2) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including
our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control – Integrated
Framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2014.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting during our fourth fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2014 that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B: Other Information

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the captions “Management and
Corporate Governance Matters” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our Proxy Statement for the 2015
Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the captions “Executive Officer
and Director Compensation,” “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Management and Corporate Governance Matters –
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” and “Compensation Committee Report” in our Proxy Statement for the
2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the captions “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in our Proxy Statement for
the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the captions “Certain
Relationships and Related Person Transactions” and “Management and Corporate Governance Matters” in our Proxy Statement for
the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the caption “Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

The following exhibits are incorporated herein by reference or attached hereto.
 
Exhibit No.  Identification of Exhibit

    3.1
  

Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware on March 18, 2010 (Incorporated
by reference to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009, filed on March 22, 2010).

    3.2

  

Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation, filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware
on June 20, 2013 (Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2013, filed on August 9,
2013).

    3.3   Second Amended and Restated By-Laws (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on December 5, 2007).

    4.1
  

Form of Warrants issued to underwriters (Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 3 to Registration Statement
on Form SB-2 filed on July 10, 2006 (File No. 333-131918)).

    4.2
  

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (Series D Transaction) (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on
March 30, 2009).

    4.3
  

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (Private Placement closed on March 2, 2010) (Incorporated by reference
to Form 8-K/A filed on February 26, 2010).

    4.4   Form of Series E and F Warrants (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on June 21, 2011).

    4.5
  

Form of Warrant Agreement by and between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust
Company (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on October 22, 2012).

    4.6
  

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issued to Open Joint Stock Company “Rusnano” (Incorporated by reference to
Form 8-K filed on September 5, 2013).

    4.7
  

Warrant Agreement, dated September 30, 2013, between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and Hercules Technology II, L.P.
(Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2013, filed on November 8, 2013).

    4.8
  

Form of Series A/B Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on
January 15, 2014).

    4.9   Form of Series J Warrant (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on June 20, 2014).

    4.10

  

Amendment to Series A Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated September 4, 2014, by and between Cleveland
BioLabs, Inc. and Sabby Healthcare Volatility Master Fund, Ltd. (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on
September 8, 2014).

    4.11

  

Amendment to Series A Common Stock Purchase Warrant, dated September 4, 2014, by and between Cleveland
BioLabs, Inc. and Sabby Volatility Warrant Master Fund, Ltd. (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on
September 8, 2014).

  10.1

  

Library Access Agreement by and between ChemBridge Corporation and Cleveland BioLabs, Inc., effective as of
April 27, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form SB-2 filed on
April 25, 2006 (File No. 333-131918)).

  10.2

  

Restricted Stock and Investor Rights Agreement between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and ChemBridge Corporation,
dated as of April 27, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form SB-2
filed on April 25, 2006 (File No. 333-131918)).
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Exhibit No.  Identification of Exhibit

  10.3.1

  

Exclusive License Agreement by and between The Cleveland Clinic Foundation and Cleveland BioLabs, Inc.,
effective as of July 1, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form SB-2
filed on April 25, 2006 (File No. 333-131918)).

  10.3.2

  

Second Amendment to Exclusive License Agreement, dated September 22, 2011, by and between The Cleveland
Clinic Foundation and the registrant (Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30,
2011, filed on November 9, 2011).†

  10.4.1

  

Employment Agreement by and between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and Dr. Michael Fonstein, dated August 1, 2004
(Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form SB-2 filed on April 25, 2006 (File
No. 333-131918)).

  10.4.2

  

Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and Dr. Michael Fonstein, dated as
of December 31, 2008 (Incorporated by reference to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed on
March 30, 2009).

  10.5.1

  

Employment Agreement by and between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and Dr. Yakov Kogan, dated August 1, 2004
(Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form SB-2 filed on April 25, 2006 (File
No. 333-131918)).

  10.5.2

  

Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and Dr. Yakov Kogan, dated as of
December 31, 2008 (Incorporated by reference to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, filed on
March 30, 2009).

  10.6
  

Employment Agreement made as of April 4, 2013 and effective as of April 1, 2013 by and between Cleveland
BioLabs, Inc. and Jean Viallet (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on April 9, 2013).

  10.7

  

Cooperative Research and Development Agreement by and between the Uniformed Services University of the Health
Sciences, the Henry M. Jackson Foundation for the Advancement of Military Medicine, Inc., the Cleveland Clinic
Foundation, and Cleveland BioLabs, Inc., dated as of August 1, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q for the
period ended September 30, 2010, filed on November 15, 2010).

  10.8.1
  

Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed
on April 1, 2008).

  10.8.2
  

First Amendment to Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on
June 9, 2010).

  10.8.3
  

Second Amendment to Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on
June 15, 2012).

  10.8.4   Form of Stock Award Grant Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on June 15, 2012).

  10.8.5   Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on June 15, 2012).

  10.9
  

Cleveland Biolabs, Inc. 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on
June 20, 2013).

  10.10.1

  

Contract (W9113M-10-C-0088), effective as of September 15, 2010, between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and the U.S.
Army Space and Missile Defense Command/Army Forces Strategic Command (the “2010 DoD Contract”)
(Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2010, filed on November 15, 2010).

  10.10.2

  

Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contract No. 1, effective as of September 17, 2010, to the 2010 DoD
Contract (Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2010, filed on November 15,
2010).
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Exhibit No.  Identification of Exhibit

  10.10.3
  

Amendment of Solicitation/Modification of Contract No. 2, effective as of June 23, 2011, to the 2010 DoD Contract
(Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on June 29, 2011).

  10.11
  

Process Development and Manufacturing Agreement between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and SynCo Bio Partners B.V.,
effective as of August 31, 2006 (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on October 25, 2006).

  10.12
  

Sponsored Research Agreement between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and Roswell Park Cancer Institute Corporation,
effective as of January 12, 2007 (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on January 12, 2007).

  10.13   Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on March 30, 2009).

  10.14   Form of Registration Rights Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on March 30, 2009).

  10.15
  

Amendment and Waiver Agreement, dated March 20, 2009 (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on
March 30, 2009).

  10.16   Form of Amendment and Reaffirmation Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on March 30, 2009).

  10.17
  

License Agreement between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and Zhejiang Hisun Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., dated
September 3, 2009 (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on September 9, 2009).

  10.18.1
  

Participation Agreement, dated December 30, 2009, by and between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and Bioprocess Capital
Partners, LLC (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on January 5, 2010).

  10.18.2

  

First Amendment to Participation Agreement, dated April 13, 2010, by and between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and
Bioprocess Capital Partners, LLC (Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2010, filed
on August 16, 2010).

  10.18.3
  

Third Amendment to Participation Agreement, dated June 17, 2014, by and among Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and
Bioprocess Capital Partners, LLC (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on August 6, 2014).

  10.19.1
  

Securities Purchase Agreement dated February 25, 2010 (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on
February 26, 2010).

  10.19.2

  

Form of Amendment to Securities Purchase Agreement, dated December 23, 2010, among the Company and the
amending purchasers identified on the signature pages thereto (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on
December 29, 2010).

  10.20.1
  

Consulting Agreement, dated January 1, 2010, between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and Andrei Gudkov (Incorporated
by reference to Form 8-K filed on June 13, 2011).

  10.20.2
  

First Amendment to Consulting Agreement, dated June 10, 2011, between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and Andrei
Gudkov (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on June 13, 2011).

  10.20.3   Amendment to Consulting Agreement, dated June 10, 2011, between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and Andrei Gudkov.

  10.21
  

Engagement letter, dated as of June 16, 2011, by and between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and Rodman & Renshaw,
LLC (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on June 21, 2011).
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Exhibit No.  Identification of Exhibit

  10.22
  

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated June 17, 2011, by and between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and the
investors in the Offering (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on June 21, 2011).

  10.23
  

Employment Agreement, dated August 4, 2011, between the Company and C. Neil Lyons (Incorporated by reference
to Form 8-K filed on August 4, 2011).

  10.24

  

Investment Agreement, dated September 19, 2011, by and among Panacela Labs, Inc., the Registrant and Open
Joint Stock Company Rusnano (Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2011,
filed on November 9, 2011).

  10.25

  

Exclusive License and Option Agreement, dated September 23, 2011, by and between Children’s Cancer Institute
Australia for Medical Research and Panacela Labs, Inc (Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q for the period ended
September 30, 2011, filed on November 9, 2011).†

  10.26

  

Exclusive License and Option Agreement, dated September 23, 2011, by and between Health Research, Inc.,
Roswell Park Institute Division, Roswell Park Cancer Institute Corporation, and Panacela Labs, Inc (Incorporated by
reference to Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2011, filed on November 9, 2011).†

  10.27

  

Amended and Restated Exclusive Sublicense Agreement, dated September 23, 2011, by and between the registrant
and Panacela Labs, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2011, filed on
November 9, 2011).

  10.28
  

Assignment Agreement, dated September 23, 2011, by and between Panacela Labs, Inc. and the registrant
(Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2011, filed on November 9, 2011).

  10.29
  

Master Agreement dated September 3, 2013 by and among Panacela Labs, Inc., Cleveland Biolabs, Inc. and Open
Joint Stock Company “Rusnano” (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on September 5, 2013).

  10.30
  

Convertible Loan Agreement dated September 3, 2013 between Open Joint Stock Company “Rusnano” and
Panacela Labs, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on September 5, 2013).

  10.31
  

Master Services Agreement, dated October 14, 2014, between Buffalo BioLabs, LLC and Cleveland BioLabs, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on October 18, 2013).

  10.32.1

  

Loan and Security Agreement, dated September 30, 2013, by and among Cleveland BioLabs, Inc., Biolab 612, LLC
and Hercules Technology II, L.P. (Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2013,
filed on November 8, 2013).

  10.32.2

  

First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated June 17, 2014, by and among (a) (i) Cleveland BioLabs,
Inc., and (ii) Biolab 612, LLC, and (b) Hercules Technology II, L.P., (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on
June 20, 2014).

  10.33
  

Letter Agreement, dated January 9, 2014, by and among Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC
(Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on January 15, 2014).

  10.34
  

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated January 14, 2014, by and among Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and the Purchasers
set forth therein (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on January 15, 2014).

  10.35   2012 Executive Compensation Plan (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K/A filed on April 30, 2012).

  10.36   2012 Long-term Executive Compensation Plan (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on June 15, 2012).
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Exhibit No.  Identification of Exhibit

  10.37   Severance Benefit Plan (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on May 13, 2014).

  10.38
  

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated June 17, 2014, by and among Cleveland BioLabs, Inc., and the purchasers
on Exhibit A thereto (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on June 20, 2014).

  10.39
  

Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 17, 2014, by and among Cleveland BioLabs, Inc., and the purchasers
on Exhibit A thereto (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on June 20, 2014).

  10.40
  

Rights Agreement, dated June 17, 2014, by and among Cleveland BioLabs, Inc., and Mikhail Mogutov (Incorporated
by reference to Form 8-K filed on June 20, 2014).

  10.41

  

Amendment No. 1 to Securities Purchase Agreement, dated September 4, 2014, by and among Cleveland BioLabs,
Inc. and the parties named on the signature pages thereto (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on
September 8, 2014).

  10.42

  

Amendment No. 1 to Securities Purchase Agreement and Series D Warrants, dated September 29, 2014, by and
among Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and the parties on the signature pages thereto (Incorporated by reference to Form
8-K filed on October 1, 2014).

  14.1
  

Code of Ethics for Senior Executives and Financial Officers (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on June 15,
2012).

  14.2   Code of Conduct (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on October 3, 2014).

  14.3
  

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for Directors (Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K filed on February 20,
2015).

  23.1   Consent of Meaden & Moore, Ltd.

  31.1   Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Yakov Kogan

  31.2   Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of C. Neil Lyons

  32.1   Section 1350 Certification.

101.1

  

The following financial statements and supplementary data are filed as a part of this annual report on Form 10-K for
the quarter and year ended December 31, 2014: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2014 and 2013;
(ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations for years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012; (iii) Consolidated
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for period from December 31, 2011 to December 31, 2014; (iv) Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012; and (v) Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements as blocks of text.

 
† Confidential treatment has been requested from the Securities and Exchange Commission as to certain portions of this document.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

  CLEVELAND BIOLABS, INC.

Dated: February 27, 2015   By:     /s/ YAKOV KOGAN
   Yakov Kogan
   Chief Executive Officer

    CLEVELAND BIOLABS, INC.

Dated: February 27, 2015   By:     /s/ C. NEIL LYONS
   C. Neil Lyons
   Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Signature   Title  Date

/S/ Yakov Kogan
Yakov Kogan   

Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)  

February 27, 2015

/S/ C. Neil Lyons
C. Neil Lyons   

Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer)  

February 27, 2015

/S/ Julia R. Brown
Julia R. Brown   

Director
 

February 27, 2015

/S/ James J. Antal
James J. Antal   

Director
 

February 27, 2015

/S/ Anthony Principi
Anthony Principi   

Director
 

February 27, 2015

/S/ Randy Saluck
Randy Saluck   

Director
 

February 27, 2015

/S/ Richard McGowan
Richard McGowan   

Director
 

February 27, 2015

/S/ Alexander Polinsky
Alexander Polinsky   

Director
 

February 27, 2015

/S/ Andrei Gudkov
Andrei Gudkov   

Director
 

February 27, 2015

/S/ Elena Kasimova
Elena Kasimova   

Director
 

February 27, 2015

/S/ Daniel F. Hoth
Daniel F. Hoth   

Director
 

February 27, 2015
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Exhibit 10.20.3

AMENDMENT TO
CONSULTING AGREEMENT

This Amendment to Consulting Agreement (this “Amendment”) is made and entered into this 10th day of June 2011 and
effective as of January 1, 2011, by and between Cleveland BioLabs, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company” or “CBLI”) and
Andrei Gudkov, Ph.D., D. Sci., (“Consultant”).

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, the Company and Consultant entered into a Consulting Agreement dated January 1, 2010 (the “Agreement”);

WHEREAS, the Company desires to provide certain benefits to the Consultant if the Agreement is terminated following a
Change of Control (as that term is defined below) of the Company;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants and agreements contained herein and other good
and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. The first sentence of Paragraph 3 is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

3. The Consultant will be paid a monthly rate of $11,352 each month beginning in January 2011 (the “Base
Compensation”). The Base Compensation may be increased from time to time as recommended by the Compensation Committee of
the Company’s Board of Directors.

2. Paragraph 6 of the Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
 
 6. Termination.

(a) The Company may terminate the Agreement, effective immediately upon receipt of written notice, but only if the
Consultant (a) breaches or threatens to breach any provision of Section 8, (b) engages in any malfeasance, misconduct, or
conduct likely to cause reputational harm to the Company, (c) enters into a relationship with any third party which creates a
conflict of interest with his Consulting Services for the Company, (d) fails to perform or otherwise neglects his duties hereunder
after written notice from the Board of Directors of CBLI (“Board”), or (e) dies or becomes physically or mentally disabled such
that, in the Board’s reasonable judgment, he cannot perform the duties contemplated hereunder, and any such termination
under (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) shall be deemed a “for cause” termination. Either party may terminate the Agreement, without
cause, upon 14 days’ notice in writing to the other party.
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(b) Following termination by either party for any reason, the Company shall pay all fees owing for services rendered
prior to the termination date, as such fees become payable.

(c) If the Company terminates the Agreement without “cause” within the one year period following a Change of
Control of the Company, the Company shall pay to the Consultant (i) an amount equal to two point five (2.5) times the fees
provided for in Section 3, determined on an annualized basis (the “Severance Pay”), and (ii) the amount of the bonus that the
Consultant would have received for the year in which the termination occurs under the Executive Compensation Plan as
determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board provided the Consultant and the Company, as applicable, achieved
the targeted annual performance objectives set forth in the Executive Compensation Plan for the year in which the termination
occurs (the “Bonus”). The amounts set forth in (i) and (ii) are conditioned on the Consultant’s execution of a general release of
claims in a form to be provided by the Company releasing all of his claims against the Company (the “Release”), which Release
must be effective and irrevocable within the sixty (60) day period following the effective date of termination of the Agreement.
The Severance Pay will be paid pursuant to the Company’s regular payables schedule in substantially equal installments
commencing on a date that occurs no later than ninety (90) days following the effective date of the termination of the Agreement
and ending on the day that is the last day of the two and a half (2 1/2) year period following the commencement of the
payments, provided, however, that if the sixty (60) day period in which the Consultant must execute the Release begins in one
taxable year of the Consultant and ends in another, the payments will commence in the later taxable year. The Bonus will be
paid in a lump sum amount on the date that it would have been paid had the Company not terminated the Agreement, but in no
event later than the seventh-fifth (75th) day following the last day of the fiscal year in which the Agreement was terminated.

(d) For purposes of this Agreement, “Change of Control” means an event or occurrence set forth in any one or more of the
following in any one transaction or series of transactions occurring within a 12-month period:

(i) the acquisition by an individual, entity or group of beneficial ownership of any capital stock of the Company if, after
such acquisition, such individual, entity or group beneficially owns more than 50% of the combined voting power of the
then-outstanding securities of the Company (the “Outstanding Company Voting Securities”); or

(ii) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization or share exchange involving the
Company, or a sale or other disposition of assets of the Company having a total gross fair market value equal to or more
than 40% of the total gross fair market value of the assets of the Company immediately before such sale or disposition (a
“Business Combination”), unless, immediately following such Business Combination, the individuals and entities who were
the beneficial owners of the Outstanding Company Voting Securities immediately prior to such Business Combination
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beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the combined voting power of the then-outstanding securities of
the resulting or acquiring corporation in such Business Combination (which shall include, without ]imitation, a corporation
which as a result of such transaction owns the Company or substantially all of the Company’s assets either directly or
through one or more subsidiaries).

In no event shall any of the forgoing events or occurrences constitute a Change of Control under this Agreement if it
results from the acquisition by any one person, or more than one person acting as a group, already owning more than 50% of
the total fair market value or total voting power of the Company’s stock, of additional stock of the Company. In all cases, the
determination of whether a Change of Control has occurred shall be interpreted in a manner consistent with the definition of a
change in control under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

3. The parties hereby agree that the Agreement will continue to be in full force and effect as modified by the terms of this
Amendment.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment as of the day and year first written above.
 
ANDREI GUDKOV CLEVELAND BIOLABS, INC.

/s/ Andrei Gudkov By: /s/ Jack Marhofer
Jack Marhofer
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 23.1
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and Subsidiaries:

We consent to the use in the Form l0-K of Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) for the year ended
December 31, 2014 and the incorporation by reference in the registration statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-140687, 333-150542,
333-167415 and 333-182466) and the registration statements on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-160648, 333-167258, 333-169883 and 333-
192755) of the Company of our report dated February 27, 2015, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Cleveland
BioLabs, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss), consolidated stockholders’ equity (deficit), and consolidated cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014 which appear in this Form 10-K.

/s/ Meaden & Moore, Ltd.

MEADEN & MOORE, LTD.
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 

Cleveland, Ohio
February 27, 2015
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Exhibit 31.1

Certification

I, Yakov Kogan, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cleveland BioLabs, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
 

Date: February 27, 2015 By:    /s/ Yakov Kogan
Yakov Kogan
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2

Certification

I, C. Neil Lyons, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cleveland BioLabs, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
 

Date: February 27, 2015 By:    /s/ C. Neil Lyons
C. Neil Lyons
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1

Certification*

In connection with the Annual Report of Cleveland BioLabs, Inc., (the “Company”), on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Annual Report”) pursuant to the
requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Section 1350
of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C.§ 1350), Yakov Kogan, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and C.
Neil Lyons, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:

1. The Annual Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act, and

2. The information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company for the period covered by the Annual Report.
 

Date: February 27, 2015 By:    /s/ Yakov Kogan
Yakov Kogan
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 27, 2015 By:    /s/ C. Neil Lyons
C. Neil Lyons
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

 
* This certification accompanies the Annual Report to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Cleveland BioLabs, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Annual Report),
irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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